blic DoCUsitiiuing — )
West Lindsey District Council

indsey

DISTRICT COUNCIL

Guildhall Gainsborough
Lincolnshire DN21 2NA
Tel: 01427 676676 Fax: 01427 675170

AGENDA

This meeting will be webcast live and the video archive published on our

website

Prosperous Communities Committee
Tuesday, 8th June, 2021 at 6.30 pm
Council Chamber - The Guildhall

Available to watch live via: https://west-lindsey.public-i.tv/core/portal/home

Members: Councillor Owen Bierley (Chairman)
Councillor Mrs Tracey Coulson (Vice-Chairman)
Councillor John McNeill (Vice-Chairman)
Councillor Stephen Bunney
Councillor Christopher Darcel
Councillor Michael Devine
Councillor Paul Howitt-Cowan
Councillor Mrs Jessie Milne
Councillor Mrs Judy Rainsforth
Councillor Tom Regis
Councillor Jim Snee
Councillor Mrs Mandy Snee
Councillor Mrs Anne Welburn
Councillor Trevor Young

1. Apologies for Absence

2. Public Participation
Up to 15 minutes are allowed for public participation. Participants
are restricted to 3 minutes each.

3. Minutes of Previous Meeting (PAGES 3 - 10)
To confirm and sign as a correct record the Minutes of the
Prosperous Communities Committee held on Tuesday, 16
March 2021.

Agendas, Reports and Minutes will be provided upon request in the following formats:

Large Clear Print: Braille: Audio: Native Language


https://west-lindsey.public-i.tv/core/portal/home

Matters Arising Schedule
Setting out current position of previously agreed actions as at 28 13)
May 2021

Members' Declarations of Interest
Members may make any declarations at this point but may also
make them at any time during the course of the meeting.

Public Reports

a)
b)

c)

(PAGES 11 -

Progress and Delivery Report Quarter Four, 2020-21 (PAGES 14 -

Gainsborough Cycling and Walking Network Plan

Workplan

55)

(PAGES 56 -
160)

(PAGES 161 -
164)

lan Knowles

Head of Paid Services
The Guildhall
Gainsborough

Friday, 28 May 2021



Agenda Iltem 3

Prosperous Communities Committee — 16 March 2021
Subject to Call-in. Call-in will expire at 5pm on 7 June 2021

WEST LINDSEY DISTRICT COUNCIL

MINUTES of the Meeting of the Prosperous Communities Committee held virtually via MS
Teams and available to watch via https://west-lindsey.public-i.tv/core/portal/home on 16
March 2021 commencing at 6.30 pm.

Present:

In Attendance:

Also In Attendance:

Sally Grindrod-Smith
Ady Selby

Diane Krochmal
Sarah Elvin

Andy Gray

Emily Holmes

Katie Storr

Ele Snow

James Welbourn

Mr David Postle

Apologies:

Membership:

Councillor Owen Bierley (Chairman)

Councillor Mrs Tracey Coulson (Vice-Chairman) and
Councillor John McNeill (Vice-Chairman)

Councillor Stephen Bunney
Councillor Christopher Darcel
Councillor Michael Devine
Councillor Mrs Jessie Milne
Councillor Mrs Judy Rainsforth
Councillor Jim Snee
Councillor Mrs Mandy Snee
Councillor Mrs Anne Welburn
Councillor Trevor Young

Councillor Jane Ellis

Councillor Mrs Caralyne Grimble
Councillor Mrs Diana Rodgers
Councillor Mrs Angela White

Assistant Director of Planning and Regeneration

Assistant Director of Commercial and Operational Services
Assistant Director Homes and Communities

Housing Communities Project Officer

Housing and Enforcement Manager

Selective Licensing Officer

Democratic Services & Elections Team Manager (Interim)
Democratic and Civic Officer

Democratic and Civic Officer

Wellbeing Service Manager for the Lincolnshire Health and
Wellbeing Partnership

Councillor Tom Regis

Councillor Steve England as substitute for Councillor Tom
Regis

49 REGISTER OF ATTENDANCE

The Chairman welcomed all present to the virtual meeting of the Prosperous Communities

H Page 3



Prosperous Communities Committee — 16 March 2021
Subject to Call-in. Call-in will expire at 5pm on 7 June 2021

Committee and undertook the customary roll-call of Members, which was followed by a roll-
call of Officers in attendance.

50 PUBLIC PARTICIPATION

There was no public participation for this meeting.

51 MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING
(@) Meeting of the Prosperous Communities Committee — 26 January 2021.

RESOLVED that the Minutes of the Meeting of the Prosperous Communities
Committee held on 26 January 2021 be confirmed and signed as a correct record.

52 MATTERS ARISING SCHEDULE

The Chairman introduced the report advising Members that the report would be taken “as
read” unless Members had any questions.

With no questions raised and with no requirement for a vote, the Matters Arising were DULY
NOTED.

53 MEMBERS' DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

Councillor T. Coulson declared a personal item in agenda 7a regarding the rural designation
report. She explained that having taken advice, there was no declarable interest that would
prevent her from voting on the item however she stated she would feel more comfortable if
she abstained from the vote.

54  PRESENTATION ITEM - LINCOLNSHIRE HEALTH AND WELL-BEING
PARTNERSHIP

The Chairman welcomed Mr David Postle, Wellbeing Service Manager for the Lincolnshire
Health and Wellbeing Partnership and explained there would be a short presentation with
the opportunity for Members to ask questions.

Mr Postle explained that the Health and Wellbeing Partnership was a partnership between
four District Councils having the benefit of knowing the area and communities they worked
with and having a level of local knowledge that would have been missing with a larger,
nation-wide private provider. East Lindsey District Council was the contract holder with the
involvement of Senior Officers and Councillors in the governance of the contract. The
service was commissioned by Lincolnshire County Council and had originally been provided
by different providers across the county. This had led to service provision that was not
equitable and the intention of the partnership was to ensure balanced access and provision
of service across the area. The partnership also supported the delivery of other services,

- Page 4



Prosperous Communities Committee — 16 March 2021
Subject to Call-in. Call-in will expire at 5pm on 7 June 2021

such as housing, as well as providing analytical information in order to define and enhance
service provision.

Mr Postle provided Members with a snapshot of data and explained that the most common
reason for people accessing the service was stress-related, followed by mobility issues.
Further analysis showed where referrals came from, down to ward level, as well as age of
individuals. With this information they were able to compare not only across the county but
nationwide. The majority of referrals were for those aged 55 and over. The service identified
needs in order to enable an individual to remain independent. They also offered money
management assistance, for example at times of bereavement or other life event. Once a
referral was received, there was a full assessment of need as well as signposting and
advice. Following assessment, the majority of individuals referred did go on to receive
support.

Members heard that there was an identified gap regarding fully funded equipment through
social care and the NHS and there was now a process in place to bridge that gap.
Assistance provided could include services such as helping to navigate online shopping, or
putting in touch with local suppliers who delivered, as well as installing key safes and
provision of telecare equipment. Service users could also sign up to the 24/7 response
service in situations where they may not have an emergency contact. These teams were
based out of fire stations. The service also offered ‘resettlement assistance’, for example in
cases where an individual was to be discharged from hospital but did not have local support,
a worker would meet them from the ambulance, help them settle in, prepare the home in
terms of putting lights on, heating, ensuring the basic provisions were there waiting for them.
The service was working with hospitals to create the role of these resettlement link workers.

With regard to the referral process, Mr Postle explained that referrals came from the NHS,
adult social care and voluntary organisations such as the Citizens’ Advice Bureau. The aim
was to make access to the service as simple as possible with links created to enable cross-
agency referrals and service provision. For example, as individual may be referred to adult
social care but not meet the threshold for their services in which case social care would refer
to the wellbeing service. Likewise, if the wellbeing service was working with an individual
who required a higher level of support, they would be referred to adult social care, with
individuals sometimes moving between services as their need required.

In addition to the ongoing service provision, Members heard that the team had worked
closely with District Councils during the global pandemic to assist with the emergency
response.

The Chairman thanked Mr Postle for his presentation and invited questions from Members.
There was further discussion regarding referral pathways and how the team ensured no one
was left without the support they required. It was also enquired whether the service received
referrals for individuals who would be better suited for adult social care with a higher level of
need. Mr Postle reiterated the link working and how closely the teams worked with adult
social care and the NHS to ensure individual needs were met appropriately. Members were
highly supportive of the work undertaken by the wellbeing service and voiced their thanks
and gratitude for the support they offered to those in need. The Chairman confirmed that Mr
Postle’s presentation would be shared with all Members and requested that he share the
heartfelt thanks from Members with this team.

43 Page 5



Prosperous Communities Committee — 16 March 2021
Subject to Call-in. Call-in will expire at 5pm on 7 June 2021

55 RURAL DESIGNATION

The Chairman invited the Senior Housing Strategy and Enabling Officer to present the report
on rural designation. She explained that the purpose of the report was to seek approval to
make an application to the Secretary of State to designate areas of West Lindsey as rural
under Section 157 of Housing Act 1985. She explained that the reason for seeking rural
designation at this time was because the Government was proposing to temporarily raise the
small sites affordable housing threshold to up to either 40 or 50 residential units. The idea
was that this new higher threshold will be implemented for an initial period of 18 months
during which time the Government would ‘monitor its impact before reviewing the approach’
— thereby leaving the door open to extending the time limit. It was considered that securing
the rural designation for West Lindsey would allow the current affordable housing policy in
the Central Lincolnshire Local Plan (LP11) to be retained and thus allow the authority to
continue the delivery of affordable units on the same basis as now, which had had proven
successful and sustainable. Members heard that the areas to be included in the rural
designation were detailed in the appendices to the report.

The Chairman thanked the Officer for her detailed explanation and invited Members to ask
questions. Vice-Chairman J. McNeill enquired as to the potential impact of a 4™ tier
governance review and whether the reorganisation of parish boundaries would have an
effect on the designated areas. It was explained that the two criteria of population and
density per hectare would have to be met and clarified that smaller villages would not trigger
the requirement for affordable housing. It was agreed that, should a 4" tier governance
review be undertaken, the boundaries and requirements under the rural designation would
have to be taken into consideration. A Member of the Committee enquired as to the
proposed ‘trigger point’ for affordable housing and it was confirmed that the intention was to
maintain limits at current levels.

With no further questions and having been proposed and seconded, it was
RESOLVED that:
a) the areas for Rural Designation be agreed as set out in Appendix 1; and

b) the submission of an application from West Lindsey District Council for
Rural Designation under Section 157 of the Housing Act 1985 to the Secretary
of State be approved.

56  SELECTIVE LICENSING - UPDATE AND FUTURE PROPOSALS

The Housing and Enforcement Manager introduced a report for Members’ consideration to
provide an update on the current status of the Selective Licensing scheme and to advise on
future proposals. He summarised that the Selective Licensing scheme in the Gainsborough
South West Ward was approved at Prosperous Communities Committee on 22 March 2016.
The scheme then came into force on 18 July 2016 for a five year period. As well as providing
the current position of the scheme, the paper also set out the proposed approach to the final
stages of the existing scheme and a timeline for future work in relation to selective licensing
for West Lindsey District Council.

“ Page 6



Prosperous Communities Committee — 16 March 2021
Subject to Call-in. Call-in will expire at 5pm on 7 June 2021

Members heard there were currently 748 licenses that had been granted within the
designated area and a further 47 applications in progress. It was estimated that around 92%
of properties were now licensed within the area. The original estimation for the number of
licensed properties was 550. The Council was aware of 21 unlicensed properties however
Members were advised that this number did fluctuate based on the proactive work
undertaken to review each street.

It was explained that, whilst on conclusion of the scheme the licensing requirements would
no longer be in place on landlords, the Council still had the ability to utilise all of its usual
Housing Act and other regulatory powers to enable formal action to be taken as required.
There would, however, be no ability to require additional conditions, which were placed on
as part of the scheme, to be met by landlords. Following on from the scheme concluding in
July 2021 it was proposed that further work was undertaken to consider whether a new
Selective Licensing scheme was appropriate for West Lindsey. It was highlighted that the
scheme had delivered a number of positive benefits for the area and the full scheme review
would consider these in more detail. Members were advised of the timescales for future
review, with proposals being presented to the Committee in the springtime of 2022.

There was significant discussion amongst Committee Members regarding the balance
between supporting conscientious landlords whilst still addressing difficulties with less
scrupulous landlords, as well as considering circumstances where tenants were difficult to
engage with. It was acknowledged that some landlords had felt unnecessarily penalised by
the scheme and some ongoing issues with other landlords and tenants had not been
resolved. Councillor T. Young highlighted to Members that he had shared some photographs
of the area in advance of the meeting and these demonstrated areas where problems had
not been resolved. It was confirmed that these photographs had been received.

With regard to the role of the tenant, it was highlighted that the legislation was aimed at
landlords however there was the need to better address how to support not only tenants, but
also landlords who experienced problems with tenants. This would be considered as part of
the review and for any future proposals. It was also stated that the review of the scheme
would not be looked at in isolation and an holistic approach was already underway, for
example with the implementation of the Viable Housing Solution. Members welcomed this
approach.

Previous criticisms of the scheme were highlighted and a Member of the Committee
expressed the need to involve all main stakeholders in discussions as to how to shape future
options. Members acknowledged that there were ongoing areas to be addressed however it
was felt that overall, the scheme had demonstrated a positive impact on the area and
welcomed the options for improvements in the future.
In response to concerns as to the period between the existing scheme ending and any other
scheme being implemented, Members were assured that under the powers provided by the
Housing Act, the council would continue to work proactively in the area.
Having been moved and seconded, the Chairman took the vote and it was

RESOLVED that:

a) the expiration of the existing Selective Licensing Scheme, on July 18

* Page 7



Prosperous Communities Committee — 16 March 2021
Subject to Call-in. Call-in will expire at 5pm on 7 June 2021

2021, be noted;

b) the approach set out in section 7 of the report, in relation to the
conclusion of the scheme, be agreed, meaning:
i.  no further charges to be made after Aprii 1 2021 for new
applications
ii. inspections to be focussed on high risk issues
iii. the approach to formal action to take into consideration public
interest and the 6 month period within which any offences can be
formally progressed.

c) further work, to be undertaken by Officers to explore options for a
further selective licensing scheme, with these options to be presented
back to Committee as per the timescales set out in the report, be
approved.

57 RE-INTRODUCTION OF RENTS ON GAINSBOROUGH MARKET AND
DISCRETIONARY BUSINESS GRANT FUNDING TO SUPPORT TRADERS

The Assistant Director of Operational and Commercial Services introduced a report for
Members to consider the options for the reintroduction of rental charges for traders onto
Gainsborough Market and the potential to use Discretionary Business Grants to support
traders across the District. He explained that the report followed a paper considered by
Prosperous Communities Committee in January 2021, when Members had resolved to
welcome strategic work being undertaken by officers in order to understand options for the
future delivery of street markets in the District. Members had also resolved to defer a
decision to re-introduce rental charges for traders on Gainsborough Market to the next
meeting of the Committee.

It was explained that there were two differences between the current report and the one
considered by Members in January. Firstly, the initial recommendation to reintroduce rents
onto the Market was scheduled for 1 April 2021. It was recognised that in order to still
communicate the change effectively to stakeholders, it was now recommended that, should
Members choose to re-introduce rental charges, they should be re-introduced from 1 June
2021. Secondly, an option to utilise Discretionary Business Grant funding to support regular
and new traders on all Markets in West Lindsey had been introduced.

Members welcomed the suggesting of using the Discretionary Business Grant funding and
were pleased to see measures being put in place to support traders. The recommendations
within the report were moved and seconded. A Member of the Committee also proposed that
the matter be referred to the Overview and Scrutiny Committee in order to scrutinise the
value for money of the market contract with Marshall’s Yard.

Following further discussion, an amendment to the first recommendation was moved and
seconded, for the re-introduction of rental charges to take effect from 1 September 2021. On
taking the vote, with 7 against and 6 for, this amendment was not carried.

Members discussed the wider consideration of markets across the district and it was
confirmed that there was work underway regarding this that would be reported to the

% Page 8



Prosperous Communities Committee — 16 March 2021
Subject to Call-in. Call-in will expire at 5pm on 7 June 2021

Committee in coming months. An holistic approach was being taken to consider other areas,
however the paper for consideration currently was specific to the Gainsborough Market.
Clarification was also sought as to how the Discretionary Business Grant funding could be
used and it was confirmed that, whilst it could not be used to underwrite the rental rates, the
intention was to support the traders who may not have previously benefited from the
available funding.

A Member of the Committee returned to the earlier proposal for a referral to the Overview
and Scrutiny Committee. It was clarified that the purpose of this would be to scrutinise
whether the work of the Farmers’ Markets supported or otherwise, the general markets, and
whether the original objectives had been met. On being seconded and voted upon, the
proposal was carried to be considered as an additional recommendation for the Committee.

A Member of the Committee subsequently requested that the recommendations be taken to
the vote in two parts. Firstly to deal with recommendations 1 & 2, next to deal with
recommendations 3, 4 &5. With this agreed, the Chairman took the first vote. With 8 for and
5 against it was

RESOLVED that:

a) the re-introduction of rental charges on Gainsborough Market
from 1 June 2021 be approved; and

b) in recognising that further Covid Restrictions may impact on the 1 June
implementation date, delegated authority be granted to the Assistant
Director of Operational and Commercial Services, in consultation with
the Chairman of Prosperous Communities Committee to vary the
proposed implementation date in such circumstances. (All Members to
be notified if the delegation is enacted).

The Chairman then undertook the second vote and it was unanimously
RESOLVED that:

c) the proposal to utilise Discretionary Business Grants to support regular
and new traders on Gainsborough General Market, Gainsborough
Farmers Market, Market Rasen Market and Caistor Market be
approved; and

d) the Discretionary Business Grants Policy to support regular and new
traders be agreed under the urgent delegated decision provision
afforded to the Head of Paid Service, in consultation with the two Policy
Committee Chairmen and the Leader of the Opposition, in line with
other decisions made around Business Grants during the pandemic;
and

e) a referral be made to the Overview and Scrutiny Committee to

undertake a piece of work around support for the general market in
Gainsborough alongside the Farmers’ Market.

! Page 9



Prosperous Communities Committee — 16 March 2021
Subject to Call-in. Call-in will expire at 5pm on 7 June 2021

58 WORKPLAN
Members gave consideration to the Committee Workplan.

With no comments or questions, and with no requirement for a vote, the Work Plan was
DULY NOTED.

The meeting concluded at 8.52 pm.

Chairman

42iDage 10



Prosperous Communities Matters Arising Schedule

TT obed

Purpose:

To consider progress on the matters arising from previous Prosperous Communities Committee meetings.

Recommendation: That members note progress on the matters arising and request corrective action if necessary.

Matters arising Schedule

Status Title Action Required Comments Due Date Allocated To
Black Market Rasen Funding - THI Extract from mins of meeting 26/1 Item Needs adding to the Forward Plan 31/03/21 Sally
Scheme for June 2021 Grindrod-
fully costed scheme and plan be approved Smith
by PCin June On forward plan to be heard at
Committee September 2021
Green enforcement Traning for Parish Extract from mins 22/10/19 this is something the council have 01/08/21 Grant White

Councils

in the past Officers from within the
enforcement team had provided training
to local residents in order that they could
be certified to issue fixed penalties. The
number of tickets issued by such persons
however was very limited because
although they had received training
catching the culprit in the act still remained
a challenge. This was something Officers
were prepared to take away and see if
further training could be offered as it had
been previously and if there was desire
and need in the community

offered previously and can continue to
offer should Parish Wardens wish to
issue FPNs for matters such as dog
fouling or litter. Any individual has to be
authorised and receive specific training.
Information on this provision can be
outlined within the Parish Charter.

Currently on hold due to COVID -19 rules
- virtual traning not appropriate . target
deadline extended as no change in rules

7 wal epuaby



2T obed

Green

Green

information pack for parish
councils re reporting issues

parish chater publicity and
promotion and yearly impact
review

Extract from mins of mtg 22/10/19
Officers undertook to prepare a guidance
and information pack for Parish Councils
covering some of the top issues affecting a
number of parishes, explaining how to
report certain issues and the options
available to them. This was welcomed.

approval to commence the publicity and
promotion of the chater as per section 4 of
the parish chater report.

Also need to put in yearly review report as
per section of the report

At previous Committee Meetings the 01/08/21
Parish Charter document has now been

approved and a new Parish Council

Support webpage has been created as

part of this. This page lists details of

schemes open to parish/town councils

and links to reporting things to the

District Council. The page is now live at:

www.west-lindsey.gov.uk/parishsupport.

Lead Members have sought confirmation
that this page has been promoted with
the parishes,.

Limited promotion undertaken due to
COVID 19 impact on the nature of this
work and activities within the charter

Publicity and Promotion of the Charter 01/08/21
has had to be adapted due to COVID 19.

the adopted Parish Charter is now live on

our website. It is available on its own

webpage: www.west-

lindsey.gov.uk/parishcharter

A page has also been created for Parish
Forum events: www.west-
lindsey.gov.uk/parishforum

At the minute this page states we have
no current planned events due to Covid-
19 but that we are looking at a virtual
event.

GW Will liaise with Comms Teams and
send out comms about this to
Parish/Town Councils when we can also
promote the virtual event so it’s all
linked up.

Target date extended due to continuing
covid restrictions

Grant White

Grant White



¢T obed

Green

CCTV Case studies for Members
Newsletter

extract from mins of mtg 14/7/2020

Members felt it imperative that there was
better reporting of outcomes directly
resulting from CCTV intervention or
information in order to improve public
confidence. Officers undertook to publish
some case studies in a future edition of the
Members Bulletin

New comms and promotional material
showing the use and impact of CCTV is
planned to take place begining
January/February 2021. This timing
coincides with comms on CCTV as part of
the Safer Streets funded project to
upgrade and expand CCTV in
Gainsborough. In the meantime social
media posts will be used to promote
routine duties performed by CCTV where
possible especially in the run up to
Christmas and New Year.

Update: Items for newsletter to be called
every 4-6weeks, in line with pre-covid
practices, CCTV included in call for items.

30/06/21

Grant White



Agenda Iltem 6a

Prosperous Communities
Committee

indsey

DISTRICT COUNCIL

Tuesday 8" June 2021

Subject: Progress and Delivery Report Quarter Four, 2020-21

Report by: Assistant Director — Change Management &
Regulatory Services

Contact Officer: Ellen King
Change and Performance Officer

Ellen.King@west-lindsey.gov.uk

Purpose / Summary: To consider the Progress and Delivery report for
guarter four (January — March) and year-end
2020/21.

RECOMMENDATION(S): To assess the performance of the Council’s services
through agreed performance measures and indicate areas where improvements
should be made, having regard to the remedial measures set out in the report.

Page 14



IMPLICATIONS

Legal:

There are no legal implications arising from this report.

Financial : FIN/16/22/A/SL

There are no financial implications arising from this report. The financial
performance measures are reconciled to service performance reported through
the quarterly budget monitoring process, which is reported alongside this report.

(N.B.) All committee reports MUST have a Fin Ref

Staffing :

There are no staffing implications arising from this report.

Equality and Diversity including Human Rights :
N/A

Data Protection Implications :

N/A

Climate Related Risks and Opportunities:
N/A

Section 17 Crime and Disorder Considerations:

N/A

Health Implications:

N/A

Title and Location of any Background Papers used in the preparation of
this report :

Risk Assessment :

Page 15



Call in and Urgency:

Is the decision one which Rule 14.7 of the Scrutiny Procedure Rules apply?

i.e. is the report exempt from being called in due to Yes No X
urgency (in consultation with C&I chairman)

Key Decision:

A matter which affects two or more wards, or has Yes No X
significant financial implications

Page 16




1 Introduction

11

Page 17



WestLindsey

DISTRICT COUNCIL

Progress and Delivery
Report

Page 18



Executive Summary

Introduction

This report presents a detailed summary of Council performance for quarter four, (January -
March), as well as the year-end position for 2020-2021, which is attached as Appendix A. In line
with the Council's senior structure, performance information in this report is grouped by portfolio.
Each section of the report begins with an overall summary of portfolio performance, including
measures which have been above or below target for at least two consecutive quarters. This is
followed by a one page performance summary for each service within that portfolio. Key
information includes performance by exception (above or below target) and narrative relating to
service activity for the quarter. Where performance is below target, additional information has been
included to explain: why this is the case, what remedial action is being taken to improve
performance and when performance is expected to be back on track.

For those key performance indicators (KPIs) where it has been identified that significant remedial
action is required to improve performance, action plans will be created. In order to monitor
progress, any such action plans will be included in Progress and Delivery reports on a rolling basis
until all actions have been completed. It has not been necessary to include any action plans within
the quarter four report.

The Impact of COVID-19 on Council Performance

The Coronavirus pandemic continues to impact on Council performance. A third national lockdown
meant that some Council services, such as leisure centres were mandated to close on 4th January
2021 while others, such as the markets operated at a reduced level in line with coronavirus
legislation. On 22nd February 2021, the government outlined the roadmap out of lockdown, with all
legal restrictions due to be lifted by 21st June 2021 if the data allows. Narrative included within this
report, alongside the year-end performance out-turns attached as Appendix A are designed to aid
understanding of how the Council will progress from COVID response to COVID recovery and to
allow progress to be tracked.

Page 19



Overall Summary of Council Performance - Quarter 4

42,00%__

3%

Within tolerance Exceeding target

Measure exceeding target 2 quarters or more

Below target

Overall Performance Summary - Q4 ' Measures below target 2 quarters or more

Quarter Four Performance by Portfolio

. No of Measures Measures within Measures
Portfolio .
measures exceeding target tolerance below target

Finance and Property 2 1 1 0
Homes and Communities 12 6 3 3
Operational and Commercial 17 7 3 7
People and Democratic 4 4 0 0
Services

Planning and Regeneration 3 3 0 0
Regulatory Services and 20 13 0 7

Change Management

Page 20



Corporate Health

e CHO2 - Customer satisfaction has improved and is now in line with the agreed target. Compliments
have increased by 33% compared to the same period last year, and there has also been a 16%
reduction in complaints.

e CHO5 - The amount of calls answered within 21 seconds remains below target. Call volumes are
typically higher during this period due to annual billing and garden waste subscription renewals.
This has been compounded by high volumes of calls relating to COVID grant schemes which
placed unprecedented demand on the service. In addition, the team has temporarily been
administering calls and payments on behalf of the Land Charges service. A third national lockdown
and the closure of schools meant that many of the team had extra caring responsibilities whilst
working from home which also impacted call answering times, as was the case during the first
lockdown. A plan is being developed regarding a return to normal business operations, which will
include how to respond to increased telephone demand. This work will tie in with the Together 24
Programme and other initiatives that are in development such as the Customer Experience
Strategy.

e CHO6 - Staff sickness absence has fallen and is significantly better than the agreed target, as well
as being lower than at the same point last year. Staff continue to be provided with appropriate
support with resources in place including health and wellbeing webinars and signposting to
support services under the umbrella of 'One’, the Council's health and wellbeing initiative designed

Q4 Q4
KPI (2019/20) Target (2020/21) Perf  DoT
CHO1 - Time taken to pay invoices 11 days 14 days 9.1 days . @
CHO2 - Average Customer satisfaction rating out of 5 4 stars 3.5 3.5 stars @
stars stars
CHO3 - % of complaints where the Council is deemed o o o
ot fault 29% 45% 20% B ©®o
CHO4 - Average number of days to resolve a
S R 7 days 21days 7.7 days . @
CHOS - % of calls answered within 21 seconds 85% 80% 61% . @
CHO6 - Average number of staff sickness absence 0.6
I 0.57 days e 0.3 days . @
CHO7 - Recorded Health and Safety incidents 19 NTS 15 N/A @
CHO8 - Server and system availability 100% 98% 100% | O
CHO9 - Data breaches resulting in action by the
Information Commissioner’s Office 0 0 0 . @

Page 21



Finance & Property Performance Summary

Red 0_—/

Services included:
¢ Property and Assets
Amber 1_ Performance _Green 1

Measures where performance is above target for at least two consecutive quarters

KPI Q3 (2020/21) Target Q4 (2020/21) Perf

PAO2 - Planned Maintenance 90% 70% 74% .

Measures where performance is above target for at least two consecutive quarters

There are no measures within this portfolio that have performed below target for two consecutive
quarters.

Page 22



Property and Assets

e PAQ2 - As expected, the shift from unplanned to planned maintenance continued during quarter
four as backlog maintenance, servicing and planned improvement works were undertaken and
completed.

e Car parking income remains significantly lower than expected as a result of the pandemic. Free
parking offered at the start of the pandemic, plus the cancellation of parking permits (equivalent
to £10k per month) due to people working from home has led to a total loss of income of £172k
compared to 2019/20.

¢ By contrast, income from received assets has not been affected by the pandemic, finishing the
year £58k higher than at the same point last year. This is a due to the level of voids remaining low
and a greater reliance on the inclusion of the Retail Price Index rent reviews in the Council's
leases.

e Whilst it has been more difficult to complete leases in a timely manner during lockdown, at 13%
rental portfolio voids remains within agreed tolerance levels. Of the seven current voids, five are
currently under offer which, when completed will reduce voids to 4%.

Performance exceptions

KPI Q4 (2019/20) Target Q4 (2020/21) Perf  DoT
PA02 - Planned maintenance 64% 70% 74% [ ] ™

Page 23



Homes & Communities Performance Summary

Services included: Green 3
/

e Home Choices
¢ Housing Red 6
ed 6_

e Communities Performance
“—Amber 3

Measures where performance is above target for at least two consecutive quarters

Q4
KPI Q3(2020/21)  Target (2020/21) Perf
HCQ3 - Number of households housed from the Housing 45 9 24 .
Register

HCO5 - Average length of stay in temporary

accommodation 26 days 56 days 42 days B

Measures where performance is below target for at least two consecutive periods

Q3 Q4
KPI (2020/21) 129t 500021y  Perf
HCO02 - Number of households placed in temporary 25 18 36 .
accommodation
HCO04 - Number of nights spent in B&B accommodation 315 0 512 .
HCO06 - Number of households prevented from becoming 46 90 36 .
homeless
HCO7 - Number of households relieved from homelessness 39 45 38 .
HSGO2 - Average number of days from DFG referral to 169 davs 120 197 davs .
completion y days y
HSGO03 - Number of long-term empty properties 557 540 501 .
HSGO04 - Number of long-term empty properties brought 2 25 0 .

back into use

Page 24



Home Choices

® HCO2 - the Home Choices team has had cause to use bed and breakfast accommodation outside
Gainsborough where the Police have confirmed an ongoing risk of violence, or where there is a risk
of domestic abuse and the Council's own temporary accommodation units would not have been
suitable.

HCO3 - the drive to ensure people who are at risk of homelessness approach the Council early
rather than waiting until crisis point has resulted in an increase in homeless prevention cases. In
March, 75% of all applications were from customers who were at risk of homelessness, rather than
already being in crisis. As a result, the Council's Housing Register is gradually returning to pre-
pandemic levels, which should continue into 2021/22.

HCO04 - Partnership working with MHCLG and other key stakeholders ensured nobody slept rough
in the district in line with the government's drive to end rough sleeping through the 'Protect Plus'
and Cold Weather Fund initiatives. This resulted in increased usage of B&B accommodation during
quarter four, as well as an increase in the average length of stay whilst appropriate move-on
accommodation was secured. The increased costs associated with increased B&B and temporary
accommodation usage have been offset by additional government funding, and some re-purposing
of Change 4 Lincs funding in recognition of these pressures.

The Council's partners, P3, are set to release six new units of accommodation in quarter one
2021/22 for individuals with a history of street homelessness as part of the Council's Rough
Sleeper Accommodation Programme (RSAP), which is in addition to the Council's Viable Housing
Solution. The Council is awaiting the outcome of the funding allocation for RSI4 which will see an
expansion of the partnership with South Holland, and North and South Kesteven to secure long-
term solutions for those at risk of sleeping rough.

HCO06 / 07 - as expected, approaches to the Council in December led to an increase in homeless
prevention and relief case numbers for the beginning of quarter four. A total of 75 prevention cases
and 53 relief cases were supported, with successful outcomes secured for 74 of these cases as at
31st March.

Performance exceptions

KPI (2019/20) 19t (5090/21) Perf DT
temporary accommodation 12 B3 B ©
:gg:i;glggl?:tre?f households housed from the 3 3 24 . @
Breakfast acoommocation 28 0o 512 B ©
I;I&(:)Sn; rﬁ;g;&;?:nlength of stay in temporary 49 days 56.days! |42idaye . @
It;IeC:c(:)6n;irl:l;r;]1:nire (I):Shsouseholds prevented from 48 90 36 . @
HCO07 - Number of households relieved from Paqs% 25 45 38 . @

homelessness

Q4

Q4



Housing

® HSGO02 - As per previous reports, completion times for Disabled Facilities Grants (DFGs) remains
impacted by the initial lockdown in March 2020 which has added approximately 90 days to the
average completion time. The Council does, however, remain on schedule to spend the majority of
its annual allocation of funding for these works. A number of larger, more complex cases that built
up as a result of this backlog have now been progressed which should result in a reduction in
completion times in the first half of 2021/22. Referrals for DFGs are also increasing year on year
with a total of 176 received during 2020/21 which is an 11% increase on the previous year. Once
referrals are approved and have been received by West Lindsey, the average time to complete is
currently 107 days, compared to 51 days last year, with the increase attributable to the cessation of
work for 90 days during the first lockdown.

® No complaints were received in relation to DFGs during quarter four, meaning the total for the year
remains at three, all of which have been resolved.

® HSGO03 / HSGO04 - The number of long-term empty properties reduced significantly during quarter
four and is now lower than at any point in 2020/21. There does not appear to be a specific reason
for this, though it may be attributable to a relaxation in property market regulations which were less
stringent in quarter four compared to the first lockdown. The 501 empty properties accounts for
1.1% of all housing stock in the district.

® HSGOS - this is a new, annual performance return introduced for 2020/21. While the number of
affordable housing completions is significantly lower than previous years, this is a result of the
closure of building sites during the first lockdown which impacted on housing completions. The
Council has been working with developers and registered providers, with a number of schemes in
the pipeline to enable the delivery of affordable housing over the next few years. The Council has
received off-site contributions this financial year in lieu of affordable housing delivery.

Performance exceptions

Q4 Q4
KPI (2019/20) Target (2020/21) Perf  DoT
HSGO02 - Average number of days from DFG 137 120 197 . @

referral to completion

HSGO03 - Number of long-term empty properties
in the District T 2 UL .

©)

HSGO04 - The number of long-term properties
brought back into use 1 25 0 .

©

HSGOS5 - Number of affordable housing

. N/A NTS 18 N/A
completions

Page 26



Communities

l \/ ' All KPIs within this service area are performing within expected tolerance levels.

Community Grants & Funding

® The COVID-19 Community Fund closed at the end of quarter four with 36 grants awarded totalling
£96,269. The fund played an important part in supporting the immediate community response and
helping to put community groups and charities in the best possible position for future delivery of
service.

® The end of year grant impact report for 2020-2021 has now been published which provides a summary
of the Council's various community grant activity. The report can be viewed online at:
https:/www.west-lindsey.gov.uk/my-services/my-community/grants-and-funding/match-funding-
grant/

CCTV

® Towards the end of quarter four, the Council entered into grant funding agreements as part of the
Gainsborough Safer Streets project. This means that the upgrade of CCTV at key locations throughout
Gainsborough can now proceed, with works due to begin early in April 2021.

® The team have continued to detect incidents of shoplifting at stores still permitted to be open during
lockdown. As lockdown restrictions ease the team will be working to re-launch the Gainsborough Shop
Watch scheme to support stores in protecting themselves and their stock from criminal activity once
they have re-opened.

RAF Scampton Community

® As part of planning for future de-commission, ongoing engagement with the community continues.
The Parish Council has increased its capacity with additional Councillors and has agreed a Community
Assets sub-group to review identified community assets.

® Aregular newsletter is being produced with partners to be sent to all households.

® The Council is identifying Scampton as a Community at Risk under the Communities at Risk Policy
with key actions identified.

Hemswell Cliff

® The estate managed service at Hemswell Cliff continues to implement improvements to the estate
despite current restrictions caused by the pandemic.

® Road improvements works have taken place and the play parks have been re-painted, old equipment
removed and replacement equipment sourced. These visible improvements are continuing to
regenerate the area.

Page 27



Operational & Commercial Performance Summary

Services included:
e Building Control
e Crematorium

e Garden Waste

e Leisure Contract
e Trinity Arts Centre Amber 3 /\’
e Operational Services

e Street Cleansing

e Markets

Red 7__ _Green7

Performance

Measures where performance is above target for at least two consecutive quarters

Q3 Q4
KPI (2020/21) 129t (5000721  Perf
GWO1 - Number of bins sold 27,145 25197 25,095 [
GWO2 - Subscription take-up 58.3% 56% 53.1% B
GWO04 - Missed garden waste collections 0.06% 0.2% 0.04% .
ﬁr(;o: - % of reported fly-tipping cases removed within target 99% 90% 99.3% .

Measures where performance is below target for at least two consecutive quarters

KPI Q3 (2020/21) Target Q4 (2020/21) Perf
MKO03 - Average number of stalls on a Tuesday 16 37 29 .
TACO3 - Average spend per head (secondary sales)  £0 £2.30 £0 .
TACO4 - Audience figures 0 3600 0O [ ]
LC2a - Gainsborough Leisure Centre usage 51,294 78,750 0 .
LC3 - Number of outreach users 0 0 [

Page 28



Building Control

® BCO04 - Market Share performance has improved from below target at 69% in quarter three to
above target by year end. Market share is also 8% higher than the same period last year.

¢ Atotal of 229 applications were received during quarter four, an increase of 25% on the same
period last year. For the year as a whole, 984 applications were received, which is a decline of 28%
on 2019/20, while received income is 12% lower than last year. This is a consequence of reduced
activity during periods of lockdown, particularly the first lockdown in March 2020.

Performance exceptions

KPI Q4 (2019/20) Target Q4 (2020/21) Perf DoT
BCO4 - Market Share 72% 78% 80% 8 ®
Crematorium

® Key performance indicators have been introduced for the Crematorium but no targets have been
assigned while these measures are baselined. Targets will be assigned for 2021/22 based on
2020/21 out-turns.

Lea Fields Crematorium has recently marked its first full year in operation. COVID-19 has
presented challenges and constant change for the industry but this has been met with increased
strength and resilience. The Crematorium now has five trained Cremator Technicians and the
service has been able to assist other local authorities during a time of need. The changes brought
about by the new Health Protection (Coronavirus) Regulations, 2020 are not expected to be lifted
or amended until at least the 21st June 2021 and it has been indicated that social distancing
rules may continue to apply beyond that date. The team will continue to review, comply and adapt
to changes in regulation as necessary.

Investment in improved audio-visual technology has enhanced the webcasting service for those
unable to attend a funeral in person. Interest in memorial services is increasing, and this increase
is expected to continue as confidence in Lea Fields grows in the community and it becomes the
Crematorium of choice.

The service is currently in the process of applying for Charter for the Bereaved status, with the
associated principles already applied within the team.

Crematorium Performance Measures

KPI Q4 (2019/20) Target Q4 (2020/21) Perf DoT
LFC1 - Number of services held N/A N/A 180
LFC2 - Income received N/A N/A £144,800.70

Page 29



Garden Waste

¢ Quarter four marks the beginning of a new year for the subscription service, which is based on a
calendar year rather than the civic or financial year as per other Council services.

® While the roll-out of the Customer Relationship Management (CRM) system was delayed from its
original go live date in January, actions were put in place to mitigate the impact of this and
customers were still able to subscribe to the service from 4th January with minimal disruption.
Work is ongoing to ensure the CRM roll-out can take place as soon as is practically possible.

*® Residents have been notified through a communications campaign that customers would receive
an extra garden waste collection this year.

® GWO1 - the number of bins sold has increased by 10.6% (or 2,417 bins) compared to the previous
year which is the largest increase since the introduction of the service and means the overall
target of 25,197 is likely to be exceeded during quarter two.

® GWO02 - subscription take-up has also increased, up 4.7% compared to last year. Again, this is the
largest increase since the service was introduced and means the Council is on course to exceed
the overall target of 56% during quarter two.

® GWO04 - whilst missed collections remain better than target, there has been a slight increase. Of
the 150,570 collections during quarter four, 66 were missed and the new crew in place is being
supported to ensure familiarity with the collection rounds.

Performance exceptions

Q4 Q4
KPI (2019/20) Target (2020/21) Perf  DoT
GWO1 - Number of bins sold 22,678 25197 25,095 B ®
GWO02 - Subscription take-up 48.4% 56% 53.1% B
GWO04 - Missed garden waste collection o o o

collections 0.11% 0.2%  0.04% B

Page 30



Leisure Contract

« A third national lockdown beginning on 4th January 2021 once again led to the full
closure of all leisure centres. The route map out of lockdown allowed leisure centres to
re-open on 12th April with activities limited to gym, squash and swimming (lessons,
lane and casual swimming). Other activities will become available as the road map
progresses.

o As of April 2021, the Gainsborough Leisure Centre is home to a COVID lateral flow
testing station to support the government's mass testing programme.

o To help Leisure Centre members continue their exercise during the third lockdown,
online exercise was provided in the form of instructor led live classes, and pre-
recorded classes. This offer proved extremely popular with members and there was a
high take-up for this service.

Performance exceptions

Q4 Q4
KPI (2019/20) Target (2020/21) Perf  DoT
LC2a West Lindsey Leisure Facilities Usage 78,272 78750 0 . @
LC2b - Market Rasen Leisure Facilities N/A NTS 0
Usage
LC3 - Number of Outreach Users 895 895 0 B O

Page 31



Trinity Arts Centre

e The pandemic continues to affect Trinity Arts Centre which remains closed to live events
per government restrictions. All events and activities scheduled during quarter four have
been rescheduled to a new period in 2022.

e Consumer confidence remains exceptionally low which is affecting advance ticket sales
for touring productions at all venues across the UK.

¢ As the Centre does not produce its own shows, it relies entirely on producers meaning
any decision to postpone, reschedule or cancel an event will have an impact as such
productions are often part of a larger, UK wide tour. In recognition of this, the Centre is
working with producers who are offering digital versions of their productions. These
digital productions have been promoted at no financial risk to the Arts Centre and have
provided residents with different options to engage with the Arts during the pandemic.
However, customer demand for digital productions is low, as is the case across the
whole of the UK.

e Diversification during the pandemic has allowed the Arts Centre to become a vital means
of support for local creatives who have been able to use the space for rehearsals and
promotional filming. For example, Back2Back Productions recently filmed a major
paranormal series at the Centre for the Discovery Channel. The Centre will also feature
as part of a 12 part series on the Freeview channel 'Really’ later this year which will
provide the Arts Centre with national exposure at a critical point in resuming steady
operations. As a result of this filming, venue management have been able to establish
good links with historians who have offered their services to bring to life the heritage and
history of the Trinity Arts Centre.

¢ During the course of the year, the Centre underwent a full stage inspection and the team
have undertaken the necessary remedial action to satisfy the requirements of the
inspection.

e The Council's application to the Arts Council's Culture Recovery Fund for £98k was
unsuccessful. A high demand for funding saw a need for the Arts Council to support Arts
companies and freelancers, meaning that many Arts venues missed out. Whilst this is
disappointing, the Arts Centre is currently in a stable financial position and alternative
options for securing financial support are being explored.

Performance exceptions

Q4 Q4
KPI (2019/20) Target (2020/21) Perf  DoT
TACO3 - Average spend per head (secondary
sales) £2.05 £230  £0 B O
TACO4 - Audience figures 5,965 3600 0 B O

Page 32



Markets

¢ MKO02 / 3 - Following the announcement of a third national lockdown, the markets were permitted to
open for essential traders only. All traders were able to return from 12th April in line with the national
easing of restrictions. There was a total take-up of 126 stalls for the Saturday market, and 188 stalls
for the Tuesday market during quarter four.

® Income remains at zero following the Council's decision to rent stalls (including the Farmers' Market)
free of charge until June 2021. Proposals are being developed for a grant scheme to support market
traders until April 2022. In addition, further support has been agreed with Marshall's Yard up to April
2022 for both the general market and the Farmer's Market, in addition to the delivery of two special
events.

® The two day Christmas Market planned for early December was cancelled as a result of the
pandemic. The Farmer's Market was able to go ahead in December, though the January event was
able to proceed with essential traders only. Six traders attended the Farmers' Market, which is lower
than typical levels due to COVID trading restrictions and some caution about returning to trade.

¢ To allow adequate social distancing, the Farmers' Market continues to operate from the town centre.

® There is currently a two year contract in place with Marshall's Yard who provide promotional and
marketing support, as well as delivering an events programme including a monthly Farmers' Market.
This is designed to support the general market whilst a wider strategic piece of work is undertaken
around future delivery of the market.

® In addition, Consultants are undertaking a review of the Gainsborough, Caistor and Market Rasen
Markets, and potential options for delivery. Phase one of this review is due to report back by quarter
one of 2021/22.

Performance exceptions

Q4 Q4
KPI (2019/20) Target (2020/21) Perf  DoT

MKO02 - Average number of paid for stalls on a

Saturday / 14 10 . @

MKO03 - Average number of paid for stalls on a
Tuesday 23 37 14 . @

Page 33



Street Cleansing

® Performance remains better than target within the service, despite the difficulties and constraints
caused by the pandemic. Benchmarking by the Association of Public Service Excellence (APSE)
demonstrates that the Council's street cleansing services has one of the lowest costs per
household in England, placing the Council in the top quartile and demonstrating excellent value for
money. Throughout the pandemic, the service has been delivered with minimal disruption to
residents, which is reflected in high levels of customer satisfaction.

® SCO04 - Fly-tipping is beginning to decrease with reported incidents down 9.3% on quarter three,
however, the figure is still high compared to the same period last year. Of the 648 incidents
reported during the period, 98.6% were collected and disposed of within the service level
agreement. Household waste recycling centres have re-opened, however operations are restricted
and a booking system remains in place which may be contributing to an increase in fly-tipping.

Performance exceptions

Q4 Q4
KPI (2019/20) Target (2020/21) Perf  DoT

SCO03 - Volunteer litter picks supported by the

Council 27 .2 ® ©

SCO04 - % of reported fly-tipping cases collected o o o
within target time R b A . @

Waste Services

® At 32%, recycling rates are within agreed tolerance levels for the quarter and 2% higher than the
same period last year. However, performance is below target for the year as a whole due to the
enforced closure of Household Waste Recycling Centres for a three month period during the first
lockdown in 2020.

® WCO03 - The amount of residual waste collected is worse than target, as is the case in local
authorities across the country due to a third national lockdown. As restrictions and 'stay at home' are
lifted, the amount of residual waste is expected to fall to within agreed tolerance levels.

® WCO04 - The % of missed collections picked up within target time remains better than target which is
a significant achievement given the constraints on the service as a result of COVID-19.

¢ Commercial waste has seen a recovery in demand with 458 customers and 20 cancellations, which
is a lower cancellation rate than during the first lockdown.

Performance exceptions

Q4 Q4
KPI (2019/20) Target (2020/21) Perf  DoT
WCO03 - Residual waste collected per household 43.9kg 40kg 43kg . @
WCO04 - % of missed black and blue bin 99% 95% 98% . @

collections collected within target time

Page 34



People and Democratic Services

Services included: Ambe@/I
e Contracts Management Red 0

e Democratic Services

Performance

Green 4~

Measures where performance is above target for at least two consecutive quarters

Q3 Q4
KPI (2019/20) @9t (5020/21)  Perf
:?;%4 - % of Fol requests processed within the statutory time 100% 97% 100% .
DS05 - Number of subsequent challenges to Fol requests 0 5 0 .
CMO02 - Number of challenges to the procurement exercise 0 0 0 .
that are upheld

Measures where performance is below target for at least two consecutive quarters

There are no measures where performance is below target for two consecutive quarters.

Page 35



Democratic Services and Contracts

Management

¢ DS01 / DS02 - Elected Members continue to access virtual training, with workshops held on
preparing for the Census; Treasury Management; four finance related topics; Chairing Skills and

updates on the development of the Council's Climate Strategy.

® DS04 - While large numbers of Freedom of Information requests continue to be received, turnaround
times remain consistent with 100% of the 198 requests received processed within the statutory
limit. Work is underway to transfer Freedom of Information requests on to a new system that will

improve efficiency and streamline the process.

Performance exceptions

Q4
KPI (2019/20)
DS04 - % of Fol requests processed within the 100%

statutory limit

DSO05 - Number of subsequent challenges to Fol 0
requests

CMO01 - % of contracts awarded to local suppliers 56%

CMO2 - Challenges to the procurement exercise 0
that are subsequently upheld

Page 36

Target

100%

20%

Q4
(2020/21) Perf  DoT

100%

25%

888
© 0 0 ©



Planning & Regeneration Performance Summary

Services included: Amber 0
Red 0~//:l
¢ Development Management

Performance

Green 37—

Measures where performance is above target for at least two consecutive quarters

Q3 Q4
A (2020/21)  '¥9et oopop1y P
DMOS - % of major planning applications determined on 100% 90% 93% .
time
DMQ6 - % of non-major planning applications determined 99% 80% 98% .
on time
DMO7 - appeals allowed as a % of all reportable decisions 1% 5% 1% .

Measures where performance is below target for at least two consecutive quarters

There are no measures where performance is below target for two consecutive quarters.

Page 37



Development Management

® DMO5 - A total of 508 planning applications were received during quarter three, representing an
increase of 24% (or 98 applications) on the same period last year. Of these, 19 were 'major'
applications, 81 were 'minor' applications and 408 were other or additional applications. For 2020/21
as a whole, 1,735 planning applications were received, including 53 major developments, which is a
14% increase on the previous year.

® DMO6 - Of the 11 appeal decisions made during quarter four, 10 were dismissed and one appeal was
allowed. For the year as a whole, 30 appeal decisions were received, of which 27 were dismissed and
three were allowed which equates to less than 1% of all appeals.

® Statutory applications yielded £250,635 during quarter four, with an additional £14,750 through
voluntary pre-application enquiries giving a combined total of £265,385. This represents an 11%
increase in income on the same period last year.

® For the year as a whole, there has been an increase in both planning application numbers and fee
income. The increased workload has required additional resource in the team to meet demand,
however, performance levels have been maintained.

Performance exceptions

Q4 Q4
KPI (2019/20) Target (2020/21) Perf  DoT
DMOS5 - % of major planning applications o o o
determined on time 100% 90% 93% . @
DMQ6 - % of non-major applications determined 99% 80% 98% . @
on time
DMO7 - Appeals allowed as a % of all decisions 1% 5% 1% . @

Breakdown of Planning Applications by Type for Quarter Four

Additional 42.13% ’\/Major 3.74% During quarter four, 508

' _Minor 15.94% planning applications were
received in total. This is a 24%
increase on the same period
last year.

Planning Applications

Page 38



Regulatory Services & Change Management

Performance Summary

Services included:

e Council Tax and NNDR

e Enforcement

¢ Housing Benefit and Council Tax Support
¢ ICT

¢ Local Land Charges Amber 0—
e Licensing

e Regulatory Services

e Systems Development

Red 7

Performance

~—Green 13

Measures where performance is above target for at least two consecutive quarters

Q3 Q4
KPI (2020/21)  'arget (2020/21) "orf
BENO2 - Cost per live claim £4.19 £5.52 £3.20 .
CTO02 - No of properties on the Council Tax base per FTE 5,543 5,000 5,158 .
ENOS5 - % housing enforcement cases closed within 6 87% 75% 08% .
months
ENO6 - % of planning enforcement cases closed within 6 76% 759 78% .
months
L.I04 - % of licensing applications processed within target 100% 96% 100% .
time
RGO02 - % of registered food premises rated 3* or above  98% 95% 98% .
RGO5 - % of environmental protection cases closed o o o
within 6 months 100% 5% 100% .

National

SYS01 - LLPG Standard Gold S Gold [
SYS03 - % of Systems Development requests processed 95% 80% 99% .

within target time

Page 39



Regulatory Services & Change Management

Performance Summary Continued

Measures where performance is below target for at least two consecutive quarters

Q3 Q4
KPI (2020/21) Target 02021y  Perf
CTO4 - NNDR in-year collection rate 81.2% 98.9% 97.9% .
LCO5 - Average number of days to process a search 30 days 10 days 26 days .
RG03 - % of FSA scheduled inspections completed on 6% 98% 6% .
time
RGOf‘r - Number of environmental protection requests 209 125 234 .
received

Page 40



Council Tax and NNDR

® CTO03 - after performing below target in quarters one - three, the Council Tax collection in-year
collection rate ended quarter four (and the year as a whole) slightly better than target at 98.01%.
The amount of Council Tax collected equates to just over £2 million more than last year.

® Council Tax recovery action continued during quarter four with 10,820 reminders issued for the
year as a whole. One court hearing was permitted in January 2021 where 1,723 summonses for
non-payment were issued, resulting in 1,150 liability orders granted by magistrates.

® Council Tax discretionary hardship payments were also awarded to those customers experiencing
financial hardship as a result of the pandemic, with a total of £172,761.38 awarded to accounts
during 2020/21.

® CT04 - As expected, the NNDR collection rate remains below target as a result of many
businesses suffering extreme financial hardship during the pandemic. Recovery action is being
taken where appropriate to collect any outstanding payments and all available business rate relief
has been awarded.

Performance exceptions

Q4 Q4
KPI (2019/20) Target (2020/21) Perf  DoT
CTO02 - Number of properties on the Council Tax
base per FTE 5,493 5000 5,158 B ©
CT03 - Council Tax in Year Collection Rate 98% 98% 98.01% B ©
CT04 - NNDR in Year Collection Rate 98.9% 98.9%  97.9% g O

Housing Benefit and Council Tax Support

® BENOS - A high number of older claims are awaiting additional information. In addition, the team
continue to be affected by Department for Work and Pensions Universal Credit processing times
and both of these factors are impacting on the number of older claims.

¢ All remaining performance indicators continue to perform above target, despite the service
experiencing additional pressures as a result of staff availability and administration of the Test and
Trace Support Payment. The end of quarter four has also seen service interruptions as a result of
year-end processes, new year calculation and systems availability.

Performance exceptions

Q4 Q4
KPI (2019/20) Target (2020/21) Perf  DoT
BENO2 - Cost per live claim £6.12 £5.52  £3.20 B &
BENOS3 - End to end processing times 3.1 days 5days 4.9 days . @

BENOS5 - Number of claims older than 30

13 12 18
days Page 41 ® ©



Enforcement

¢ All KPIs - Measures relating to enforcement activity should be viewed as a whole in what has been a
year of unprecedented demand. A total of 287 service requests have been received, an increase of
31% on the previous year. This has impacted on the time taken to provide an initial response, the
investigation of cases and the speed at which cases can be closed. Additional resources have been
brought in to assist in this work area for an initial six month period from March.

® ENO2 / 03 - There is an ongoing challenge in the high number of new planning cases being opened
each month compared to the number of cases able to be closed, which will need to be reviewed in
quarter one of 2021/22. Options to be considered include a change in the current policy position or
a further review of resources. The easing of lockdown restrictions may have a positive impact,
however while the caseload remains high, the team will continue to focus on the highest priority
cases. As aresult of restrictions imposed by successive lockdowns, it has not been possible to
undertake as much proactive work as usual with regards to community safety cases, resulting in
significantly fewer cases than usual.

® ENO3 - Within the community safety work area, there has been a re-focus towards early presentation
of waste work within the Gainsborough South-West ward and 29 additional cases were handled in
addition to the usual workload during quarter four.

® ENOS5 - Housing enforcement cases continue to be dealt with through a risk based system during
the pandemic. Alongside the usual workload, there has been a focus on dealing with Minimum
Energy Efficiency Standards, which has significantly increased the number of requests received, but
has also enabled proactive work to continue. This is evidenced by the fact that 98% of properties in
the Selective Licensing Scheme are now licensed; a significant achievement which demonstrates
the success of the scheme as it draws to a close. The easing of restrictions will allow a gradual
increase of property visits.

Performance exceptions

Q4 Q4
KPI (2019/20) '29°t  (ogpsp1y  Perf Dol
ENO2 - Planning enforcement cases given an o o o
initial response within 20 working days 7% 90% 67% .

ENO3 - Number of community safety cases
. . 28 60 19
closed following compliance

ENO5 - % of housing enforcement cases closed
within 6 months

® 0 © ©

CJ
96% 75% 98% [ ]
C

ENO6 - % of planning enforcement cases closed

o, o, o
within 6 months 67% 75% 78%

Page 42



ICT

e New performance measures were introduced in September 2019 following a performance workshop
with the Team Manager and Chief Executive. Baselining continues to take place in order that targets
can be set from 2021/22 onwards. Performance against all ICT measures will continue to be
reported on until targets have been agreed.

e IT04 - 92% of change management requests received during quarter four have been completed.

ICT Performance Measures

Q4 Q4
KPI (2019/20) Target (2020/21) Perf  DoT
ITO1 - Number of helpdesk requests received N/A NTS 469 N/A
ITO2 - Average number of hours taken to action a N/A NTS 2§ hours, 18 N/A
helpdesk request mins
IT03'- Number of change management requests N/A NTS 338 N/A
received
ITO4 - Number of change management requests N/A NTS 313 N/A
completed
Systems Development
e All KPIs continue to perform above target.
¢ Constant proactive monitoring ensures good quality data.
e Quick reallocation of tasks ensures there are no delays in dealing with requests.
Performance exceptions
Q4 Q4
KPI (2019/20) Target (2020/21) Perf  DoT
National
SYS01 - LLPG Standard Gold standard  ©0ld B O
SYS02 - Website Availability 100% 98% 100% B &
SYS03 - % of systems development requests 96% 80% 96% . @

completed within target time

Page 43



Local Land Charges

® LCO04 - At 77%, market share performed significantly above target during quarter four. There
have been a total 594 searches received during quarter three, representing an increase of
194% (or 392 searches) compared to the same period last year. Income is also up compared
to last year, with £32,339 generated during the quarter which is an increase of £19,914.

¢ LCO5 - An additional part-time staff member was recruited through Sure Staff to assist with
the backlog of searches, which has already led to a reduction in turnaround times, down from
30 days in quarter three, to just over 26 days by the end of quarter four. To further improve
performance in this area, an additional temporary staff member has been trained to
undertake full searches. The project to digitalise Land Charges records is nearing completion
which will lead to significant efficiencies and this, coupled with additional staff resources will
result in on target performance for turnaround times and greater resilience in the team by the
end of quarter one.

Performance exceptions

Q4 Q4
KPI (2019/20) Target (2020/21) Perf  DoT
LCO4 - Market Share 60% 65% 77% B O
LCOS - Average time taken to process a
search 6.7 days 10 days 26.3 days . @
Licensing

® Work during the quarter has focused on commencing inspections that were delayed due to
COVID-19, and on working with the hospitality sector to prepare for the April and May easing
of restrictions.

® At 451, the number of applications received finished the year 37.9% higher than 2019/20.
Further recovery is expected during 2021/22 subject to no further restrictions being imposed
on the sector. The focus during quarter one will be on continuing to provide support and
assistance to licensed businesses as part of the continued COVID recovery.

® Three applications were heard by the Licensing sub-committee during the period, all of which
have provided reassurances that the policies in place are working effectively, and that the
committee is functioning in line with its statutory obligations.

Performance exceptions

Q4 Q4
KPI (2019/20) Target (2020/21) Perf  DoT

LI04 - % of licensing applications processed

% % %
within target time 100% 96 100 . @

Page 44



Regulatory Services

® REGO3 - Restrictions caused by the pandemic meant that no food inspections were carried out
during quarter one and only a limited number during quarter two. As a result, the year-end
target has not been met, however, no statutory reporting on this measure will be required for
2020/21. The Food Standards Agency requirement to assess all category A and B premises
remotely has been met (there are 31 such premises in the district). Any high priority food
complaints have been dealt with alongside normal service requests.

® It is important to recognise that officers within this work area have also led the Council's
regulatory response to COVID-19. A total of 874 service requests were received during the
year, an increase of 147% on the previous year with the majority of requests relating to the
pandemic. This increased demand was in parallel to continual legislative changes within this
work area, demonstrating the challenges the service has met during the past year.

® The team continues to review resources to ensure that statutory obligations can be met and
so that the ongoing response to the pandemic can continue.

® The easing of lockdown restrictions going into quarter one of 2021/22 will mean that the
team's focus remains on COVID response and recovery for the foreseeable future.

Performance exceptions

KPI ?2%1 9/20) Target ?2%20/21) Perf  DoT
REGO02 - % of food premises rated at 3* or above 97% 95% 98% . @
ﬁiﬁggtu:/:] ;)2 s:)no;ilestzlndard Agency scheduled 88% 98% 6% . @
IrReEq(l%j(;t;t-s l\ll':(r:;li)veerdof environmental protection 185 125 234 . @
:/:i?;iﬁnevir;o:nThesntal protection cases closed 100% 75% 100% . @

Page 45



Appendix A - Summary of Year-End Council

Performance

Introduction

The following tables present for information the year-end performance out-turns for all of the Council's key
performance indicators. In conjunction with the commentary provided in the main report, this information is
designed to aid understanding of the impact that COVID-19 has had on Council services and performance.
As the shift from COVID response to recovery progresses, this information can be used as a starting point to
monitor progress and improvements in performance during 2021/22, particularly in those services most
affected by the pandemic.

A full review of all Progress and Delivery measures and targets will be conducted between September and
December 2021 to ensure that they remain relevant and that targets are realistic but stretch based. This
review will involve key stakeholders, including the Progress and Delivery Member Working Group ahead of
final sign off by the Council's Corporate Policy and Resources Committee in January 2022. The information
provided in the tables below, and in subsequent P&D quarterly reports can be used to inform the review.

For 2020/21 62% of the Council's key
Onor ¢:r‘;‘$ 62% performance indicators finished the year on

or above target. A total of 34% were below
target, largely a result of the impact of
COVID-19. 3% of KPIs were within agreed
tolerance levels. All KPIs will continue to be
monitored on a monthly basis and reported
quarterly to the Council's Management

Within Tolerance 4%

Below Target
g Team and Elected Members.

Page 46



Corporate Health Year-End Performance

Measures where performance is on or above target

2019/20 2020/21

KPI Performance Target Performance HE | (2T
CHO1 - Time taken to pay invoices 10 days 14 days 9.75 days . @
CHO2 - Average customer satisfaction 3.5

rating out of 5 stars StiElE stars Skt . @
CHO3 - % of complaints where the o o o

Council is at fault 34% 45% 26% . @
CHO4 - Average number of days to

resolve a complaint 6.7 days 21 days 8.2 days . @
CHO6 - Average number of staff 0.6

sickness days per FTE 0.50 days days 0.48 days . @
CHO8 - Server and system availabilty 100% 98% 100% . @

Measures where performance is within agreed tolerance levels

There are no Corporate Health KPIs that fall within this category.

Measures where performance is below target

2019/20 2020/21

! Performance Target  performance HEw e
CHOS5 - % of calls answered within o . .
21 seconds 82% 80% 73% . @

Page 47



Finance and Property Services

Measures where performance is on or above target

KPI 2019/20 Target 2020/21 Perf DoT
Performance Performance

PAO2 - Planned o o °

Maintenance 58% 70% 75% . @

PAOS5 - Rental Portfolio o o o

o 6% 12% 10% g ©

Measures where performance is within agreed tolerance levels

There are no Finance and Property Services KPlIs that fall within this category.

Measures where performance is below target

There are no Finance and Property Services KPIs that fall within this category.

Page 48



Homes and Communities

Measures where performance is on or above target

KPI
ECO03 - Number of ShopWatch customers
using the CCTV service

HCO03 - Number of households housed
from the Housing Register

HCOS - Average length of stay in
temporary accommodation

2019/20
Performance

N/A

43

31.9 days

Target

52

43

56 days

2020/21
Performance

46

125

36 days

Measures where performance is within agreed tolerance levels

Perf

There are no Homes and Communities KPIs that fall within this category.

Measures where performance is below target

KPI

HCO02 - Number of households placed in
temporary accommodation

HCO04 - Number of nights spent in Bed and
Breakfast accommodation

HCO06 - Number of households prevented
from becoming homeless

HCO07 - Number of households relieved
from homelessness

HSGO02 - Average number of days from
DFG referral to completion

HSGO03 - The number of long-term empty
homes in the district

HSGO04 - The number of long-term empty
properties brought back into use

2019/20
Performance

63

197

192

177

162 days

583

Page 49

Target

72

360

180

120
days

540

100

2020/21
Performance

100

1,208

160

149

187 days

608

DoT

© O

© 0 0 0 0 O ©



Operational & Commercial Services

Measures where performance is on or above target

KPI

GWO01 - Number of bins sold
GWO02 - Subscription take-up
GWO04 - Missed garden waste collections

LCO1 - Customer satisfaction with the
Leisure Centres

LCO5 - Maintain external Quest
accreditation at the West Lindsey Leisure
Centre

SCO03 - Volunteer litter picks

SCO04 - % of fly-tipping removed within
target time

WCO04 - Missed black and blue bin
collections

WCO05 - Missed black and blue bin
collections collected within the target
time

2019/20
Performance

26,150
56.1%

0.11%

87%

Achieved

100

99%

984

97%

Target

25,197
58.3%

0.20%

75%

2020/21
Performance

27,145
58.3%

0.07%

99%

Achieved Achieved

72

90%

1,140

95%

85

98%

1,113

98%

Measures where performance is within agreed tolerance levels

2019/20

oL Performance
BCO04 - Market Share 77%
WCO3 - Residual household waste 39.5kg

collected

Page 50

Target
78%

40kg

2020/21
Performance

75%

42.3kg

(]
4
—h

Perf

(w)
(o]
=

OO OECENONMONONO,

DoT



Operational & Commercial Services
Continued

Measures where performance is below target

2019/20 2020/21

KPI Performance Target Performance FEU | R
LCO2 - West Lindsey Leisure Centre
Usage 312,703 315,000 87,294 P ©
REGO3 - % of Food Standard Agency o o o

% % %
scheduled inspections completed 88 %8 6 . @
LCO3 - Total number of outreach users 1,672 0 1,672 P ©
TACO3 - Average spend per head
(secondary sales) £2.36 £2.30  £0.00 8 o
TACO04 - Audience Figures 20,369 14400 O . @
MKTO02 - Average number of paid for
market stalls (Saturday) / 14 1 . @
MKTO3 - Average number of paid for
market stalls (Tuesday) 29 37 22 . @
WCO02 - Recycling Rate 45% 45% 44% B ©

Page 51



People and Democratic Services

Measures where performance is on or above target

KPI Bl Target LAY Perf DoT
Performance Performance

DS04 - % of Freedom of Information

requests processed within the statutory 100% 97% 100% . @

time limit

DS05 - Number of subsequent challenges

to Freedom of Information requests that 0 5 0 . @

are upheld

Measures where performance is within agreed tolerance levels

There are no People and Democratic Services KPIs that fall within this category.

Measures where performance is below target

2019/20
Performance

41% 20% 13% 8 O

2020/21

Performance D L

KPI Target

CMO2 - % of all contracts awarded to
local suppliers

Page 52



Planning and Regeneration

Measures where performance is on or above target

2019/20 2020/21

KPI Performance LR Performance i vl
DMOS5 - % of major planning applications o o o
determined on time 100% 90% 98% . @
DMO06 - % of non-major planning o o o

% % %
applications determined on time Sk 80% 99% . @
DMO7 - % of appeals allowed as a % of all 1% 59% 0% . @

reportable decisions

Measures where performance is within agreed tolerance levels

There are no Planning and Regeneration KPlIs that fall within this category.

Measures where performance is below target

There are no Planning and Regeneration KPIs that fall within this category.

Page 53



Regulatory Services & Change Management

Measures where performance is on or above target

KPI 2019/20 Target 2020/21 Perf DoT
Performance Performance

BENO2 - Cost of service per live claim £5.82 £5.52 £4.61 B o
BENO3 - End to end processing times 3.9 days 5 days 4.5 days . @
CTO02 - Number of properties on the
Council Tax base per FTE 4,952 5,000 5,440 . @
CT03 - Council Tax in-year collection rate  98% 98% 98.01% B &
ENO4 - % of properties that are licensed
within the Gainsborough South-West 90% 90% 93% . @
Ward
LCO04 - Market Share (Local Land o o o

% % %
Charges) 63 65 68 B &
LI04 - Licensing applications processed o o o
within target time 100% 96% 100% . @
ENOS - % of housing enforcement cases o o o
closed within 6 months L U e . @
ENOG6 - % of planning enforcement cases o o o
closed within 6 months 76% 75% 80% . @
REGO2 - % of food premises rated 3 stars o o o
of above 97% 95% 98% B &
REGOS5 - % of environmental protection o o o
cases closed within 6 months 100% 75% 100% . @

National

SYS01 - LLPG Standard Gold Standarg €0l B O
SYS03 - % of Systems Development 97% 80% 96% . @

requests completed within target time

Measures where performance is within agreed tolerance levels

There are no Regulatory Services and Change Management KPls that fall within
this category.

Page 54



Regulatory Services & Change Management
Continued

Measures where performance is below target

KPI AU Target AL Perf DoT
Performance Performance

BENO4 - Number of claims older than 30

days 12 12 20 B ©

CT04 - NNDR in-year collection rate 98.88% 98.88% 97.90% 8 ©

ENO2 - Planning enforcement cases given % o %

an initial response within 20 working days 87% 90% 78% . @

ENO3 - Number of community safety cases

closed following compliance 222 s 92 . @

LCOS - Average number of days to process

a Land Charges search 13.1 days 10 days 18 days . @

REGO3 - % of Food Standards Agency o o o

scheduled inspections completed B84 e 6% CJ ©

REGO04 - Number of enviromental 694 500 985 . @

protection requests received

Page 55



Agenda Item 6b

¢ Prosperous Communities
|n Sey Committee
DISTRICT COUNCIL
8 June 2021

Subject: Gainsborough Cycling and Walking Network Plan

Report by: Assistant Director of Planning and Regeneration
Contact Officer: Grant White

Communities Manager
grant.white@west-lindsey.gov.uk

Purpose / Summary: To present and endorse the Gainsborough

Cycling and Walking Network Plan produced by
Lincolnshire County Council.

RECOMMENDATION(S):
That Members: -

1. Adopt the Gainsborough Cycling and Walking Network Plan 2021 for use by
officers on related projects and future decision making.

Page 56



IMPLICATIONS

Legal:

There are no legal implications. The endorsement of the plan does not
constitute a legally binding commitment or agreement. Any future works
delivered by WLDC or in partnership with LCC and other stakeholders relating
to this plan will be subject to any legal considerations as required.

Financial : FIN/21/22/B

There are no financial implications arising from this report.

Staffing :
There are no staffing implications.

(N.B.) Where there are staffing implications the report MUST have a HR Ref

Equality and Diversity including Human Rights :
Not applicable.

Data Protection Implications :

Not applicable.

Climate Related Risks and Opportunities:

Endorsement of the plan will contribute towards the Council’s commitment
around promotion and enhancement of cycling and walking as a viable transport
option for residents in Gainsborough. The plan includes guidance for the best
practice on future works meeting set environmental standards. Whilst the plan
does not detail specific climate outcomes, any subsequent works to improve
cycling and walking opportunities will have a direct impact.

Section 17 Crime and Disorder Considerations:

Not applicable.

Health Implications:

The plan acknowledges the potential health benefits of residents being able to access suitable
cycling and walking opportunities. Whilst the plan does not contain specific health related
outcomes, it does set a clear approach and best practice for future works to ensure new or
improved cycling and walking routes meet multiple needs of residents including better health.

Page 57



Title and Location of any Background Papers used in the preparation of
this report :

Risk Assessment :

N/A

Call in and Urgency:

Is the decision one which Rule 14.7 of the Scrutiny Procedure Rules apply?

i.e. is the report exempt from being called in due to Yes No X
urgency (in consultation with C&I chairman)

Key Decision:

A matter which affects two or more wards, or has Yes No X
significant financial implications

Page 58




11

1.2

1.3

1.4

1.5

2.1

2.2

Introduction

Lincolnshire County Council has commissioned the production of the
Gainsborough Cycling and Walking Network Plan. This document has
been produced by WSP and the report was finalised in March 2021.

The plan has been produced to:

e Take advantage of future and additional funding streams;

e Maximise the best opportunities for improving cycling and walking
rates;

e Make cycling and walking a priority and make Gainsborough one of
the best towns in the UK for cycling and walking.

The objectives of the plan are to:

e Produce an evidence-based infrastructure network plan;

e |dentify early network investment priorities and potential
interventions;

e Secure stakeholder “buy-in” for the network and potential
interventions;

e Provide high-level feasibility for investment in the highest priority
cycling and walking infrastructure.

The final report is enclosed as Appendix 1 with this report:
APPENDIX 1 Gainsborough Cycling and Walking Network Plan

This report presents the plan for adoption by the Council and to seek
commitment to support the delivery of identified interventions working
in partnership with Lincolnshire County Council and other stakeholders.

Policy Position

The plan has been produced with due regard to the Cycling and Walking
Investment Strategy (DFT 2017). Local policy work, some of which is
being led by West Lindsey District Council, has also been reviewed to
support the plan’s production.

The following key localised policy and strategic documents have been
taken into consideration during the production of the plan:

Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy for Lincolnshire (LCC 2018)
Gainsborough Neighbourhood Plan

Gainsborough Transport Strategy

Green Infrastructure Study (Gainsborough Town Council 2018)
Gainsborough Town Centre Heritage Masterplan (WLDC)

Page 59



2.3

2.4

3.1

3.2

4.1

The Council will be able to utilise the plan in future work such as:

e Levelling Up Fund bid and associated works
e Townscape Heritage
e Green and Open Space management and improvement works

The Gainsborough Transport Strategy board will continue to provide
oversight of any future transport initiatives and will utilise this plan where
appropriate in supporting design and delivery decisions.

Transport and Connectivity Programme

During 2021 a refreshed Transport & Connectivity Delivery Plan will be
produced. This will set out the Council’s own activities linked to transport
and connectivity along with actions working with partners and
stakeholders. The new plan will be incorporated into this work and help
shape future interventions and activity. This is currently scheduled to be
presented to Prosperous Communities Committee in September 2021.

In addition to this plan being created for Gainsborough, officers are
actively engaged with other work to promote and enhance walking and
cycling opportunities across the district. Regular officer liaison is taking
place with Lincolnshire County Council to explore opportunities for
developing walking and cycling plans in other communities. The Council
is also actively engaged with current work to establish a new Lincolnshire
Walking Strategy.

Recommendations

Adopt the Gainsborough Cycling and Walking Network Plan 2021 for use
by officers on related projects and future decision making.

Page 60



\\\I)

Lincolnshire County Council

GAINSBOROUGH CYCLING AND
WALKING NETWORK PLAN

Final Report

MARCH 2021 CONFIDENTIAL



\\\I)

Lincolnshire County Council

GAINSBOROUGH CYCLING AND WALKING
NETWORK PLAN

Final Report

TYPE OF DOCUMENT (VERSION) CONFIDENTIAL

PROJECT NO. 70062643

DATE: MARCH 2021

Page 62

CONFIDENTIAL



\\\I)

Lincolnshire County Council

GAINSBOROUGH CYCLING AND WALKING
NETWORK PLAN

Final Report

WSP

8 First Street
Manchester
M15 4RP

Phone: +44 161 200 5000

WSP.com

Page 63

CONFIDENTIAL



\\\I)

QUALITY CONTROL

Issue/revision First issue Revision 1 Revision 2 Revision 3
Remarks Draft Report Final Report

Date April 2020 March 2021

Prepared by SAF / MN SAF / MN

Signature

Checked by SF SF

Signature

Authorised by SF LL

Signature

Project number 70062643

File reference \\uk.wspgroup.com\Central Data\Projects\700626xx\70062643 - Gainsborough -

Cycling and Walking Plan\03 WIP\TP Transport Planning\05 Reports\CWNP

Report

GAINSBOROUGH CYCLING AND WALKING NETWORK PLAN

Project No.: 70062643
Lincolnshire County Council

Page 64

CONFIDENTIAL | WSP
March 2021



\\\I)

CONTENTS

INTRODUCTION 1
POLICY REVIEW 3
CYCLING AND WALKING NETWORK PLAN 12
CYCLING NETWORK PLAN 32
WALKING NETWORK PLAN 38
ENGAGEMENT 46
GOOD PRACTICE REVIEW — APPLICATION IN GAINSBOROUGH 58

CYCLING AND WALKING INFRASTRUCTURE - PRIORITY ROUTES 74

SUMMARY 93
GAINSBOROUGH CYCLING AND WALKING NETWORK PLAN CONFIDENTIAL | WSP
Project No.: 70062643 Page 65 March 2021

Lincolnshire County Council



\\\I)

1 INTRODUCTION

1.1.1. Lincolnshire County Council (LCC) has requested that WSP, as part of the Lincolnshire County
Council Technical Services Partnership, produce a Cycling and Walking Network Plan for
Gainsborough.

1.1.2. LCC is developing this Cycling and Walking Network Plan for Gainsborough in order to:
= Take advantage of future and additional funding streams;
= Maximise the best opportunities for improving cycling and walking rates; and
= Make cycling and walking a priority and make Gainsborough one of the best towns in the UK for

cycling and walking.

1.1.3. The objectives of the project are to:
= Produce an evidence-based infrastructure network plan;
= |dentify early network investment priorities and potential interventions;
= Secure stakeholder “buy-in” for the network and potential interventions; and
= Provide high-level feasibility for investment in the highest priority cycling and walking

infrastructure.

1.1.4. The project follows the publication of the Cycling and Walking Investment Strategy (CWIS) by the
Department for Transport in 2017, which led to the publication of guidance on preparing Local
Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plans (LCWIPs). CWIS states that the guidance enables local
bodies to take a more strategic approach to improving conditions for cycling and walking in order to
support increases in travel on foot or by cycling. The development of the Gainsborough Cycling and
Walking Network Plan (GCWNP) is therefore largely based on the LCWIP guidance.

1.1.5. This report explains the methodology used and engagement carried out in the development of the
GCWNP. It then includes an overview of good practice in cycling and walking infrastructure,
applicable to Gainsborough. Finally, it provides high-level options for the priority cycling and walking
routes identified in the development of the GCWNP.

1.1.6. The report is structured as follows:

= Section 2 — Policy Review
e A review of current cycling and sustainable transport policy across the study area
= Section 3 — Cycling and Walking Network Plans
¢ Presents the baseline data used to develop both the cycling and walking network plans
= Section 4 — Cycling Network Plan
¢ Presents the baseline data used specifically to develop the cycling and walking network plan
= Section 5 — Walking Network Plan
¢ Presents the baseline data used specifically to develop the walking network plan
= Section 6 — Engagement

e Details the internal and external workshops undertaken to develop and gain input and
feedback on the GCWNP

GAINSBOROUGH CYCLING AND WALKING NETWORK PLAN CONFIDENTIAL | WSP
Project No.: 70062643 Page 00 March 2021
Lincolnshire County Council Page 1 of 94



\\\I)

Section 7 — Good Practice Review — Application in Gainsborough

e Provides a high-level review of good practice in cycling and walking infrastructure, taking
account of the latest design guidance and standards.

Section 8 — Cycling and Walking Infrastructure — Priority Routes

e Provides a high-level overview of potential cycling and walking interventions along the
identified priority cycle routes

Section 9 — Walking Infrastructure — Priority Walking Interventions

¢ Provides a high-level overview of potential walking interventions in the Core Walking Zone

Section 10 — Summary

e Provides a summary of the report and recommended next steps

GAINSBOROUGH CYCLING AND WALKING NETWORK PLAN CONFIDENTIAL | WSP
Project No.: 70062643 Page 67 March 2021
Lincolnshire County Council Page 2 of 94



\\\I)

2 POLICY REVIEW
2.1.1. The current cycling and sustainable transport policy situation across the study area has been
reviewed to ensure the Gainsborough Cycling and Walking Network Plan (GCWNP) aligns with and
considers local, regional, and national policy. The following list provides a summary of the policy and
strategy documents reviewed.
= Cycling and Walking Investment Strategy (DfT, 2017);
= Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plans (DfT, 2017);
= Greater Lincolnshire Strategic Economic Plan (Greater Lincolnshire Local Enterprise Partnership,
2016);

= Lincolnshire Local Transport Plan (LCC, 2013);

= Central Lincolnshire Local Plan (Central Lincolnshire Joint Strategic Planning Committee, 2017);

= Central Lincolnshire Local Plan Review (Central Lincolnshire Joint Strategic Planning Committee,
2018);

= Greater Lincolnshire Strategic Infrastructure Delivery Plan (GLSIDP) (2016);

= Countryside Access and Rights of Way Improvement Plan 2007-2012 (LCC, 2007)

= Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy for Lincolnshire (LCC, 2018).

= Green Masterplan

= The Lincolnshire County Council Strategy for Waterways Development Strategy 2018-2028
(LCC)

= Gainsborough Neighbourhood Plan

= Gainsborough Transport Strategy (LCC, emerging)

= Green Infrastructure Study (Gainsborough Town Council, 2018)

= Gainsborough Town Centre Heritage Masterplan (West Lindsey District Council)

2.2 CYCLING AND WALKING INVESTMENT STRATEGY (DFT, 2017)

2.2.1. The Government published its first Cycling and Walking Investment Strategy (CWIS) in 2017. The
strategy sets out the Government’s ambition to make walking and cycling the natural choices for
shorter journeys or as part of a longer journey, and includes targets for increasing the number of
people cycling whilst also reducing the number of cycle user casualties.

2.2.2. The CWIS states that the benefits of doing this would be substantial, potentially leading to cheaper
travel and better health; increased productivity for business and increased footfall in shops; lower
congestion levels and better air quality; and vibrant, attractive places and communities for society as
a whole.

2.2.3. The CWIS outlines a £300 million investment in cycle training and infrastructure during the current
Parliament and sets out ambitious targets for the period up to 2025, including a doubling of cycling
trip stages each year (from 0.8 billion in 2013 to 1.6 billion by 2025), whilst also reversing the current
year-over-year decline in walking trip stages. The CWIS also identifies a need to decrease the
number of cycle user fatalities and serious injuries each year.

2.3 LOCAL CYCLING AND WALKING INFRASTRUCTURE PLANS (DFT, 2017)

2.3.1. The Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plans (LCWIP) Guidance was published alongside the

DfT CWIS. LCWIPs are set out in the CWIS as a new strategic approach to identifying cycling and
walking improvements required at a local level.

GAINSBOROUGH CYCLING AND WALKING NETWORK PLAN CONFIDENTIAL | WSP
Project No.: 70062643 Page 08 March 2021
Lincolnshire County Council Page 3 of 94



2.3.2.

2.3.3.

2.3.4.

2.4

24.1.

24.2.

2.4.3.

2.5

2.5.1.

2.5.2.

\\\I)

The LCWIP guidance sets out a recommended approach to planning networks of walking and
cycling routes that connect places that people need to get to, whether for work, education, shopping,
or for other reasons.

The guidance brings together national and international guidance on best practice, and explains how
a range of tools, such as the Propensity to Cycle Tool (PCT), can be used to help develop robust
plans and schemes.

The LCWIP guidance will be referred to during the development of the GCWNP.

GREATER LINCOLNSHIRE STRATEGIC ECONOMIC PLAN (GREATER
LINCOLNSHIRE LOCAL ENTERPRISE PARTNERSHIP, 2016)

The GCWNP study area sits within Greater Lincolnshire. The Strategic Economic Plan (SEP) is the
primary document developed by the Local Enterprise Partnership (LEP) reflecting the ongoing
priorities for continued growth and new investment in Greater Lincolnshire.

The SEP recognises the need to promote Greater Lincolnshire as a place for sustainable growth
through improved transport infrastructure and enhanced connectivity with national and international
markets. It identifies that improving Lincolnshire’s connectivity and transport infrastructure will be
vital to achieving the aims and objectives of the SEP.

The document mentions several projects that GLEP have supported, including Go Skegness and
the Tentercroft East-West Growth Corridor in Lincoln. GLEP sets out to promote sustainable
transport schemes where possible in order to promote sustainability and reduce transport’s negative
impact on the environment.

LINCOLNSHIRE LOCAL TRANSPORT PLAN (LCC, 2013)

The 4th Lincolnshire Local Transport Plan (LTP4) was published in April 2013. The document sets
out the transport strategy for the county for the subsequent 10-year period to 2023, and presents a
vision for Lincolnshire’s Transport System in 2030.

LTP4 recognised that there had been a strong focus on encouraging walking and cycling throughout
Lincolnshire, including:

= Improved facilities for walking and cycling through the Community Travel Zones, Rural Priority
Initiatives and Rights of Way Improvement Plan;

= Work under the ‘Healthy Schools’ initiative as part of the delivery of school travel plans;

= CATCH (Choose Active Travel, Choose Health) funding, in partnership with NHS Lincolnshire, for
schools to provide a range of facilities including cycle storage, access improvements for
pedestrians and parent waiting shelters; and

= The rollout of Bikeability cycle training.

= The document recognised that major benefits can be incurred by encouraging greater levels of
cycling, such as improved air quality and reduced levels of congestion.

= |n terms of funding, the Plan recognises the role of the Community Travel Zone initiative,
Sustrans’ Link to School and Connect 2 funding as being particularly helpful in funding walking
and cycling infrastructure improvements in Lincolnshire.

= Central Government funds were also recognised as an important funding mechanism and
instrumental in securing future cycling and walking infrastructure improvements.

GAINSBOROUGH CYCLING AND WALKING NETWORK PLAN CONFIDENTIAL | WSP
Project No.: 70062643 Page 09 March 2021
Lincolnshire County Council Page 4 of 94



2.5.38.

2.6

2.6.1.

2.6.2.

2.6.3.

2.6.4.

2.6.5.

\\\I)

LTP5 is in preparation and it is recommended that it takes account of the GCWNP.

CENTRAL LINCOLNSHIRE LOCAL PLAN (CENTRAL LINCOLNSHIRE
JOINT STRATEGIC PLANNING COMMITTEE, 2017)

The Central Lincolnshire Local Plan was adopted by the Central Lincolnshire Joint Strategic
Planning Committee (CLISPC) in April 2017 and supersedes the Local Plans of the City of Lincoln,
West Lindsey and North Kesteven District Councils. It sets out detailed policies and proposals for
the development of the combined area up to 2036 with the aim to create places that are sustainable,
accessible and attractive to live in. The plan identifies land for new housing and employment
development, prescribes transport requirements, and acts as a guide for most day-to-day planning
decisions.

Several policies relate directly to transport and specifically walking and cycling:

= Policy LP13: Accessibility and Transport, proposes that all developments should have regard
towards minimising additional travel demand through walking and cycling links and integration
with existing infrastructure.

Where possible, the policy recommends that walking and cycling infrastructure complements the
aims of the existing Public Rights of Way Improvement Plan and the Green Infrastructure Study for
Central Lincolnshire and improves linkages between settlements and to the surrounding
countryside. Specifically, schemes that complete gaps in the network should be prioritised.

Furthermore, any infrastructure improvements should be appropriately linked and integrated with the
wider network, be well maintained, and promote walking and cycling.

= Policy LP15: Community Facilities states a need to prioritise walking, cycling and public transport
as a means of accessing newly constructed community facilities or local shops and services.
Access should be considered proportionately to the catchment area of the community facility, and
should be accessible by all members of society.

The following relevant policies apply specifically to Gainsborough:

= Policy LP38: Protecting Gainsborough's Setting and Character, states that proposals should
make a positive contribution to the built and natural environment

= Policy LP40: Gainsborough Riverside, includes a directive for all development proposals on sites
adjacent to the River Trent to assist in the delivery of the long-term aim of creating an
uninterrupted and attractive pedestrian cycle corridor, connecting Gainsborough’s riverside area
with the settlements of Lea and Morton. New sites next to the River Trent must deliver an
enhanced pedestrian and cycle network.

= Policy LP41: The regeneration of Gainsborough: Development proposals should enhance
linkages to/ from Marshall’s Yard, Market Place, Market Street, the Riverside and any other key
Heritage sites. There should be improved integration and linkages between Marshall’s Yard
development, the town centre and the riverfront.

GAINSBOROUGH CYCLING AND WALKING NETWORK PLAN CONFIDENTIAL | WSP
Project No.: 70062643 Page 70 March 2021
Lincolnshire County Council Page 5 of 94



2.7

2.7.1.

2.7.2.

2.7.3.

2.8

2.8.1.

2.8.2.

2.8.3.
2.9

2.9.1.

\\\I)

GREATER LINCOLNSHIRE STRATEGIC INFRASTRUCTURE DELIVERY
PLAN (GLSIDP) (2016)

The GLSIDP sets out the delivery plan for major infrastructure projects capable of enabling housing
construction and increasing employment growth. It sets out the proposals to fund this through
devolved infrastructure funds, national programmes and local funding.

The single project relating to Gainsborough is the Gainsborough Bridge Road / Flood Street
Upgrades. This is ranked as a medium-term project:

= The Flood Street Upgrade in Gainsborough aims to deal with the anticipated increased traffic
growth in West Lindsey due to future housing development. An option assessment has been
undertaken to increase the capacities of the Flood Street signal-controlled junction, Lea Road/
Ashcroft Road roundabout junction and the Thorndike Way roundabout.

The GLSIDP identifies major housing growth sites that will deliver 40% of the projected housing
need across Greater Lincolnshire. Of these, the Gainsborough Southern Neighbourhood SUE has a
potential capacity of 2,500 dwellings and Gainsborough Northern Neighbourhood SUE is expected
to have a capacity of 750 dwellings.

COUNTRYSIDE ACCESS AND RIGHTS OF WAY IMPROVEMENT PLAN
2007-2012 (LCC, 2007)

Initiated from the Countryside and Rights of Way Act 2000, the first Countryside Access and Rights
of Way Improvement Plan (RoWIP) for Lincolnshire was published in April 2007. The importance of
Rights of Way for numerous activities such as short local trips to the shops, accessing schools and
recreational purposes are highlighted in the document, with the vision for the plan as follows:

“To have an integrated network of rights of way that is relevant for today’s needs, bringing
added benefits to residents and visitors by supporting wider interests including sustainable
transport, rural economy & tourism, health benefits and quality of life issues.”

The focus for improvements to the Public Rights of Way include:

= Joining fragmented rights of way network. In particular, cyclists and horse riders need a better-
connected network of paths and trails.

= Better signage, waymarking and maintenance to encourage greater use of the network.

= |ncreased promotion and better information provision in formats that meet people’s needs.

= The path network needs to be safer for vulnerable users by improving crossing points on main
roads.

= Better engagement with local communities is needed through improved information about what
we do and assisting those who want to take a more active role in helping to maintain and develop
the access network.

A new RoWIP is being developed by LCC and is in the early stages of development.

CENTRAL LINCOLNSHIRE LOCAL PLAN REVIEW (CENTRAL
LINCOLNSHIRE JOINT STRATEGIC PLANNING COMMITTEE, 2018)

A review of the Central Lincolnshire Local Plan is due to be published for public consultation in early
2020 to ensure it is up-to-date following significant changes to national policy.

GAINSBOROUGH CYCLING AND WALKING NETWORK PLAN CONFIDENTIAL | WSP
Project No.: 70062643 Page 71 March 2021
Lincolnshire County Council Page 6 of 94



2.10

2.10.1.

2.10.2.

2.10.3.

2.1
2.11.1.

2.11.2.

2.12
2.12.1.

2.12.2.

2.12.3.

213
2.13.1.

2.13.2.

\\\I)

JOINT HEALTH AND WELLBEING STRATEGY FOR LINCOLNSHIRE (LCC,
2018)

Under requirement of the 2012 Health and Social Care Act, the Lincolnshire Health and Wellbeing
Board are required to publish a strategy bringing together detailed information on local health and
wellbeing needs, whilst looking ahead at emerging challenges and projected future needs.

The strategy describes physical activity, amongst other health and wellbeing concerns, as one of the
most pertinent issues facing the county. Objectives of the strategy include better integration of
physical activity into strategic planning; improved local insight analysis, with findings used to drive
service improvements; support of workforce wellbeing through physical activity; and consideration of
innovative technologies aimed at increasing physical activity.

Through these objectives it is envisaged that physical activity will be safeguarded and materially
considered throughout the county.

GREEN MASTERPLAN

The Green Masterplan is a multi-year programme running until 2050 to ensure that LCC meet the
national carbon reduction targets. The three guiding principles are:

= Don’t waste anything
= Consider wider opportunities
= Take responsibility and pride

Part of the Green Masterplan is to implement new ways of working for LCC staff, including reducing
travel to work and business mileage and improving connectivity and technology.

LCC WATERWAYS DEVELOPMENT STRATEGY

Lincolnshire County Council has proposed a Waterway Development Strategy (WDS) for 2018-
2028, which is commission led, identifying opportunities to work with other LCC Commissioning
Teams and the LEP to deliver outputs.

The WDS strategic objective is to increase the economic performance of the Lincolnshire
waterways. Part of its plan is to assist West Lindsey District Council to develop the Gainsborough
marina proposal, to gain planning consent and to form a Gainsborough Marina Delivery Partnership
with a private sector development.

The priority of improving access to Lincolnshire’s waterways puts a focus on places as strategic
investments and will benefit Gainsborough as the gateway to Lincolnshire’s waterways from the
River Trent.

GAINSBOROUGH NEIGHBOURHOOD PLAN

The Gainsborough Neighbourhood Plan (GNP) has been developed by Gainsborough
Neighbourhood Plan Steering Group, which was formed by Gainsborough Town Council. Currently
at referendum stage (as of March 2021), it will form part of the Development Plan for Gainsborough,
with significant influence in determining planning applications.

The GNP sets out the planning policies for 2020 — 2036 and covers the Town Council area of
Gainsborough. The development of the plan takes on board opinions of local people, through the

GAINSBOROUGH CYCLING AND WALKING NETWORK PLAN CONFIDENTIAL | WSP
Project No.: 70062643 Page 72 March 2021
Lincolnshire County Council Page 7 of 94



2.13.3.

2.13.4.

2.13.5.

2.13.6.

\\\I)

creation of a People’s Panel. This has allowed residents and businesses to shape future growth of
the town.

Community objectives were developed as part of the GNP. Objectives 6, 8, 9, 10 and 11 have
particular relevance to the GCWNP:

Community Objective 6: To ensure that the Sustainable Urban Extensions connect easily with
the existing settlement pattern of the Town.

Community Objective 8: To improve and extend routes that create green connections to local
green spaces and provide access to the countryside, the Riverside and routes within the Town.
Supporting nature conservation, protecting landscape character and enhancing biodiversity.

Community Objective 9: To create an environment that makes it attractive for micro, small and
medium sized businesses and shops to locate and flourish in the Town.

Community Objective 10: To seek improvements to rail, bus and road infrastructure that will
unlock the movement of people, goods and services into, out of and around the Town.

Community Objective 11: To encourage developers to work with the local community before
planning applications are submitted so the community and developers can produce schemes that
ensure the most positive benefit for the Town.

The GNP included the following relevant Neighbourhood Plan Policies (NPP):
= NPP 1 Sustainable Development

e States that the definition of sustainable development includes proposals that increase the local
cycle and walking network (in accordance with the details of Policy NPP3)

= NPP 3 Creating a Local Green Network

e Proposals which would deliver elements of the Local Green Network around the Town as
identified in the Green Infrastructure Study will be supported;

e Proposals for major housing and employment should, as appropriate to their scale and nature,
demonstrate the way in which they would:

— deliver footpaths and cycle routes in accordance with the Local Green Network proposals;

— enhance the attractiveness of walking and non-motorised transport in and around the
Parish;

— add to the connectivity between existing footpaths, roadways and cycle ways in and around
the Parish and to the Town Centre; and

— accommodate the requirements of people with limited mobility to access existing and new
Green Infrastructure provision.

¢ Development which promotes new connections to existing walking and cycling routes with
boundaries that ensure new development is integrated with the existing settlement will be
supported.

The section on NPP 3 Creating a Green Network states that encouraging people to get around on
foot or bike improves health and wellbeing and reduces air pollution.

It also includes an indicative concept for the long term linking of publicly accessible green spaces
and routes around the town. This is called the Local Green Network and is shown in Figure 2-1.

GAINSBOROUGH CYCLING AND WALKING NETWORK PLAN CONFIDENTIAL | WSP
Project No.: 70062643 Page 73 March 2021
Lincolnshire County Council Page 8 of 94



\\\I)

Figure 2-1 - Proposed Local Green Network (Source: GNP)

Y T SeaaaR e,

: a‘.,....s.-._. ol i : S é‘
LT S S =4 \
\

Kay:

_— Mar groen ourw e

wees Gooad routes B Gol! couese

B B soocng — ERAT OGIE OF Wity
Froposed sncaiand selensony’ ik (D FO00 %oty Moo

= Porigh Douncary "Areas outs\de of plan boundavy appear more pale i1 colowr

2.13.7. GNP states that the Local Green Network will make accessing shops, school and work without using
the car easier and more attractive. The Green Infrastructure Study (see section 2.15) provides

GAINSBOROUGH CYCLING AND WALKING NETWORK PLAN CONFIDENTIAL | WSP

Project No.: 70062643 Page 74 March 2021
Lincolnshire County Council Page 9 of 94



2.13.8.

2.14
2.14.1.

2.14.2.

2.14.3.

2.15
2.15.1.

\\\I)

further information on how the Local Green Network can be provided. The GNP supports
collaboration with developers and landowners to create this network.

GNP also involved discussion with local cycling clubs who identified specific issues relating to
cycling around the Town. In relation to these issues, the GNP has an Aspiration Policy as follows:

= The redevelopment of sites across and Plan area provides the opportunity to improve cycling
around the Town. The Town Council will work with developers, WLDC, and other partners, to
address the issues identified. Proposals that achieve this aspiration are supported where they are
compatible with other policies in this Plan.

GAINSBOROUGH TRANSPORT STRATEGY

LCC is currently developing an updated transport strategy for Gainsborough, and will play a vital role
in driving growth and investment in and around Gainsborough over the next twenty years.

The existing transport strategy published in 2011 identified a number of immediate improvements to
the transport network including extension to the network of cycle-ways and some minor
improvements to a number of junctions in the town.

Some of the specific final measures that aim to increase rates of walking and cycling included the
following:

= Review parking provision and pricing to encourage sustainable travel;

= Implement targeted junction improvements which will be used to relieve congestion;

= Convert the main road through the town centre (Beaumont Street) to a more pedestrian friendly
layout;

= Establish 20 mph zones outside schools and in the town centre;

= Improve the quality of cyclist and pedestrian route maps supplied to the public increasing
transport information;

= Implement a comprehensive publicity campaign with on-going promotions to raise public
awareness of sustainable transport options;

= Promote personalised travel planning by contacting individuals to provide information and advice
on travel options;

= Co-operate with local schools to produce travel plans and promote sustainable travel to school;

= Co-operate with local employers to produce travel plans and promote sustainable travel to work;

= |nstall cycle lanes in both directions on busier roads to connect to existing cycle lanes and serve
cyclist desire lines;

= |nstall secure cycle storage and cycle parking stands at key destinations throughout the town
centre;

= Implement public realm improvements introducing high quality paving and street furniture to the
key pedestrian routes in Gainsborough;

= Carry out an audit to ensure compliance with the Disability and Discrimination Act; and

= |ntroduce a green corridor of pedestrian and cycle routes.

GREEN INFRASTRUCTURE STUDY (BRCC, 2018)

The Green Infrastructure Study (GIS) compliments the GNP by providing a summary of existing
Green Infrastructure (GI) and proposes Gl enhancements to inform GNP policies, as presented in
section 2.13.

GAINSBOROUGH CYCLING AND WALKING NETWORK PLAN CONFIDENTIAL | WSP
Project No.: 70062643 Page 75 March 2021
Lincolnshire County Council Page 10 of 94



2.15.2.

2.15.3.

2.15.4.

2.15.5.

2.16

2.16.1.

2.16.2.

2.16.3.

2.16.4.

\\\I)

The GIS advocates a Green Network linking publicly accessible green spaces to create a network of
open and biodiverse spaces. The green routes will create a continuous accessible corridor that
promotes recreational trips using healthy, non-motorised forms of sustainable transport.

The principles of the Green Network include:

= Be traffic free;

= Offer easy access;

= Have potential for future upgrading to be used by cycles where not already possible;

= Safe crossing points over motorised routes;

= Clearly signed;

= Be safe spaces that inspire confidence in visitors; and

= Cater for a wide range of users (dog walkers, children, joggers, families, older people).

The key sections of the Green Network are:

= North: River Trent (Morton) — A631,;
= East/ South: A631 — Lea Road; and
= West: River Trent (Lea Road — Morton).

The GIS provides an overview of the Gl proposals and feasibility for these sections.
GAINSBOROUGH TOWN CENTRE HERITAGE MASTERPLAN

The Gainsborough Town Centre Heritage Masterplan (GTCHM) was produced by West Lindsey
District Council, setting out the strategies and principles that will restore and repair Gainsborough’s
historic core and safeguard its Conservation Area status, whilst delivering wider economic and
social benefits.

A renewed, protected and enhanced historic core will determine the future vitality and prosperity of
the town centre. Any future development both within and impacting upon the Town Centre
Conservation Area must seek to avoid visual harm to its townscape and the historic environment.

The GTCHM sub-divides the historic core into four intervention areas, which have high
concentrations of designated and non-designated heritage assets:

= |ord Street and Market Street;
= The Market Place;

= Sijlver Street; and

= Church Street.

The focus for intervention is on restoring vitality to the retail and commercial heart of the town to
secure its long-term sustainability.

GAINSBOROUGH CYCLING AND WALKING NETWORK PLAN CONFIDENTIAL | WSP
Project No.: 70062643 Page 70 March 2021
Lincolnshire County Council Page 11 of 94



\\\I)

3 CYCLING AND WALKING NETWORK PLAN

3.1 INTRODUCTION

3.1.1. This section covers the baseline data used to inform both the cycling network plan and the walking
network plan for Gainsborough. This data comprises:
= Trip Origins and Destinations;
= Barriers;
= |ndices of Multiple Deprivation;
= Topography;
= Motor Traffic Flows; and
= Collisions.

3.1.2. Section 4 covers the data used specifically for the development of the cycling network plan and
Section 5 covers the data used specifically for the development of the walking network plan.

3.2 TRIP ORIGINS AND DESTINATIONS

3.2.1. The LCWIP guidance recommends a process that identifies trip origins and destinations, which
should be the basis for drafting walking and cycling networks. Trip origins and destinations or ‘trip
generators’ are those amenities that can be expected to attract a significant number of trips.

3.2.2. The guidance states that trip origins are usually main residential areas, and significant trip
destinations include the following:
= Employment areas or large individual employers;
= Educational establishments;
= Healthcare establishments;
= Retail facilities;
= Community facilities;
= Transport interchange facilities; and
= Future development sites and planned transport links.

3.2.3. The trip origins and destinations, as defined above, were mapped using ArcGIS software and this
can be seen in Figure 3-1 and Figure 3-2. The methodology adopted for this is described for each
type of origin and destination below.

RESIDENTIAL AREAS

3.2.4. Residential areas are mapped using proxy points, identified using Census 2011 Lower Super Output
Area (LSOA) data from the Office of National Statistics (ONS). The proxy points are population-
weighted centroids of each LSOA, which were plotted on ArcGIS. The residential points were
reviewed using satellite imagery to ensure they were located on a significant residential area.
EMPLOYMENT AREAS OF LARGE INDIVIDUAL EMPLOYERS

3.2.5. Employment sites were identified using Workplace Zones from ONS. Employment numbers for each

zone were calculated from Census Journey to Work data, which shows the total number of people
travelling to each Workplace Zone. Proxy employment nodes were then set for the most significant
Workplace Zones. The Workplace Zones with the highest employment numbers were represented
with proxy points.

GAINSBOROUGH CYCLING AND WALKING NETWORK PLAN CONFIDENTIAL | WSP
Project No.: 70062643 Page 77 March 2021
Lincolnshire County Council Page 12 of 94



3.2.6.

3.2.7.

3.2.8.

3.2.9.

3.2.10.

3.2.11.

3.2.12.

\\\I)

EDUCATION ESTABLISHMENTS

LCWIP guidance states that educational establishments typically include primary and secondary
schools, colleges and university campuses. It was decided to show all education establishments
given the smaller size of Gainsborough compared to larger LCWIP areas. The education
establishments included are as follows:

= Colleges

= Secondary schools

= Primary schools

= Nurseries

= QOther education establishments

HEALTHCARE ESTABLISHMENTS

LCWIP guidance states that healthcare establishments typically include hospitals and doctor’s
surgeries. One hospital and two doctor’s surgeries are located within the study area and are marked
on the map.

COMMUNITY FACILITIES

LCWIP guidance states that community facilities typically include libraries, sports stadia,
performance arenas, visitor attractions, leisure centres, and cultural institutions, which have all been
identified and mapped. Retail parks and supermarkets have also been included within community
facilities.

The following significant community facilities, among several others, were included in the origin-
destination maps:

= Gainsborough Heritage Centre

= Gainsborough Trinity Football Club
= Trinity Arts Centre

Gainsborough Old Hall

All Saints Church

Town Hall

Marshall’s Yard Shopping Centre

TRANSPORT INTERCHANGES

LCWIP guidance states that interchange facilities cover bus stops and rail stations. The two rail
stations and bus interchange were included within the transport interchanges mapping.

FUTURE DEVELOPMENT SITES

Future development sites were identified from the Central Lincolnshire Local Plan’s Policies Map.
The land use of each future development site was categorised into residential, employment or mixed
use. These future development sites were then plotted on the origin and destination maps.

Figure 3-1 and Figure 3-2 show the maps of trip origins and destinations for the Gainsborough
Urban Area and Study Area, respectively.

GAINSBOROUGH CYCLING AND WALKING NETWORK PLAN CONFIDENTIAL | WSP
Project No.: 70062643 Page 78 March 2021
Lincolnshire County Council Page 13 of 94



6/ obed

\\\I)

Figure 3-1 — Gainsborough — Trip Origins and Destinations — Urban Area

Cortasenss Ordrurce Scrvey thte £ Cromn
TPt deubie rgte 20t

001503 06709

1.2

] IGIer&etres

l-L'Ii--------"-"_—--"
- "

Key
] Residential
@® Employment Facilities

Community Facilities
Education Facilities

@® College

® Secondary

@  Primary
@ Nursery
@  Other

Healthcare Facilities

@ GP
@® Hospital
Transport

B Bus Interchange

¥ Railway Stations

Development

Employment
‘ Residential
Boundaries
e -: Urban Area

[
1 Study Area

[: LSOA Boundary

L)
1
.
)
A}

v
-

25 oy

GAINSBOROUGH CYCLING AND WALKING NETWORK PLAN

Project No.: 70062643
Lincolnshire County Council

CONFIDENTIAL | WSP
March 2021
Page 14 of 94



08 abed

\\\I)

Figure 3-2 — Gainsborough — Origins and Destinations - Study Area

A e IR

¢------._‘-
-

.- .
- -
..nl

A )
)

3./‘-

2

-

“

\

7
>
/

[P

Key

° Residential

. Employment Facilities

Community Facilities

Education Faclilities

L College
° Secondary
° Primary
° Nursery

® Other

Healthcare Facilities

o GP
° Hospital
Transport

L Bus Interchange

8  Railway Stations
Development

Employment

Residential

Boundaries
LR B B J

. 1 Urban Area

o
. 3 Study Area

|:’ LSOA Boundary

GAINSBOROUGH CYCLING AND WALKING NETWORK PLAN
Project No.: 70062643
Lincolnshire County Council

CONFIDENTIAL | WSP
March 2021
Page 15 of 94



3.3

3.3.1.

3.3.2.

3.3.3.

3.3.4.

3.3.5.

\\\I)

BARRIERS

Natural and man-made barriers to movement may impact on cycling and walking movements by
creating severance that restricts mobility or funnels pedestrians or cycles onto specific routes,
generating high flows. Landforms and objects of severance include rivers, canals, railways lines and
heavily trafficked roads with limited crossing points.

Major roads in Gainsborough representing barriers to movement include:

= A631 through Gainsborough east to west. The Thorndike Way section is a dual carriageway will
few crossing points for pedestrians and cycles, and no cycling or pedestrian infrastructure
provision along most of its length.

= A159 through the north of the town, extending northward towards Scunthorpe. This has a mix of
formal and informal crossing points, but has high traffic flows along Trinity Street, including
freight.

= A156 extending southward from the town, past Gainsborough Lea Road Station and towards
Lincoln.

= B1433 which lies east to west through the town, connecting the A631 to the A159.

Railway lines serve the two stations of Gainsborough Central Station and Gainsborough Lea Road
Station. The railway line that serves Gainsborough Central divides the east of Gainsborough from
the west, with either bridges or underpasses provided as crossing facilities.

The main water body in the area is the River Trent and is a major barrier to movement west of the
town. The only river crossing in Gainsborough is the bridge at The Flood Road.

Figure 3-3 and Figure 3-4 show maps of the physical barriers in Gainsborough for the Urban Area
and Study Area, respectively.

GAINSBOROUGH CYCLING AND WALKING NETWORK PLAN CONFIDENTIAL | WSP
Project No.: 70062643 Page 81 March 2021
Lincolnshire County Council Page 16 of 94



28 abed

\\\I)

Figure 3-3 — Gainsborough — Cycling and Walking Barriers — Urban Area

e
‘ -
F,‘W---.- - ~

.

J e ]

-

-~ = \ Thillity Akt
fnu Pt % ';‘\aa,d’:* A // \ / ,
R ]
8 .
(I 7 f VL :'-
| stee—a /& ;
I = = (/ T Wig x . -
[y, —~ I / - W\ y/
f R e P A 'y 3._‘.
e gt i\ \ . Clcsigs
4 e
Cortins Crdrarne Sorvey deta © Gty A ﬂ& If |
Gantight and At gt YO0 200 2525 .5 0. 0 éﬁé A, _E
o s [ Kilometres
T v i . O

N\
\.
Zorenty
Granay
L4
,-_?:‘-
-
Bectade |
Stables \
{
=
v
Brueg)
—-— SN
—X L3y
I‘.!,/’/ | \\\;:
“‘, Ny
.%__ =
%n—-: mm.v“‘ =
. . o
_ g \
== \

Key
®  Residential
® Employment Facilities

Community Facilities

Education Facilitlies

@® College

® secondary

® Primary

@ Nursery
Other

Healthcare Facilities

® GP
® Hospital
Transport

B  Bus Interchange
x Railway Stations
Barriers

e Major Waterway

Primary Road

~ ARoad

B Road
—+—+— Railway Line

Development
, - Employment

. Residential

Boundaries

:___: Urban Area

- ! Study Area

GAINSBOROUGH CYCLING AND WALKING NETWORK PLAN
Project No.: 70062643
Lincolnshire County Council

CONFIDENTIAL | WSP
March 2021
Page 17 of 94



£g abed

\\\I)

Figure 3-4 — Gainsborough — Cycling and Walking Barriers — Study Area

Cirtunns Crerires Scrvey dith © Crome
uparght et diadune gt JiTs

Key
L] Residential
. Employment Facilities
Community Facilities
Education Facilities
L College
e Secondary
Primary
s Nursery
Other

Healthcare Facilities

¢ GP
® Hospital
Transport

B Bus Interchange
8 Railway Stations
Barriers

G Major Waterway

Primary Road

A Road

B Road

~+—+— Railway Line

Development

[ Employment

' Residential
Boundaries

' ' Urban Area

Study Area

GAINSBOROUGH CYCLING AND WALKING NETWORK PLAN

Project No.: 70062643
Lincolnshire County Council

CONFIDENTIAL | WSP
March 2021
Page 18 of 94



3.4
3.4.1.

3.4.2.

3.4.3.

3.4.4.

\\\I)

INDICES OF MULTIPLE DEPRIVATION

To understand relative deprivation within the strategy area, data from the 2019 indices of multiple
deprivation (IMD) has been analysed and mapped using GIS software. The IMD provides a set of
relative measures of deprivation for each Lower Super Output Area (LSOA) in England. These
measures are used to calculate an overall rank of deprivation by comparing against other LSOAS in
England.

There are seven different indicators which make up the IMD which are given different weighting in
terms of their importance, shown in brackets. These are as follows:

= |[ncome Deprivation (22.5%)

= Employment Deprivation (22.5%)

= Education, Skills and Training Deprivation (13.5%)
= Health Deprivation and Disability (13.5%)

= Crime (9.3%)

= Barriers to Housing and Services (9.3%)

= Living Environment Deprivation (9.3%)

Figure 3-5 and Figure 3-6 shows that at an aggregate level, the study area has significant pockets of
deprivation with some areas in and around Gainsborough being ranked as being within the most 5%
deprived within England.

The figure demonstrates that the areas suffering from the highest levels of overall deprivation are
centralised around the main urban centre of the town with the surrounding villages including Lea and
Morton being relatively less deprived.

GAINSBOROUGH CYCLING AND WALKING NETWORK PLAN CONFIDENTIAL | WSP
Project No.: 70062643 Page 84 March 2021
Lincolnshire County Council Page 19 of 94



Gg abed

\\\I)

Figure 3-5 — Gainsborough - Index of Multiple Deprivation - Urban Area

_ = T X = =
[ TR = W P [
v.'f'_'_'v \ \ } m---'--;-------.~

2 v ‘
Loatse buere -

Srasaeery Fom \ &
58 hpeated / L

* Tornsth

*‘5
“
-
2

a e .
%

[y
'
¥
1
v
.

*
)
(

LY

Key
index of Muitiple Deprivation Rank
I Top 5% (Most Deprived Areas)

- Sto 10%

- 10 to 15%
E 15 to 20%
l:l 20 to 25%

|| 25t0100% (Least Deprived Areas)

Boundaries

i : Urban Area

' s Study Area

Comtnion Dstxusin Surwey data € Crosen
B AT P

[

GAINSBOROUGH CYCLING AND WALKING NETWORK PLAN
Project No.: 70062643
Lincolnshire County Council

CONFIDENTIAL | WSP
March 2021
Page 20 of 94



98 abed

\\\I)

Figure 3-6 — Gainsborough — Index of Multiple Deprivation - Study Area

Key

- Sto 10%

Q 10 to 15%
|:] 15 to 20%
[:] 20 to 25%

Boundaries

y Urban Area

.-
§ Study Area

Index of Multiple Deprivation Rank
I 7op 5% (Most Deprived Areas)

] 25 to 100% (Least Deprived Areas)

It

GAINSBOROUGH CYCLING AND WALKING NETWORK PLAN
Project No.: 70062643
Lincolnshire County Council

CONFIDENTIAL | WSP
March 2021
Page 21 of 94



\\\I)

3.5 TOPOGRAPHY

3.5.1. The plans in Figure 3-7 and Figure 3-8 show the topography of the Gainsborough region for the
Urban Area and Study Area.

3.5.2. The east of Gainsborough is at a higher elevation than the west, with steep inclines from west to
east, for example along Spital Hill and Cox’s Hill towards the centre of the town, Foxby Hill in the
south and Little Belt in the north.

3.5.3.  On the western side of Gainsborough between the railway line and the river Trent, the topography is
at a lower elevation and flatter, which includes the primary route of the A159 and the residential
areas and town centre either side of this street.

GAINSBOROUGH CYCLING AND WALKING NETWORK PLAN CONFIDENTIAL | WSP
Project No.: 70062643 Page 87 March 2021
Lincolnshire County Council Page 22 of 94



88 abed

\\\I)

Figure 3-7 — Gainsborough — Topography - Urban Area

-

Ly Onpows Loy boe © C
e ol I

Key

Topography (m above sea level)
Boundaries

- } Urban Area

- s Study Area

GAINSBOROUGH CYCLING AND WALKING NETWORK PLAN
Project No.: 70062643
Lincolnshire County Council

CONFIDENTIAL | WSP
March 2021
Page 23 of 94



68 abed

\\\I)

Figure 3-8 — Gainsborough — Topography — Study Area

Key

Boundaries

' ? Urban Area

' + Study Area

Topography (m above sea level)

if

il

—

i

GAINSBOROUGH CYCLING AND WALKING NETWORK PLAN

Project No.: 70062643
Lincolnshire County Council

CONFIDENTIAL | WSP
March 2021
Page 24 of 94



\\\I)

3.6 MOTOR TRAFFIC FLOWS

3.6.1. Motor traffic flows have an impact on the comfort and safety of cycling and walking and impact the
cycling and walking infrastructure requirements. For example, streets with higher traffic flows need
wider footways and where appropriate segregated cycle tracks, to separate motor traffic from cycling
and walking. It is particularly important to separate cycle infrastructure where there are high Heavy
Goods Vehicle (HGV) traffic flows.

3.6.2. As part of the Gainsborough Traffic Model (GTM), Automatic Traffic Count (ATC) surveys were
undertaken across Gainsborough. GTM was developed in 2017 and is a highways assignment
model, simulating traffic patterns for Gainsborough and the surrounding area.

3.6.3. Data from the ATC surveys was reported for the following key links in Gainsborough:

= |ea Road;

= Ashcroft Road;

= Trinity Street;

= Bridge Street;

= Morton Terrace,

= Corringham Road; and
= Thorndike Road.

3.6.4. The approximate location of the 2017 ATC surveys are shown in Figure 3-9. The associated ATC
data is presented in Table 3-1.

GAINSBOROUGH CYCLING AND WALKING NETWORK PLAN CONFIDENTIAL | WSP
Project No.: 70062643 Page 90 March 2021
Lincolnshire County Council Page 25 of 94



\\\I)

Figure 3-9 - Location of 2017 ATC Surveys

GAINSBOROUGH™ 2% | #o

.....

‘ Galmsbocough
| Contral

P

R T

T Gainkhorough Lea Road

.A
N

N

ATCID Location
'S 1 Lea Road
[14] : 2| AsiroftRoad
/’ o 4 __Tninity Street
it ‘ oy 13 Brdge Street
o Nkl 11 Morton Terrace
14 Comngham Road
15 Thomdike Way
[15]
\\

Theste

Key
@ ATC Location
ATC ID / Location

0 0s 1
N Kilometes

Table 3-1 - 2017 Traffic Flows on Key Links

Link ATC | AM Peak PM Peak 24 Hour Weekday
‘Cars LGV HGV Cars LGV HGV Cars LGV  HGV

Bridge Street 6 552 236 28 | 536 236 14 | 6335 2930 258
Trinity Street 4 724 313 40 897 345 24 | 10065 4591 506
Ashcroft Road 2 373 209 37 | 453 234 19 | 4976 2795 438
Lea Road 1 287 198 = 23 315 241 15 | 3614 2980 262
Thorndike Way | 15 | 392 = 14 | 37 | 512 | 12 24 | 5571 223 511
Corringham Road | 14 = 303 264 29 301 222 6 3064 2665 257
Morton Terrace | 11 | 564 = 248 = 31 | 458 @ 231 14 | 5331 2821 341

LGV = Light Goods Vehicle; HGV = Heavy Goods Vehicle

GAINSBOROUGH CYCLING AND WALKING NETWORK PLAN

Project No.: 70062643
Lincolnshire County Council

Page 91

CONFIDENTIAL | WSP
March 2021
Page 26 of 94



3.6.5.

3.6.6.

3.6.7.

3.6.8.

\\\I)

The existing vehicle flow as modelled by the GTM is presented in Figure 3-10 and Figure 3-11,
which show the AM and PM peak traffic flows on a weekday in a neutral month in 2017.

Figure 3-10 and Figure 3-11 both show that the busiest area of the network is Gainsborough Bridge,
Flood Road / Bridge Street Junction and the Trinity Street / Thorndike Way roundabout.

Figure 3-10 - 2017 AM Peak Hour — GTM Base Year Traffic Flows in Vehicles

"
N < 7, Key
R R e - 2017 Base Year Flows
SR RN, AM Peak Hour
71 e / (Vehicles)
River 44 B 0-250
pAIs 250 - 500
§ = Thanock
ot S e S, g Sy 500 - 750
TERG ok e 750 - 1,000
& A Ly c— 1,000>
\ . D _‘«' "= ::~.
| T
: : ‘»I, 3 ! " S \ye o s — n: weod
o : [ J Lacge
\ . ‘_.-' s { ¥ o
P g ;.‘- ‘ " 5 2 |t _;v“‘ o 2
“GAINSBOKRO: .\ i it e = S Ladgeram
/\{ 3 ol/“ h : e ‘T‘Pa["k:Spt "?,
= L 1.71-
AT [ Sor|
3! @
= Loty
“ﬁ -~ - . Ve . :,'::lr:::;t B
|
!
=ov House
A X . 0 0.5 1
Contains Ordnance Survey data © Crown L
copyright and database nght 2019 \\ ) Kilometres

Figure 3-10 shows that in the AM peak hour there is in excess of 1,000 travelling east over the
Gainsborough Bridge. This traffic flow dissipates at the Bridge Street / The Flood Road junction and
the Trinity Street / Thorndike Way Roundabout, as traffic moves either north into Gainsborough or
south away from Gainsborough.

Figure 3-11, which shows the PM peak hour, traffic patterns generally reverse showing a significant
volume of traffic travelling west along The Flood Road.

GAINSBOROUGH CYCLING AND WALKING NETWORK PLAN

Project No.: 70062643 Page 02
Lincolnshire County Council

CONFIDENTIAL | WSP
March 2021
Page 27 of 94



3.7
3.7.1.

3.7.2.

\\\I)

Figure 3-11 - 2017 PM Peak Hour GTM Base Year Traffic Flows in Vehicles

; " pA =
N , Ein, A4 Key
R e ! 2017 Base Year Flows
Mdrton AR PM Peak Hour
/ e ' (Vehicles)
ar B TN 0-250
Ire (|
2 e G N S g 250 - 500
{§ et Tharock
AWM ek L g i 500 - 750
TR 4ok e 750 - 1,000
L fep) T Y e 1,000>
‘I |..;»-, ' ..’ \i ”‘. ;\ o
| s _> ) 2 ~—
“I‘ ". ‘ " R "" g .’ L —.:- e g o —;. [ = wead
. \ B O~ | e — Ul Logge
R + ™ B\ G W FE ;‘.", 5 7 4
! 4 V. : e WSO nen:
»‘~G_A|NSBOE\'OU\_.\- f.‘ ) 1 |\ 4 :‘.: Weod 3.*:‘ LodgeFamm
W 5 TR AL b
s - Li‘ v b ", W | —,SJ‘T“
/X g '. :;1 T . ‘;\P;.,_'k?w ‘?- : 3 : .‘ '/..Jl
K = A . . N -5 nl ¥ ’_ -
L1 4 ~2
= ) Lasgid
) IRy sorf
= ‘ o
s il B I3k House -
- = - g Farm CotLaswes
2
v House
N fatne Padan a ) “ 0 0.5 1
Contains Ordnance Survey data © Crown Liaw
copyright and database nght 201% \\ T JKilometres

COLLISIONS

This section sets out the analysis of collision data within the study area. Collision data was provided
by Lincolnshire Road Safety Partnership (LRSP), a multi-agency partnership aimed at reducing the
number of people killed and injured on the county’s roads. The analysis provides the location,
severity of collisions and the user types involved and covers the 5-year period between 2014 and
2018.

Table 3-2 and Table 3-3 show the number and severity of collisions involving pedestrians and cycle
users respectively. All of the study area collisions involving pedestrians and cycles occurred within
the urban area.

GAINSBOROUGH CYCLING AND WALKING NETWORK PLAN

Project No.: 70062643 Page 03
Lincolnshire County Council

CONFIDENTIAL | WSP
March 2021
Page 28 of 94



3.7.3.

3.7.4.

\\\I)

Collisions were only slightly fewer for cycle users than pedestrians — 33 collisions involving
pedestrians and 30 involving cycle users. There were no fatal collisions involving either cycle users

or pedestrians.

Table 3-2 - Study Area Collisions involving Pedestrians between 2014 and 2018

Severity | Number of Collisions

Fatal 0
Serious 6
Slight 27
Total 33

Table 3-3 - Study Area Collisions involving Cycle Users between 2014 and 2018

Severity | Number of Collisions

Fatal 0
Serious 7
Slight 23
Total 30

Figure 3-12 shows the location and severity of collisions involving pedestrians between 2014 and
2018. A large proportion of slight collisions occurred on or near to the A156 Trinity Street and
Beaumont Street in the town centre. One serious collision also occurred on Trinity Street. Further
serious collisions were recorded on Bridge Street/Caskgate Street, B1433 Corringham Road and
A156 Lea Road. The B1433 and A156 are major roads identified in Section 3.3 as barriers to
movement. Figure 3-13 shows the location and severity of collisions involving cycle users between
2014 and 2018. There were five slight collisions at the junction of Bridge Road and Trinity Street.
There were a total of seven serious collisions, mainly occurring at junctions, including one serious
collision at the junction of A156 Blyton Road and Front Street.

GAINSBOROUGH CYCLING AND WALKING NETWORK PLAN CONFIDENTIAL | WSP

Project No.: 70062643 Page 94 March 2021
Lincolnshire County Council Page 29 of 94



G6 abed

\\\I)

Figure 3-12 — Gainsborough - Collisions involving Pedestrians between 2014 and 2018

- - —
, g X
\ - -,
- ¢=3~""'" ~
o _"‘

Key

Pedestrian Collisions
Severity

b] Serious

Slight

Boundaries
. ---a- '

' ' Urban Area

' - Study Area

‘j‘#
it
A_go -
hn I
o":“
4 \
4 \
|
f
A |

- . - . -
] -
/ ; Sy
/ ) S )
/ Spengtheng o Y
e S
’ A
S (= = i
' \ e \‘
) (S T
f \ Y ) L]
L |y ey
.;‘h.. LR 4__\;-“
Pt e
22 ‘ ""‘EJ" - 52
P, ' 1
i 'O
1':. ’
)
L8 \ i
‘_l {, 1
<‘ 'l" {l
AT
o 18 \\ ]
v U s

- '\ ~

% .
W \ |
e %

GAINSBOROUGH CYCLING AND WALKING NETWORK PLAN
Project No.: 70062643
Lincolnshire County Council

CONFIDENTIAL | WSP
March 2021
Page 30 of 94



96 abed

\\\I)

Figure 3-13 — Gainsborough - Collisions involving Cycle Users between 2014 and 2018

: ‘2 = —;
; .a" 5 '.',

/ : r;a--"‘;—.'-'r_-q’\ f

/4""" -9 » "__‘__

\
\
\

' il S Thuetty winew! 32K

ors -. \ Ea .
', \‘/ A

—\r - G
'_.. \\ L N
" \ -4
. \ -

" \ _—

e 3

3 Pab biae “’J‘,‘:—

v e \
s = ll‘
| \

Key

Cycle Collisions
Severity
®  Serious

©  Slight

Boundaries
= m--y
1 1
‘----.
== =-y

Urban Area

Study Area

 W— -
3 4
) » .
-
L g s\
> +

1
v

B

)./o »
o

_":

R
/

GAINSBOROUGH CYCLING AND WALKING NETWORK PLAN
Project No.: 70062643
Lincolnshire County Council

CONFIDENTIAL | WSP
March 2021
Page 31 of 94



\\\I)

4 CYCLING NETWORK PLAN

4.1 INTRODUCTION

4.1.1. This section covers the baseline data used for development of the cycling network plan, in addition
to Section 3. This includes:
= Existing Cycle Infrastructure and Cycle Counts; and
= Propensity to Cycle Tool (PCT)

4.2 EXISTING CYCLE INFRASTRUCTURE AND CYCLE COUNTS

4.2.1. Figure 4-1 shows the existing cycle infrastructure in Gainsborough town centre. The cycle
infrastructure is neither widespread across the town nor provides joined-up routes and varies in the
level of service it provides to users.

4.2.2. Shared-use cycleway/footways make up a large proportion of the existing cycle infrastructure
through the town including along the A156 to the south between the rail bridge and Lea, a section of
the A159 Morton Road and Morton Terrace to the north, and along Spital Hill and Cox’s Hill.

4.2.3. There is a short section of segregated footway/cycleway on Corringham Road.

4.2.4. There is a suggested cycle route on Sandsfield Lane and into Heaton Street in the town centre
which is signed as a cycle route but has no cycle carriageway markings. There are also sections of
marked advisory cycle lanes on the carriageway on the A156 and on Spital Hill.

4.2.5. The map also shows the DfT cycle counts that were available for 2018, showing the two-way annual

average daily flow (AADF). The highest counts are on A159 North Street in the town centre near to
the junction with Spital Terrace with a recorded 63 cycles, and on the A156 Ashcroft Road with a
recorded 64 cycles. There are likely to be limitations with this cycle count data however, including
sensors not picking up all cycles passing across the count site.

GAINSBOROUGH CYCLING AND WALKING NETWORK PLAN CONFIDENTIAL | WSP
Project No.: 70062643 Page 97 March 2021
Lincolnshire County Council Page 32 of 94



86 abed

\\\I)

Figure 4-1 — Gainsborough — Existing Cycle Infrastructure and Cycle Counts

Key

» 2018 DfT Pedal Cycle Counts - AADF

Existing Cycle Infrastructure

s Advisory Cycle Lane

— Shared Use Off Road

Segregated Off Road

Signed Cycle Route (No Markings)

Boundaries

s ! Urban Area
L---.
----'
! 1 Study Area

| Sp——

W "o »: ‘

. nﬁﬁmh:‘;, LA P Fodi. 2 ' ."»
£t
{Méﬂ ' LSl -
|

- .‘q“ P

-

A
]
¥ |
S
=

Clrtaan Orthures Sy e 1) Croen
gt e dbudus gt 2008

1
W \ I L,
) A Y \“ -
[ .
o’ B 0
LA Qe W N R RN =
TN ot o) 0=
'\._?. Uptun =\ 3, N
o - \’t %‘ L% A ) e
= = \
¥ -
=L . »
: ‘3? '
.
i )

1
. »‘%‘:‘g '

GAINSBOROUGH CYCLING AND WALKING NETWORK PLAN
Project No.: 70062643
Lincolnshire County Council

CONFIDENTIAL | WSP
March 2021
Page 33 of 94



4.3

4.3.1.

4.3.2.

4.3.3.

4.34.

4.3.5.

4.3.6.

4.3.7.

4.3.8.

4.3.9.

\\\I)

PROPENSITY TO CYCLE TOOL (PCT)

The following analysis uses the Propensity to Cycle Tool (PCT) to identify key desire lines for cycle
users. The PCT analysis presents cycle desire lines based on two scenarios:

= Census 2011 Cycling
= Go Dutch

CENSUS 2011 CYCLING

The Census 2011 Cycling scenario is based on the number of existing cycle commuters across the
study area, extracted from Census 2011 journey to work data. A cycle commuter is defined for this
analysis as a resident whose main mode of travel to work is cycle. The census origin (residence)
and destination (workplace) data allowed desire lines to be drawn.

GO DUTCH

The Go Dutch scenario models a representation of what would happen if English and Welsh people
were as likely to cycle as Dutch people. People in the Netherlands make 26.7% of trips by bicycle,
fifteen times higher than the figure of 1.7% in England and Wales. It therefore provides a
representation of England and Wales had both countries developed the same cycling infrastructure
and cycling culture as The Netherlands.

The Go Dutch scenario is generated using the Census 2011 journey to work data, which shows trip
origins and destinations for all modes. It then increases the proportion of residents travelling by bike,
taking into account trip length and hilliness, to provide the Go Dutch scenario. The scenario
highlights areas where cycling could be the natural choice for journeys, if suitable cycle
infrastructure was in place and a cycling culture akin to The Netherlands is present. This is likely to
produce new priorities, rather than the Census 2011 which presents existing cycle flows.

PCT — TOP 15 DESIRE LINES

The PCT plans are presented in Figure 4-2 and Figure 4-3. They show the highest 15 cycle
movements between Lower Layer Super Output Areas (LSOA) for each PCT scenario, alongside
the origin and destination mapping.

Figure 4-2 shows the top 15 Census 2011 desire lines. The highest levels of commuter cycling in
Gainsborough takes place between the northwest of Gainsborough near the hospital, and the town
centre. The next highest desire lines are between the west and east. There are also desire lines
between the Gainsborough Lea Road Station and the centre; and between the neighbourhoods to
the east of Gainsborough.

Overall cycling levels are however low across the study area, demonstrated by the small numbers
(maximum cycle flow of 13 between LSOAS) associated with the top cycle Census 2011 desire lines.

Figure 4-3 shows the Go Dutch desire lines. This shows a greater level of cycling potential between
the surrounding areas and the town centre, with strong radial desire lines. In this instance, many
commuter cycling trips would favour the radial routes into the town centre if cycling mode share was
similar to Dutch levels.

For the Go Dutch scenario, particularly strong cycling connections would exist between the
residential areas in the north of Gainsborough and the town centre, and other strong desire lines
exist between the east and west sides of Gainsborough, and from the town centre to Lea Road

GAINSBOROUGH CYCLING AND WALKING NETWORK PLAN CONFIDENTIAL | WSP
Project No.: 70062643 Page 99 March 2021
Lincolnshire County Council Page 34 of 94



\\\I)

Station and further on to the village of Lea in the south. There are also strong cycle desire lines
between the eastern neighbourhoods on either side of the A631 Thorndike Way.

4.3.10. The main limitation of the PCT is that it focuses on Census 2011 journey to work data, which is now
dated and only covers commuting journeys. As a result, it does not show journeys generated by
developments since 2011, neither does it show journeys with trip purposes other than commuting.
To overcome this, future developments were mapped within the origin and destination mapping for
the project and officer knowledge was used to interpret the various sources of data to provide the
key desire lines based on the overall picture, and not just the PCT data. The officer interpretation is
detailed within Section 6.

GAINSBOROUGH CYCLING AND WALKING NETWORK PLAN CONFIDENTIAL | WSP
Project No.: 70062643 Page 100 March 2021
Lincolnshire County Council Page 35 of 94



TOT obed

WA

Figure 4-2 — PCT Census 2011 Top 15 LSOA Cycle Desire Lines — Urban Area

TRy Wood N

PR

Key

Residential
Employment Facility

Community Facility

Education Clip

@® College

@ Secondary

@  Primary

@  Nursery

& Other
Healthcare Facilities

@ GP

@® Hospital
Transport

B Bus Interchange

¥ Railway Stations

Census 2011 Top 15 Cycle Desire
Lines

6-7
G 8 - 9
- 10
a 11 - 12
- 13

Boundaries

: Urban Area
- - -l
:

Study Area

!

]
L
l-
L

: N i
e %"g‘;' Lf‘ “ >

Ay

%

=T 3 ' N ;
3

I +
= It L)
"ﬂ A b

[y ) o

GAINSBOROUGH CYCLING AND WALKING NETWORK PLAN
Project No.: 70062643
Lincolnshire County Council

CONFIDENTIAL | WSP
March 2021
Page 36 of 94



WA

Figure 4-3 - PCT Go Dutch Top 15 LSOA Cycle Desire Lines — Urban Area

20T abed

&
o'
o

Mg mmmm

%,

o et I S —

al

i

i
e | B
)
s-m‘
G

A Famr ,‘-
)

b
‘.‘b-umv-m_‘L o

>
¥ o
—" v buare

|
'y N
| 1
| 1
|
L}
1
X ‘
\ bf""-‘rﬂm “
, THUIDR WO S
e=='!
’
L]
?

Cortairn Oninans Sarwey Sa1a & Cromn
I et sstabass g 2616

Key

Residential
Employment Facilities

Community Facilities

Education Facilities

College
Secondary
Primary
Nursery

Other

Healthcare Facilities

GP

Hospital

Transport

Bus Interchange

¥ Railway Stations

Go Dutch Top 15 Cycle Desire
Lines

33-44

G 45 - 55
@ 56 - 66
G 67 - 77
G 78 - 87

Boundaries

: Urban Area

L e Lt |
'L
.l
L

= \ 'qgr_;{;;‘ L

GAINSBOROUGH CYCLING AND WALKING NETWORK PLAN

Project No.: 70062643
Lincolnshire County Council

CONFIDENTIAL | WSP
March 2021
Page 37 of 94



\\\I)

5 WALKING NETWORK PLAN

5.1 INTRODUCTION

5.1.1. This section covers the baseline data used for development of the walking network plan, in addition
to Section 3. This walking-specific baseline data includes:

Core Walking Zone;

Census 2011 Journey to Work Desire Lines;
Existing Walking Infrastructure; and

Public Rights of Way.

5.2 CORE WALKING ZONE

5.2.1. Walking data showing average daily footfall in 2018 is presented in Figure 5-1. This shows the high
level of walking that exists in the town centre.

5.2.2. The Core Walking Zone (CWZ) was agreed with LCC as the town centre of Gainsborough, because
it has a high density of origin and destination points and is has a clear short trip focus.

5.2.3. The LCWIP guidance states that the CWZ should be a minimum of 400m in diameter. Isochrone
mapping was undertaken on the road and footpath network, displaying the highways and footways
that were within 400m of the identified centre point.

5.2.4. The LCWIP guidance states that key walking routes should link from other significant origin and
destination points to the CWZ. These key walking routes should be within 2km of the CWZ as this
offers a manageable walking distance for most people. To display where these key walking routes
could be located, an additional 2km road and footway isochrone area beginning from the extent of
the CWZ was created.

5.2.5. The CWZ and key walking route are presented in Figure 5-2.

5.2.6. The walking network maps with origin and destination mapping provide the basis for identifying the
priority walking routes to be developed within the GCWNP.

GAINSBOROUGH CYCLING AND WALKING NETWORK PLAN CONFIDENTIAL | WSP
Project No.: 70062643 Page 103 March 2021
Lincolnshire County Council Page 38 of 94



0T abed

\\\I)

Figure 5-1 - 2018 Daily Average Footfall

Education
Facmty)

Gainsborough
Central

[ HovouddY NOILYLS

e
c
z
- g
E4
5 m
b
: 4
» Al’r\ “ o
uw Oallarms
GAINSBOROUGH CYCLING AND WALKING NETWORK PLAN
Project No.: 70062643
Lincolnshire County Council

CONFIDENTIAL | WSP
March 2021
Page 39 of 94



GOT obed

\\\I)

Figure 5-2 - Core Walking Zone and Key Walking Route Area

-

[
4‘-‘&-‘-—-

s

[
'
'
'
:

TRUIY Wood s

e=='

T e

I -

J 2

ol fam

%
A
)

Key

®  Residential Area

@ Community Facilities
. @

Education Facilities

Healthcare Facilities
® GCP

@
Transport

Employment Facilities

College
Secondary
Primary
Nursery
Other

Hospital

Bus Interchange

3 Railway Stations
Walking Zones

Core Walking Zone, Om - 400m

Key Walking Route Area, 400m - 2400m
X Cwz Centrepoint

Development

Employment
\ Mixed Use

' Residential

Boundaries

: ! Urban Area

: ! Study Area

o i)

Qg'.': c)-’_" . \

T A )
58

GAINSBOROUGH CYCLING AND WALKING NETWORK PLAN

Project No.: 70062643

Lincolnshire County Council

CONFIDENTIAL | WSP
March 2021
Page 40 of 94



5.3

5.3.1.

5.3.2.

5.3.3.

5.3.4.

5.3.5.

5.3.6.

5.3.7.

5.3.8.

5.3.9.

5.3.10.

5.3.11.

\\\I)

EXISTING WALKING INFRASTRUCTURE AND PUBLIC RIGHTS OF WAY
EXISTING WALKING INFRASTRUCTURE

The urban walking network predominantly consists of pedestrian footways along the majority of
streets within the town. The walking infrastructure includes pedestrian crossings and streetlighting.

There are drawbacks with the existing walking infrastructure. Some pedestrian crossings require
maintenance or are not located on appropriate desire lines. There are some routes that lack tactile
paving, limiting disabled access. This may inhibit trips due to both actual and perceived safety
concerns.

Several walking routes within the study area are unattractive with inconsistent signage, and there is
a general lack of clear wayfinding that links key destinations in the town.

Severance is a problem in the town due to the rail line which inhibits east-west movements, and the
A631 dual carriageway which inhibits north-south movements. There are several subways and
footbridges crossing the A631 and railway line, which might be a deterrent for walking and cycling
trips due to their relative remoteness and low natural surveillance and where lighting is not provided.

PUBLIC RIGHTS OF WAY

The Public Right of Way (PRoW) network is presented in Figure 5-3 and Figure 5-4, which includes
footpaths, bridleways, restricted byways and byways open to all traffic. Footpaths, excluding
footways, make up the greatest proportion of the PRoW in the Study Area.

The different sections of the PRoW are fragmented and do not provide continuous dedicated routes
across the study area. Villages located in the south and north of the study area also have limited
provision of public footpaths. There is a lack of wayfinding provision across the study area.

Lea to Upton is connected by a PRoW for a significant stretch. Additionally, Upton is connected by a
footpath to Foxby Lane in the south-east of Gainsborough. However for journeys by foot between
Lea and Gainsborough, pedestrians are required to use the local highway network.

To the north of the strategy area, Blyton has several footpaths near to the village, but which do not
link up to Gainsborough. The alternative route between Blyton and Gainsborough is to walk along
the highway network on the A159 Thonock Road.

Within the urban area, there are short sections of footpath connecting streets within housing
developments, connecting neighbouring estates or shopping precincts. Notably, a footpath exists
adjacent to the eastern side of the railway line from Gainsborough Central almost up to Thorndike
Way, where the footpath is no longer classified as a PRoW but continues to meet Lea Road.

Intermittent footpaths also exist alongside the River Trent, between Morton in the north and Knaith in
the south. However, the route is not continuous and forces pedestrians onto public highway
footways for large sections.

Where possible good links should be provided from the CWZ to the PRoW network. Interventions to
address this will be suggested along the prioritised walking routes identified within the GCWNP.

GAINSBOROUGH CYCLING AND WALKING NETWORK PLAN CONFIDENTIAL | WSP
Project No.: 70062643 Page 106 March 2021
Lincolnshire County Council Page 41 of 94



\\\I)

Figure 5-3 - Public Right of Way Plan - Urban Area

/0T abed

Cammes & Srmme borwry bots ¢ b o
S —— ) 1R

Key

Public Right of Way
e Public Footpath

GAINSBOROUGH CYCLING AND WALKING NETWORK PLAN
Project No.: 70062643
Lincolnshire County Council

CONFIDENTIAL | WSP
March 2021
Page 42 of 94



80T abed

\\\I)

Figure 5-4 - Public Rights of Way - Study Area

B—

0 05 1 2 3 4

I W Kilometres

N e
f e A
*a, £
. B ‘Q

b

g -

Key
Public Right of Way
Public Footpath

Boundaries

L BB _J -'

: s Urban Area
' 3 Study Area

GAINSBOROUGH CYCLING AND WALKING NETWORK PLAN

Project No.: 70062643

Lincolnshire County Council

CONFIDENTIAL | WSP
March 2021
Page 43 of 94



\\\I)

5.4 CENSUS 2011 JOURNEYS TO WORK BY FOOT

5.4.1. Following the mapping of the CWZ, Census 2011 journey to work data was used to map commuter
walking desire lines. Figure 5-5 shows the top 15 commuter walking desire lines between LSOAs.

5.4.2.  When desire lines are drawn at LSOA level, this shows the strategic walking desire lines that could
be prioritised in Gainsborough.

5.4.3. Figure 5-5 shows that the highest walking flows for commuters mostly radiate into the town centre
from the surrounding residential areas. There are also walking desire lines between the areas in the

east of Gainsborough.

GAINSBOROUGH CYCLING AND WALKING NETWORK PLAN CONFIDENTIAL | WSP

Project No.: 70062643 Page 109 March 2021
Lincolnshire County Council Page 44 of 94



\\\I)

OTT obed

Figure 5-5 - Census 2011 Walking Desire Lines - Urban Area

> —
o“o" 3
> 1 - -
- -
e mmmmmmmmm————

el

.
s
1
'

f

TRUNGY WO S

e=='

- -

\
o

Key

@ Residential Area
@® Employment Facility
@ Community Facility
Education Facilities
@® College
@® Secondary
@ Primary
@  Nursery
@ Other
Healthcare Clip
® GP
® Hospital
Transport
B Bus Interchange
¥ Railway stations

Census 2011 Top 15 Walking
Desire Lines

30 -49
@S0 - 68
@60 - 87
@SS - 106
@107 - 125
Walking Zones

1

= Core Walking Zone, Om - 400m
Key Walking Area, 400m -

Development

" | Employment

. Mixed Use

| Residential

Boundaries

i _ YUrban Area

1~ "1study Area

. =T »
N .

GAINSBOROUGH CYCLING AND WALKING NETWORK PLAN

Project No.: 70062643
Lincolnshire County Council

CONFIDENTIAL | WSP
March 2021
Page 45 of 94



\\\I)

6 ENGAGEMENT

6.1 INTRODUCTION

6.1.1. Stakeholder engagement is an important part of development of any cycling and walking network
plan, as is highlighted in the LCWIP guidance, which states:

“effective engagement is critical to ensuring that high quality LCWIPs are produced...it is important
to communicate with stakeholders throughout the process, and consult with them at critical decision
points, enabling their views to be expressed and considered.”

6.1.2. This section details the internal and external workshops that took place during the development of
the GCWNP. It also provides an overview of the cycling and walking options that arose in the
development of the Gainsborough Transport Strategy.

6.2 INTERNAL WORKSHOP

6.2.1. An internal workshop was held on Tuesday 3 December 2019 in order to identify cycle desire lines,
the proposed network and key walking routes. This included setting out the draft cycle and walking
route priorities.

6.2.2. The workshop was held at West Lindsey District Council’s (WLDC) office at Guildhall Marshall’s
Yard in Gainsborough and included WSP, Lincolnshire County Council and WLDC officer
representatives. The outputs of the workshop were as follows:

= Gainsborough cycle desire lines
= Proposed Gainsborough cycle network
= Gainsborough walking route priorities

6.2.3. The workshop is an important part of the development of the cycling and walking plan as it allows for
local officer input and sense checking of the baseline data analysis.

6.2.4. The cycle desire lines identified within the workshop can be seen in Figure 6-1 and Figure 6-2.

GAINSBOROUGH CYCLING AND WALKING NETWORK PLAN CONFIDENTIAL | WSP
Project No.: 70062643 Page 111 March 2021
Lincolnshire County Council Page 46 of 94



21T abed

\\\I)

Figure 6-1 - Cycle Desire Lines - Outer Study Area

-
-

Key

. Residential

Y =SSR L Employment Facilities

Community Facilities
Education Facilities
° Coliege
L Secondary
° Primary
Nursery
®  Other

Healthcare Facilities

GP
. Hospital
Transport

[ ] Bus Interchange

8  Railway Stations
Development

Employment
Residential
Boundaries

: 1 Urban Area

[}
¢ 1+ Study Area

:] LSOA Boundary

Cycle Desire Lines

msmsm Cycle Desire Line

e Priority Cycle Desire Line

e

GAINSBOROUGH CYCLING AND WALKING NETWORK PLAN
Project No.: 70062643

Lincolnshire County Council

CONFIDENTIAL | WSP

March 2021
Page 47 of 94



\\\I)

Figure 6-2 - Cycle Desire Lines - Urban Area

Key
[ ] Residential

* Employment Facilities

"’

Community Facilities
Education Facilities

. College

. Secondary

;4--------"'-

< Primary
L Nursery
° Other
------ Healthcare Facilities
< GP
-U El Hospital
Q) Transport
% = Bus Interchange
® #8  Railway Stations
H Development
w Employment
Residential

/——/ Boundaries
[upE——
“‘/ Y 1 Urban Area

LI
LT
i 1 Study Area

:] LSOA Boundary

Cycle Desire Lines

=== Cycle Desire Line

= Priority Cycle Desire Line

[
0 01503 1 i ; :

GAINSBOROUGH CYCLING AND WALKING NETWORK PLAN
Project No.: 70062643

CONFIDENTIAL | WSP
Lincolnshire County Council

March 2021
Page 48 of 94



\\\I)

6.2.5. The identified cycle desire lines were used to inform the proposed cycle network. Using the cycling
and walking barriers map, an iterative process was carried out of converting the identified cycle
desire lines into proposed cycle routes, forming the proposed cycle network. During the process, the
priority cycle desire lines identified were translated into a priority cycle network. The proposed cycle
network and priority cycle network can be seen in Figure 6-3 and Figure 6-4.

6.2.6. Proposed priority walking routes were also identified within the workshop with the aid of the baseline
data. The priority walking routes can be seen in Figure 6-5.

GAINSBOROUGH CYCLING AND WALKING NETWORK PLAN CONFIDENTIAL | WSP

Project No.: 70062643 Pag e 114 March 2021
Lincolnshire County Council Page 49 of 94



\\\I)

GTT obed

Figure 6-3 - Internal Workshop Proposed Gainsborough Cycle Network

-
-
Sl Ty

Key

o Residential

‘ [ Employment Facilities
.

Community Facilities
Education Facilities

wee®
-

L] College

e Secondary

o

Primary

Nursery

. Other

Healthcare Facilities

T e

GP

3 Hospital

Transport
- Bus Interchange
8  Railway Stations
Development

Employment

Residential

Boundaries

= _E Study Area

Proposed Cycle Network

s (A) Priority Cycle Network
(A1) Priority Cycle Network
s (A2) Priority Cycle Network
(B) Priority Cycle Network
s (C) Priority Cycle Network
e Cycle Network
= Town Centre Priority Cycle Network

= == = Town Centre Priority Cycle Network - Future Link

Gainsborough Loop

GAINSBOROUGH CYCLING AND WALKING NETWORK PLAN

Project No.: 70062643
Lincolnshire County Council

CONFIDENTIAL | WSP

March 2021
Page 50 of 94



WA )

Figure 6-4 - Internal Workshop Proposed Gainsborough Cycle Network - Town Centre

Key
L] Residential
[ Employment Facilities
Community Facilities
Education Facilities
° College

° Secondary

° Primary
° Nursery
. Other

Healthcare Facilities

GP
-U [ ] Hospital
m Transport
(Q - Bus Interchange
(.D 3:13::'0%9" 8  Railway Stations
|—\ Development
B Employment
Residential
Boundaries

. 1 Urban Area

H 1 Study Area

Proposed Cycle Network

e (A) Priority Cycle Network

e (A1) Priority Cycle Network

s (A2) Priority Cycle Network
(B) Priority Cycle Network

s (C) Priority Cycle Network

— Cycle Network
= Town Centre Priority Cycle Network
= mmm Town Centre Priority Cycle Network - Future Link

Gainsborough Loop

0225 03

00.0375075 0.15

GAINSBOROUGH CYCLING AND WALKING NETWORK PLAN CONFIDENTIAL | WSP
Project No.: 70062643 March 2021
Lincolnshire County Council Page 51 of 94



\\\I)

Figure 6-5 - Internal Workshop Proposed Gainsborough Priority Walking Interventions

Key
. Residential
Community Facilities
. Employment Facilities
Education Facilities
e  Coliege
° Secondary
. Primary
. Nursery

N I GAR E; . Other
SPRING -
Healthcare Facilities
. e GP

Gainsbd ®  Hospital
Central Transport

= Bus Interchange

T5vOuddY NOILYLS

#8  Railway Stations
Development

/TT obed

! i Employment
J | Residential
Boundaries

il Urban Area
T Study Area

Priority Walking Interventions
s Priority Walking Interventions

= m ® ¥ Priority Walking Interventions - Future Link

avos 2N 10

et 3 00.0175035 0.07 0105 0.1
)

¥ £\ \esmerotRoq

G124

GAINSBOROUGH CYCLING AND WALKING NETWORK PLAN
Project No.: 70062643

CONFIDENTIAL | WSP
March 2021
Lincolnshire County Council Page 52 of 94



6.3

6.3.1.

6.3.2.

6.3.3.

6.3.4.

\\\I)

EXTERNAL WORKSHOP
INTRODUCTION

The external workshop sought views from selected stakeholders that had an interest in
Gainsborough’s cycling and walking plan, including a specific session for Councillors. The workshop
aimed to support the objectives of the network plan, which are to:

= Produce an evidence-based infrastructure network plan;

= |dentify early network investment priorities and potential interventions;

= Secure stakeholder “buy-in” for the network and potential interventions; and

= Provide high-level feasibility for investment in the highest priority cycling and walking
infrastructure.

In particular, attendees were asked if they agreed with the draft cycling and walking network plan
and identified priorities, that were developed in the internal workshop. They were also asked to
provide any further comments, including on existing infrastructure and what works and doesn’t work
well.

The external workshop was held at Gainsborough Old Hall on Tuesday 13™ January 2020, taking
place between 3:00pm and 7:00pm.

A summary of comments from the external workshop are provided below:
Councillors
General

= There was general agreement with the proposed priority cycle routes
= Work carried out to date is brilliant

Gainsborough town centre to Lea

= Cycle infrastructure along Lea Road between Lea and Gainsborough is inconsistent — it contains
a mixture of off and on-road cycle infrastructure

= There is a section along this route where the footway should be widened to create a two-way

cycle track

Cycling on Lea Road is dangerous, especially as it is shared with buses

Route A should be extended south to Lea

Lea Road needs a minimum of solid white line cycle lane

One-way residential streets neighbourhood needed near Lea Road

= Secure cycle parking required at Gainsborough Lea Road

Gainsborough town centre to Corringham Industrial Park via Corringham Road

= Corringham Road route makes sense as a priority

= The shared use path doesn’t work well along Corringham Road as lose priority at side roads
= Corringham Road / Avenue Road is an unsuitable junction

= Corringham Road not seen as a priority due to existing infrastructure

= Bottom of Summer Hill is dangerous

Town Centre

= East-west route across town centre is a good plan

GAINSBOROUGH CYCLING AND WALKING NETWORK PLAN CONFIDENTIAL | WSP
Project No.: 70062643 Page 118 March 2021
Lincolnshire County Council Page 53 of 94



6.3.5.

\\\I)

Reclaiming the missing section of path on the riverbank is a priority

Market Street should be pedestrianised with cycle access. Deliveries should be out of core hours
Vehicles currently go the wrong way along Silver Street to avoid bollards — bollards required on
Silver Street

Change bus stops and route away from Church Street and use North Street instead — Church
Street is not a safe route for buses

Taxi rank can remain in place

Extend route up Church St and potentially make this contraflow.

Torr Street should be one-way and filling station should be moved

Lidl access should be one-way

Other areas

The Belt Road and The Little Belt requires resurfacing

The Belt Road should be developed as health/wellbeing/leisure route. The residential
development adds to this case. This would require traffic calming and slow speeds.

Remove signs prohibiting cycles on footbridge on A631 Thorndike Road as no longer relevant.
There was interest in an onward route to Lincoln

There was interest in a Blyton to Gainsborough cycle route where there is already some
infrastructure and serves school trips

Lincolnshire Road Safety Partnership (LRSP)

Have been a few slights involving cycles but nothing significant in last 5 years

Other Stakeholders including Cycling UK

Safe, lit routes needed to areas outside the urban area

Signage of routes is missing

Cycle lockers requested at Gainsborough Central rail station

An additional link from The Belt Road along The Avenue to leisure centre was requested

The toucan crossing on Ropery Road can be used to gain access to quieter streets parallel to
Ropery Road via Bowling Green Road

Support for a Loop route around Gainsborough that can be used as a health ride

Following the external workshop the priority cycling routes remained the same but there were some
changes to the wider proposed cycle network. The updated overall cycle network plan can be seen

in Figure 6-6.
GAINSBOROUGH CYCLING AND WALKING NETWORK PLAN CONFIDENTIAL | WSP
Project No.: 70062643 Page 119 March 2021

Lincolnshire County Council Page 54 of 94



\\\I)

Figure 6-6 - Proposed Gainsborough Cycle Network

02T obed

‘ — gsmay 65, 85 12 S
TN e 3

GAINSBOROUGH CYCLING AND WALKING NETWORK PLAN
Project No.: 70062643
Lincolnshire County Council

CONFIDENTIAL | WSP
March 2021
Page 55 of 94



6.4
6.4.1.

\\\I)

GAINSBOROUGH TRANSPORT STRATEGY

The Gainsborough Transport Strategy (GTS) was in development at the same time as the
Gainsborough Cycling and Walking Network Plan. The cycling and walking options that arose during
the development of the GTS can be seen in Table 6-1.

Table 6-1 — Gainsborough Transport Strategy Cycling and Walking Options

Option

Description

Gainsborough leisure route

Belt Road walking and cycling
improvements

New segregated pedestrian / cycleway
- Lea Road

Creation of pedestrian and cycle
crossing at Foxby Lane

Foxby Hill Lane footway improvements

New cycle route on Foxby Hill Lane

New on-carriageway cycle route from
Foxby Hill / Lea Road to the town
centre.

Improvements to crossings at Lea Road
/ Ashcroft Road

Improvement to the crossings on

Thorndike Way

Improvements to pedestrian / cycle
facilities on Heapham Road
Cycle route over River Trent

Improve footpaths between Blyton and
East Stockwith

Creation of a leisure route to the east of
Gainsborough (outside proposed SUES)

Improve walking and cycling route along The
Belt Road to provide NMU connection between
Corringham Road and Heapham Road industrial
estate. To encourage commuting trips by bike.

New segregated pedestrian / cycleway to
improve access and permeability from the
southern SUE to Lea Road, the train station and
the wider urban area.

New toucan crossing to improve access to the
southern SUE and encourage trips by active
modes.

Improvements to the existing footways along
Foxby Hill Lane to the west of Middlefield Lane.

New cycle route along Foxby Hill Lane. Potential
to run along site frontage of SUE on the south
side of Foxby Hill Lane.

Provide segregated route along Lea Road,
Ashcroft Road and Trinity Street. Proposal
would likely require removal of on street parking
and potential realignment of sections of
carriageway

Enhanced crossings at junction to facilitate safer
crossing of cyclists over the roundabout.

Potential to upgrade Toucan and potential
removal of stagger, surfaces treatments and
improved tactile paving.

Improvements to pedestrian / cycle facilities on
Heapham Road to provide continuous cycle /
footway with crossings at desire lines. Type
dependent on demand and traffic flow.

Improve access into Gainsborough by bike from
surrounding areas

Review current footpaths and highlight areas for
improvement

GAINSBOROUGH CYCLING AND WALKING NETWORK PLAN CONFIDENTIAL | WSP

Project No.: 70062643
Lincolnshire County Council

Page 121 March 2021

Page 56 of 94



\\\I)

Option Description

Provide new crossing on the A156 to give safe

A156 pedestrian crossings access to Lea Road bus stop

Connect pedestrian/cycle networks with | Connect pedestrian/cycle network to the
Riverside Riverside

Improve connectivity between key areas of the
town centre. For example Marshalls Yard and
the Market area. Measures to included improved
footways, cycleways, crossings and signage

Town Centre Connectivity

Develop circular cycle route linking wider

Development of circular cycle route strategy area.

Improvements to pedestrian access across

Pedestrian access across Trent Bridge Trent Bridge.

Ensure that all new developments are designed
to incorporate walking and cycling connections
to the surrounding areas.

Walking and Cycling Connection - New
Developments

Improve cycling along river footpath past

NENT EEIEEL - (ARSI SiTee! Gladstone street by installing new cycleway

GAINSBOROUGH CYCLING AND WALKING NETWORK PLAN CONFIDENTIAL | WSP
Project No.: 70062643 Page 122 March 2021
Lincolnshire County Council Page 57 of 94



\\\I)

GOOD PRACTICE REVIEW — APPLICATION IN GAINSBOROUGH

71

7.1.1.

7.1.2.

7.1.3.

7.1.4.

7.2

7.2.1.

7.2.2.

7.2.3.

INTRODUCTION

Streets need to manage a wide range of road users and their competing demands by providing clear
but flexible spaces, with consistent and legible features that acknowledge where, when and how
users should interact.

Priorities should be applied to best provide for efficient and safe movement of people, goods and
services, while reflecting and enhancing the character of the place. Balancing user priorities,
especially the needs of pedestrians and cyclists, is often challenging in busy urban contexts. There
is a need to carefully consider configurations, phasing and infrastructure to respond to the most
challenging junctions and increase permeability.

Continuous improvement of the street environment and of public places is critical to meet the
changing demand and expectations as urban areas grow and diversify. This will rely on good
practice, creativity and innovation to develop places that cater for the current and future users.

This high-level review of good practice is not intended to replace or serve as a design standards
document, nor to repeat the numerous documents that are already available. Rather, it provides a
summary of key aspects to consider when designing for cycling and walking.

CYCLE DESIGN

The cycle design principles of the GCWNP follow the LTN 1/20 Cycle Infrastructure Design
guidance that was published by the DfT in July 20201. LTN 1/20 provides guidance to local
authorities on the delivery of high-quality cycle infrastructure from the network planning stage
through to construction and maintenance.

CORE DESIGN PRINCIPLES

There are five core design principles which represent the essential requirements to achieve more
people travelling by foot or cycle for more of their trips. The principles are based on international and
UK best practice and are presented in Figure 7-1.

The five core design principles will be intrinsic to the network planning and intervention development
to ensure the most optimal solutions for bicycle and pedestrian traffic are established.

1 https://iwww.gov.uk/government/publications/cycle-infrastructure-design-itn-120

GAINSBOROUGH CYCLING AND WALKING NETWORK PLAN CONFIDENTIAL | WSP
Project No.: 70062643 Page 123 March 2021
Lincolnshire County Council Page 58 of 94



\\\I)

Figure 7-1 — Core design principles for bicycle networks*

Accessibility for all

Comfortable

DO Cycle nstworks

DO Cycle infrastructure

DO Cycle routes DO Not only must DO Comfortable
should be planned and  should be at least as cycle infrastructure be  conditions for cycling  should help to deliver
designed to allow direct - and preferably  safe, it should also be  require routes with public spaces that are
peopie to reach their more direct — than perceived to be safe so  good quality, well designed and
day to day destinations those available for that more people feel well-maintained finished in attractive
easily, along routes that  private motor vehicles.  able to cycie. smooth surfaces, materials and be places
connect, are simpie to adequate width for that people want to
navigate and are of a the volume of users, spend time using.
consistently high minimal stopping and
quality. starting and avoiding

steep gradients.

DON'T Neither cyclists DON'T This track DON'T Space for DON'T Uncomforiable DON'T Sometimes
or pedestrians benefit ~ requires cyclists to give  cycling is important but  transitions between well-intentioned signs
from unintuitive way at each side road.  a narrow advisory cycle on-and off camiageway and markings for
arrangements that put  Routes involving extra  lane nexttoa namow  facilities are best cycling are not only
cyclists in unexpected  distance or lots of general traffic lane and  avoided, particularly at  difficult and
places away fromthe  stopping and starting guard rail at a busy locations where conflict uncomfortable to use,
carriageway. will result in some junction is not an with other road usersis but are also
cyclists choosing to acceptable offer for more likely. unattractive additions
ride on the main cyclists. to the street scape.

camageway instead
because it is faster
and more direct, even
if less safe.

GAINSBOROUGH CYCLING AND WALKING NETWORK PLAN
Project No.: 70062643 Page 124

Lincolnshire County Council

CONFIDENTIAL | WSP
March 2021
Page 59 of 94



\\\I)

7.3 SUMMARY CYCLE DESIGN PRINCIPLES
7.3.1. Building on the five core design principles presented above, LTN 1/20 highlights 22 summary
principles that aim to ensure long term commitment by local authorities to deliver the appropriate
cycle infrastructure solutions. The summary principles that are pertinent to the network development
and scheme identification stages that form the basis of the GCWNP are presented in Table 7-1.
Table 7-1 — Summary principles to inform the GCWNP
Summary Principles
Cycle infrastructure should be accessible to Cycle infrastructure should be designed for
everyone from 8 to 80 and beyond: it should significant numbers of cyclists, and for
be planned and designed for everyone. qﬁ%andard SYSG Tf{e G8vernrnent aim is
. . sands cyclls S aday wi many of
The opportunity to cycle in our towns and 85 'Sehém
cities should be universal.
Cycles must be treated as vehicles and not as Consideration of the opportunities to improve
pedestrians. On urban streets, cyclists must be provision for cycling will be an expectation of
physically separated from pedestrians and any future local highway schemes funded by
should not share space with pedestrians. Government.
Where cycle routes cross pavements, a
physically segregated track should always
be provided. At crossings and junctions,
cyclists should not share the space used by
pedestrians but should be provided with a
separate parallel route.
Cyclists must be physically separated and Largely cosmetic interventions which bring few
protected from high volume motor traffic, both or no benefits for cycling or walking will not be
at junctions and on the stretches of road funded from any cycling or walking budget.
between them.
Side street routes, if closed to through traffic Cycle infrastructure must join together, or join
to avoid rat-running, can be an alternative to other facilities together by taking a holistic,
segregated facilities or closures on main roads — connected network approach which recognises
but only if they are truly direct. the importance of nodes, links and areas that
are good for cyclina.
Cycle parking must be included in substantial The simplest, cheapest interventions can be
schemes, particularly in city centres, trip the most effective.
generators and (securely) in areas with flats
where people cannot store their bikes at home.
Parking should be provided in sufficient
amounts at the places where people actually
want to go.
Schemes must be legible and understandable. Cycle routes must flow, feeling direct
and loaical.
7.3.2.  The principles in the table will be taken into account when considering the network planning and the

development of interventions. Checking the proposals against these principles will ensure that
Lincolnshire is well placed to capitalise on funding opportunities by having a compliant network plan

and interventions.

GAINSBOROUGH CYCLING AND WALKING NETWORK PLAN
Project No.: 70062643 Page 125

Lincolnshire County Council

CONFIDENTIAL | WSP
March 2021
Page 60 of 94



7.4
7.4.1.

7.4.2.

7.4.3.

\\\I)

WALKING INFRASTRUCTURE

This walking infrastructure good practice review is based upon the expertise of the consultancy team
and the following documents:

= The Planning for Walking Toolkit (TfL, 2020)

= Creating better streets: Inclusive and accessible places — Review shared space (CIHT, 2018);

= Streetscape Guidance (Transport for London, 2016);

= Designing for Walking (CIHT, 2015);

= Planning for Walking (CIHT, 2015);

= Design Guidance: Active Travel (Wales) Act 2013 (Welsh Government, 2014);

= Local Transport Note 1/12: Shared Use Routes for Pedestrians and Cyclists (Department for
Transport, 2012);

= Manual for Streets 2 (CIHT, 2010); and

= Providing for Journeys on Foot (CIHT, 2000)

DESIGN PRINCIPLES
TfL’s Planning for Walking Toolkit highlights seven key walking design principles that focus on the
needs of all pedestrians. These key principles can be seen in Table 7-2.

Table 7-2 - Walking Infrastructure Key Principles

Walking Infrastructure Key Principles
Safe The public realm should be safe to use at all times of day and for people to
feel safe to spend time in

Inclusive All walking environments should adhere to the principles of inclusive design
by ensuring that they are accessible to, and usable by, as many people as
reasonably possible without the need for special adaptation or specialised
design

Comfortable Designated walking areas should allow unhindered movement for
pedestrians by providing sufficient space

Direct Facilities should be consistent and easy to understand for all pedestrians to
know intuitively how to navigate within a space

Legible Features should be consistent and easy to understand for all pedestrians to
know intuitively how to navigate within a space

Connected Walking networks should have a high density of route options to suit
pedestrians’ needs

Attractive Walking environments should be inviting for pedestrians to pass through or
spend time in

Adapted from The Planning for Walking Toolkit, TfL (2020)
The following provide further detail on these walking infrastructure key principles. TfL state that all

planners and designers of street environments should seek to understand the role of inclusive
design for creating streets and places that everyone can use.

GAINSBOROUGH CYCLING AND WALKING NETWORK PLAN CONFIDENTIAL | WSP
Project No.: 70062643 Pag e 126 March 2021
Lincolnshire County Council Page 61 of 94



7.4.4.

7.4.5.

7.4.6.

7.4.7.

7.4.8.

7.4.9.

\\\I)

Safe

Reducing driving speeds is the single most influential determinant for a collision occurring as well as
the severity of the collision. Therefore, reducing motor vehicle flow and speed is of primary concern
for improving the safety for people walking. Collision analysis and Road Safety Audits should be
carried out when designing improvements. Addressing trip hazards is also an important safety
factor.

Personal safety is also a factor when choosing to walk. This includes physical risk and psychological
perception of experiencing a crime. To tackle these concerns, it is important that designers suitably
address lighting and natural surveillance, paying particular attention to avoiding hidden corners and
assessing the extent of natural surveillance from windows and balconies.

Inclusive

New designs need to meet the obligations under the Equality Act 2010 and all projects should have
an Equality Impact Assessment (EqlA) undertaken. There are a range of issues that can negatively
impact on people protected by the Equality Act in relation to walking. These include:

= Narrow footways with pinch points

= |nsufficient time allocated on crossings

= QOvercrowding

= Cobbled street surfacing

= Qverly steep gradients to dropped kerbs and other kerb issues including visibility
= Street clutter including ‘A’ boards

= Limited seating

= Poor lighting

Comfortable

Within the walking context, comfort refers primarily to spatial considerations, including footway and
footpath width relative to the pedestrian demand. There are other environmental factors to consider,
including temperature and wind exposure, and noise and air pollution. Further detail is provided on
widths within Pedestrian Environment below.

Direct

Direct movements for pedestrians supports and enables walking trips. Pedestrians tend to favour
direct routes without deviation, changes in grade or long waiting times at traffic signals. Desire lines
should be catered for and where they are not, for example where a visibly muddy path is made
through a park, these should be addressed. Accommodating pedestrian desire lines may be
achieved through the following interventions:

Introducing or relocating controlled crossing points

Replacing subways with at-grade crossings

Traffic calming to better cater for informal crossing movements
= Formalising a footpath with new surfacing

Legible

Legibility in walking relates to the ease in which walking trips can be completed through navigation
and consistency of wayfinding features. Features that ensure legibility include:

GAINSBOROUGH CYCLING AND WALKING NETWORK PLAN CONFIDENTIAL | WSP
Project No.: 70062643 Page 127 March 2021
Lincolnshire County Council Page 62 of 94



7.4.10.

7.4.11.

7.4.12.

7.4.13.

7.4.14.

7.4.15.

\\\I)

Street furniture arranged in a manner that supports pedestrian movement
Use of consistent materials and signage

Ensuring suitable lighting of facilities

Placing wayfinding signs at key decision points

Connected

Connectivity refers to the ability of the pedestrian network to provide movements to multiple
destinations. Here severance features are important to be overcome to enable this movement. To
improve connectivity, the following should be sought:

= Coherently connecting urban areas together with streets and spaces and varying use, important,
character and size

= Controlled crossings that are convenient

= A fine-grained pedestrian network with a range of alternative routes

= Effective integration with other modes

Attractive

Attractiveness, although subjective can be achieved through consistency of materials and an
appreciation of the environment in which the design sits. Maintenance and minimising visual clutter
are also key attractiveness considerations. Public art could be a consideration where there is an
ambition to enliven a street or space.

PEDESTRIAN ENVIRONMENT

Providing a comfortable and attractive environment for pedestrians encompasses a variety of
aspects, including high-quality pavements, attractive landscapes and buildings and as much
freedom as possible from the noise, fumes and harassment of vehicles. In addition, opportunities for
rest and shelter should also be provided.

Streetscape

Street furniture, signage and other street activity act as obstructions to pedestrians and can be a
hazard to people with mobility or visual impairments. Therefore, to increase the effective width of
footways and improve safety, it is often preferable to remove these items, or create a furniture zone
where street furniture is coordinated in a consistent arrangement out of the main pedestrian flow to
maximise the unobstructed width of the footway.

Personal security is important for a walking route to be attractive, and therefore lighting should be
provided where there is sufficient pedestrian demand through the night. In addition, where possible,
developments should be designed with natural surveillance, whereby buildings overlook pedestrian
paths, to improve perceptions of personal security. This is also likely to deter antisocial behaviour
and thereby provide a more attractive environment for pedestrians.

Footway Capacity and Comfort

Footways should be designed with sufficient usable width to safely cater for all anticipated
pedestrian activity, and this is important so that the footway capacity is not exceeded, which could
result in users being forced onto the carriageway. Therefore, the appropriate width will depend on
the existing and expected usage at each specific location. The absolute minimum footway width is
1.8m, to provide sufficient width for wheelchairs / mobility scooters, however the desirable minimum
width is 2.0m. Nevertheless, where there is street furniture and various footway activities, such as

GAINSBOROUGH CYCLING AND WALKING NETWORK PLAN CONFIDENTIAL | WSP
Project No.: 70062643 Page 128 March 2021
Lincolnshire County Council Page 63 of 94



\\\I)

street traders or queues at bus stops, the usable space is significantly reduced, and this is referred
to as the effective width of the footway. The recommended footway widths are summarised within
Table 7-3.

Table 7-3 — Footway Widths

Width
Absolute minimum width 1.8m
Desirable minimum width 2.0m

Preferred width (especially adjacent | 2.6m
to high-speed roads)

Designing for Walking (CIHT, 2015)

7.4.16. ltis not suggested within Designing for Walking (CIHT, 2015) that footways with widths less than
1.8m should never be provided, as existing narrow footways do provide a level of pedestrian
amenity. A 1.5m footway may be better than no footway at all — the minimum will be dictated by site
specific criteria, such as pedestrian flow and composition, and vehicle flow and speed.

7.4.17. Footway surfacing should be from durable materials, which provide good surface regularity, grip,
and drain easily. To ensure good drainage of footways, a gentle crossfall should be provided,
however it is important that the gradient is carefully designed to consider pedestrians with mobility
impairments. Likewise, pedestrian ramps should generally not exceed a gradient of 1 in 20.

Wayfinding

7.4.18. Pedestrians are helped if walking routes are well signed and show the distances and/or times to
useful destinations. Maps showing walking routes are valuable, particularly in places frequented by
tourists. Consideration should also be given to using landmarks, bus stops, surfacing details, tactile
paving and mobile phone applications to assist people with navigating the urban environment on

foot.
GAINSBOROUGH CYCLING AND WALKING NETWORK PLAN CONFIDENTIAL | WSP
Project No.: 70062643 Page 129 March 2021

Lincolnshire County Council Page 64 of 94



7.4.19.

7.4.20.

7.4.21.

7.4.22.

\\\I)

Figure 7-2 - Examples of Wayfinding Signage (Source: Streetscape Guidance, TfL 2016)

Complementary Measures

Although not specifically designed as infrastructure walking, traffic calming measures, 20mph limits
and zones along with the filtering out of through-traffic from residential and local streets can have a
significant impact on making places more walkable. These measures can contribute to a reduction in
the number and severity of pedestrian casualties and improve subjective safety by reducing traffic
intimidation. They also shift the priorities in streets in favour of pedestrians, improving the sense of
place and thereby increase the attractiveness of the walking route.

Cycle schemes can often have a positive impact on walking, for example where segregated cycle
tracks provide a buffer between general traffic, as this reduces exposure to local air and noise
pollution. Cycling and walking are both activities that enjoy low traffic flows and speeds, so any
measures to reduce these are beneficial to both cycling and walking.

Maintenance

Access for maintenance should be a key consideration in the design of walking infrastructure. Trees
and other vegetation should be trimmed to keep footways and sight lines clear. When specifying
materials for walking infrastructure, any special or enhanced maintenance requirements as a result
of the scheme should be considered.

PROVISION FOR PEDESTRIANS
Shared Space Schemes

The basic principle of shared space environments is to provide more equitable priority for all street
users in areas with reduced physical segregation and formal control. The aim is to balance the
‘movement’ and ‘place’ functions of streets where there is a local aspiration to improve the street
environment for non-motorised users. There are however issues with respect to inclusive mobility

GAINSBOROUGH CYCLING AND WALKING NETWORK PLAN CONFIDENTIAL | WSP
Project No.: 70062643 Pag e 130 March 2021
Lincolnshire County Council Page 65 of 94



7.4.23.

7.4.24.

\\\I)

and accessibility in shared space because of the lack of designated areas?. Figure 7-3 shows a
Shared Space area example with seating and dwell areas provided close to where vehicle can pass.

Figure 7-3 - Shared Space Area Example (Source: Shared Streets, CIHT 2018)

There is a range of street designs that sit on the scale of shared space. These were defined by
CIHT in 2018 to clarify issues with shared space design, as follows:

= Pedestrian Prioritised Streets - Streets where pedestrians feel that they can move freely
anywhere and where drivers should feel they are a guest (e.g. Leonard Circus). Under current
legislation, this does not give formal priority to pedestrians.

= |nformal Streets - Streets where formal traffic controls (signs, markings and signals) are absent or
reduced. There is a footway and carriageway, but the differentiation between them is typically
less than in a conventional street (e.g. Poynton).

= Enhanced Streets - Streets where the public realm has been improved and restrictions on
pedestrian movement (e.g., guardrail) have been removed but conventional traffic controls largely
remain (e.g. Walworth Road).

Narrowing of Carriageway

Street width also influences speed, narrowing of the carriageway can help reduce vehicle speeds. It
is therefore a useful intervention which is applicable and useful in the creation of Cycle Streets but
also of benefit to walking, as reducing the allocated carriageway also creates shorter crossing

2 Such issues were highlighted in the recent CIHT (2018) document “Creating Better Streets: Inclusive and Accessible Places” which
called for the review of the ‘shared space’ concept, proposing the adoption of the terms ‘Pedestrian Prioritised Streets’, ‘Informal Streets’
and ‘Enhanced Streets’. In light of the CIHT report, and following publication of the “Inclusive Transport Strategy: Achieving Equal Access
for Disabled People” (DfT, 2018) and the Ministry for Housing, Communities and Local Government’s National Planning Policy Framework
refresh, the DfT have called for a pause on the introduction of new shared space schemes as they update relevant design guidance. The
pause relates to those shared space schemes that feature a level surface in areas with relatively large amounts of pedestrian and
vehicular movement, such as high streets and town centres (outside of pedestrian zones). The pause does not apply to streets within new
residential areas or the redesign of existing residential streets with very low levels of vehicular traffic, such as appropriately designed
mews or cul-de-sacs.

GAINSBOROUGH CYCLING AND WALKING NETWORK PLAN CONFIDENTIAL | WSP
Project No.: 70062643 Page 131 March 2021
Lincolnshire County Council Page 66 of 94



7.4.25.

7.4.26.
7.4.27.

7.4.28.

7.4.29.

\\\I)

distances. A continuous link can be broken up by introducing physical features along it to slow traffic
using rumble devices, kerb build outs or positioning of planters and trees.

One-way streets with inset parking bays are an effective example of how this can be achieved. An
example is given in Figure 7-4. Parking is formalised within allocated areas with consistent kerb
build outs, giving pedestrians clearer sightlines of oncoming traffic and shorter distances to cross,
allowing for safer crossing points.

Figure 7-4 - Narrowing of the carriageway with inset parking bays

© 2019 Google

Catering for Pedestrian Desire Lines
Pedestrian routes need to be direct and match desire lines as closely as possible.

Guardrails are installed to restrict the movement of pedestrians; most frequently where pedestrian
desire lines cannot be accommodated or are deemed unsafe. However, they are visually and
physically intrusive, reduce the width of available footway and can create direct and indirect safety
issues, such as pedestrians choosing to walk on road-side of the guardrail. Therefore, they are
useful in limited circumstances and good practice is to only use guardrails at locations where there
is a real risk of pedestrians being hit by traffic should they walk onto the carriageway.

Shared Use Routes

Shared use routes are designed to accommodate the movement of pedestrians and cyclists and are
generally implemented to improve conditions for cycle users, often simply converting existing
footways into shared use. However, where pedestrian and/or cycle flows are likely to be very high,
shared use routes are generally not appropriate, and instead there is a general preference for on-
carriageway provision for cycle users.

Shared use routes may be segregated or unsegregated. A segregated route is one where
pedestrians and cycle users are separated by a feature such as a white line, a kerb or some other
feature. On an unsegregated route, pedestrians and cycle users mix freely and share the full width
of the route. The width of the route depends on whether or not it is segregated, and the user flows in
both directions. Figure 7-5 shows a segregated shared user route example.

GAINSBOROUGH CYCLING AND WALKING NETWORK PLAN CONFIDENTIAL | WSP
Project No.: 70062643 Page 132 March 2021
Lincolnshire County Council Page 67 of 94



\\\I)

Figure 7-5 - Segregated Shared User Route Example (Source: Shared Use Routes for
Pedestrians and Cyclists, 2012

Photo: Rob Amnsley #2239a CycleStreets, CC Attribution-Share Alke licence

At-Grade Crossings

7.4.30. To assist pedestrians at road crossings, especially those with mobility or visual impairments, there
should be either dropped kerbs or the carriageway should be raised to the level of the footway, with
flat-topped road humps. Tactile paving should be provided at the crossing points for visually
impaired people to distinguish the footway edge. Figure 7-6 shows a crossing with tactile paving.

GAINSBOROUGH CYCLING AND WALKING NETWORK PLAN CONFIDENTIAL | WSP
Project No.: 70062643 Page 133 March 2021
Lincolnshire County Council Page 68 of 94



7.4.31.

7.4.32.

7.4.33.

\\\I)

Figure 7-6 - Tactile Paving at a Controlled Crossing (Source: CIHT Designing for Walking,
2015)

To reduce the crossing width, a kerb build-out can be provided, whereby an area of footway is built
out into the carriageway. This can improve pedestrian visibility and depending on the design, lead to
reduction in traffic speed, enhancing safety of the crossing.

Uncontrolled Crossings

Providing dropped kerbs and tactile paving constitutes the most basic uncontrolled crossing, and
where the carriageway is wide or traffic flows are higher, refuges can be used to help people cross
in two stages. Pedestrian refuges as shown in Figure 7-7 should be 2m-wide to accommodate those
using wheelchairs, mobility scooters or pushchairs.

Figure 7-7 - Uncontrolled Crossing with Refuge (Source: CIHT Designing for Walking, 2015)

Side Road Entry Treatments

This involves raising and narrowing the mouth of the junction to make it easier and safer for
pedestrians to cross the minor arm by reducing speeds of turning vehicles, shortening the length of

GAINSBOROUGH CYCLING AND WALKING NETWORK PLAN CONFIDENTIAL | WSP
Project No.: 70062643 Page 134 March 2021
Lincolnshire County Council Page 69 of 94



\\\I)

the crossing and providing a level route. The side road entry treatment also encourages drivers to
give way to pedestrians who are already crossing the road.

7.4.34. Side road entry treatment may also involve a continuous footway so that the pedestrian has priority.
An example of this can be seen in Figure 7-8.

Figure 7-8 - Continuous Footway (Bromells Road, Clapham) (Source: CIHT Designing for
Walking, 2015)

Controlled Crossings

7.4.35. Zebra crossings provide priority for pedestrians over traffic and are suitable only where traffic and/or
pedestrian flows are relatively low, and there are slow traffic speeds.

7.4.36. Signal-controlled crossings provide a time-based separation between pedestrians and traffic to allow
for road crossing. They include the following types:

= Pelican — pedestrian-only crossing that uses far-side pedestrian signals and has an overlapping
flashing green figure / flashing amber phase for pedestrians and vehicles respectively.

= Puffin — pedestrian-only crossing that uses near-side pedestrian signals. The steady green
“invitation-to-cross” phase is followed by an all-red period which can be extended on demand
from kerbside and on-crossing detectors.

= Toucan — usable by both pedestrians and cyclists, and generally follow puffin detection principles.

7.4.37. A good example of a Toucan crossing in Lincoln can be seen in Figure 7-9.

GAINSBOROUGH CYCLING AND WALKING NETWORK PLAN CONFIDENTIAL | WSP
Project No.: 70062643 Page 135 March 2021
Lincolnshire County Council Page 70 of 94



7.4.38.

Image capture: Sep 2017 © 2019 Google

Grade-separated

Grade-separated crossings include footbridges and underpasses, and they have traditionally been
used where people are at high risk when crossing roads with fast and heavy traffic flows. They
ensure that people are physically safe from traffic and do not affect traffic capacity. However, they
can create problems of personal safety and result in longer, more inconvenient pedestrian routes
that involve stairs and ramps, as well as routes with poor natural surveillance. Figure 7-10
demonstrates when footbridge design can present an unattractive, circuitous route for pedestrians.

Figure 7-10 — Footbridge (Source: CIHT Designing for Walking, 2015)

GAINSBOROUGH CYCLING AND WALKING NETWORK PLAN CONFIDENTIAL | WSP
Project No.: 70062643 Page 136 March 2021
Lincolnshire County Council Page 71 of 94



\\\I)

7.5 SUMMARY OF CYCLE AND WALKING INFRASTRUCTURE - GOOD
PRACTICE

7.5.1. A summary of the good practice for cycle infrastructure which is translated into route interventions in
Section 8 can be seen in Table 7-4.

Table 7-4 — Cycle Infrastructure Good Practice - Summary

Type of Infrastructure Good Practice

Link Segregation Off-road cycle track, on-road with
full segregation, hybrid
segregation or light segregation,
bus stop bypasses and cycle
lanes

Sharing with other modes — Cycle | Speed restrictions, formalised

Streets parking, centre-line removal,
visual narrowing, kerb build outs,
filtered permeability, contra-flow,
humps

Junction Signalised junctions Dedicated cycle signals, early
release signal, hold the left turn,
two-stage right turn, cycle bypass

Priority junctions and side roads Junction tightening, cycle track

markings

Roundabouts Compact roundabouts, dutch-
style roundabouts

Crossing Signalised Parallel cycling and walking

signalised crossings

Uncontrolled Zebras with parallel cycle
crossing

Grade separation Cycling and walking bridges or

underpasses with gentle gradient

7.5.2. A summary of the good practice for walking infrastructure which is translated into route interventions
in Section 8 can be seen in Table 7-5.

GAINSBOROUGH CYCLING AND WALKING NETWORK PLAN CONFIDENTIAL | WSP
Project No.: 70062643 Page 137 March 2021
Lincolnshire County Council Page 72 of 94



\\\I)

Table 7-5 — Walking Infrastructure Good Practice - Summary

Type of Infrastructure Good Practice
' Link Widths — see Table 7-3

Pedestrian prioritised streets

Informal streets

Enhanced streets

Wayfinding

Complementary measures, e.g. traffic calming, cycle streets, removal
of guard rail and street clutter and speed restrictions

Side Road Continuous footways
| Controlled Crossing Pelican, puffin, toucan and zebra crossings
| Uncontrolled Crossing Dropped kerbs, tactile paving and wide kerbed refuges where required
| Grade-separated Crossing Convenient, attractive, gradual gradient bridges
GAINSBOROUGH CYCLING AND WALKING NETWORK PLAN CONFIDENTIAL | WSP
Project No.: 70062643 Page 138 March 2021

Lincolnshire County Council Page 73 of 94



\\\I)

8 CYCLING AND WALKING INFRASTRUCTURE - PRIORITY
ROUTES

8.1 INTRODUCTION

8.1.1. This section outlines the proposed cycling and walking infrastructure options that have been

identified for the priority cycling and walking routes. The priority cycling and walking routes were
confirmed with LCC following the internal and external workshops and can be seen in Figure 8-1,

Figure 8-2 and Figure 8-3.

Figure 8-1 - Proposed Gainsborough Cycle Network

T

-
A

Key
. Residential
. Employment Facilities
Community Facilities
Education Facilities
. College
° Secondary
Primary
Nursery
Other
Healthcare Facilities
GP
[ ] Hospital
Transport
1] Bus Interchange
8  Railway Stations
Development
Employment
Residential
Boundaries
'-_ -_ :E Urban Area

% : Study Area
Proposed Cycle Network

(A) Priority Cycle Network
(A1) Priority Cycle Network
s (A2) Priority Cycle Network

(B) Priority Cycle Network

(C) Priority Cycle Network

w— Cycle Network

s Town Centre Priority Cycie Netwark

= = m = Town Centre Priority Cycle Network - Future Link

Gainsborough Loop

GAINSBOROUGH CYCLING AND WALKING NETWORK PLAN

Project No.: 70062643
Lincolnshire County Council

Page 139

CONFIDENTIAL | WSP
March 2021
Page 74 of 94



\\\I)

Figure 8-2 - Proposed Gainsborough Cycle Network - Town Centre

000375075 015 0225 03

Key
®  Residential
° Employment Facilities
Community Facdifies
Education Facilities
e  College
e  Secondary
. Primary
Nursery
o Other
Healthcare Facilities
GP
o Hospital
Transport

®  Bus Interchange
#8  Railway Stations
Development
Employment
Residential
Boundaries
7™ Urban Area

Twma

I -} SudyAwa

Proposed Cycle Network

e (A) Priority Cycle Network

w— (A1) Pricrity Cycle Network

s (A2) Priority Cycle Network
(B) Prionity Cycle Network

(C) Priority Cycle Network
— Cycie Network
mmmm Town Centre Priority Cycle Network

= mm = Town Centre Pricrity Cycle Network - Future Link

Gainsborough Loop

GAINSBOROUGH CYCLING AND WALKING NETWORK PLAN

Project No.: 70062643
Lincolnshire County Council

Page 140

CONFIDENTIAL | WSP
March 2021
Page 75 of 94



\\\I)

Figure 8-3 - Proposed Gainsborough Walking Interventions Route

LNl S = o ' { Key
' s) ;:_;(,__ T \ o) 5 o~ PA AT ; ) /~OX'S T G ®  Residential
2 ,;,: o\ |¢ S1n [ A ‘ > Community Facilities

. Employment Facilities

Education Facilities

‘ ®  Colliege
PW ) ®  Secondary
-
‘\A Primary
PV
Nursery

Other
Healthcare Facilities
GP
. z . Gainsbd ° Hospital
Central | Transport
© Bus Interchange
15 #8  Railway Stations
Development
Employment
Residential
Boundaries

-
g 1 Urban Area

: Study Area

Priority Walking Interventions
EMBLEY 2 . / s Priority Walking Interventions

s g
' ® m W ¥ Priority Walking interventions - Future Link

:
'
¥
’
' 1 —
3 D =
' ~
' - At LA
- ; 4 ber 9. Art

' )\ e er LA i Gallen B - -

- 000175035 007 0.405 0.14 D HOUSE - A — - 3 — ~ Y
[ — = \ ,‘.‘ <=3\ ; TesiNGi——-4

8.1.2. The development of the cycling and walking infrastructure options was informed by the following:

=3

LCWIP guidance and tools.

Analysis of existing census and travel data.

Engagement with internal and external stakeholders via the internal and external workshops.

Site visit — To provide an understanding of the current situation and an initial assessment of

potential interventions.

= Guidance — Several published guidance documents were used to inform the option generation
design process while taking into account understanding of the local conditions in the study area.

= Good practice — In addition to the guidance documents (which included good practice examples)

the option generation drew on wider good practice from across the UK and Europe, including

schemes that WSP have been directly involved in delivering.

8.1.3. This section also outlines the indicative costs of cycling infrastructure provided within the LCWIP
Technical Guidance.

8.2 CYCLE INFRASTRUCTURE COSTINGS

8.2.1. The LCWIP Technical Guidance for Local Authorities provides indicative costs for cycling
infrastructure that can be applied to the priority cycle routes. The indicative costing can be seen in
Table 8-1. It should be noted that the costs applied are at 2014-15 prices.

GAINSBOROUGH CYCLING AND WALKING NETWORK PLAN CONFIDENTIAL | WSP
Project No.: 70062643 Page 141 March 2021
Lincolnshire County Council Page 76 of 94



\\\I)

Table 8-1 — Indicative Costs of Cycling Infrastructure at 2014-15 Prices

Scheme Type

Range of costs

Comments

Cycle Superhighway

Mixed Strategic Cycle Route
Resurfaced cycle route

Cycle bridge

20 mph zone

Remodelled major junction

Cycle crossing at major road

Area-wide workplace cycle
facilities

Area-wide school and college
cycle facilities

Large-scale cycle parking

Large-scale provision of
bicycles

Comprehensive cycle route
sighage

Automatic cycle counters

£1.15-1.45m/km
£0.74m/km

£0.46-0.88m/km
£0.14-0.19m/km

£0.10-0.50m

£10,000-15,000/km
£2,000-3,000/km

£1.56-1.61m
£0.24m

£0.14-0.41m

£0.20-0.75m
£6,000-7,000

£0.22-1.16m
£8,000-110,000

£2.5m
£0.12-0.70m

£1.41m
£350

£6,000/km

£28,000

£6,000

Source: LCWIP Technical Guidance for Local Authorities (2017)

Two-way physically segregated

Two-way lightly segregated

Canalside routes

Bridge upgrades not whole new
bridges

Including traffic calming measures
Without any traffic calming
measures

Cycling-specific schemes

Cycling piggybacking on traffic
measures

Programme cost

Cost per workplace grant

Programme cost

Cost per school

For a very large bike park

For 3,000 bikes for secure bike
parks for 10-1000+ bikes,
including changing and showers
at the largest

Programme cost

Cost per bike provided

Programme cost for one cross-
city route

Cost per counter

GAINSBOROUGH CYCLING AND WALKING NETWORK PLAN
Project No.: 70062643 Page 142

Lincolnshire County Council

CONFIDENTIAL | WSP
March 2021
Page 77 of 94



8.3

8.3.1.

8.3.2.

8.3.3.

8.3.4.

8.3.5.

8.3.6.

\\\I)

PRIORITY CYCLE ROUTE INFRASTRUCTURE OPTIONS

The confirmed priority cycling routes to be developed within this project (seen in Figure 8-1) were as
follows:

A. Gainsborough Lea Road rail station to Morton
B. Gainsborough town centre to Corringham Road Industrial Estate via Corringham Road
C. Heapham Road Industrial Estate to Cox’s Hill / B1433 Spital Hill junction via Heapham Road

In addition to these routes, infrastructure options are provided for a cross town centre route,
connecting routes A and B via Market Street and Lord Street.

The cycling and walking infrastructure options suggested for these priority routes including the cross
town centre route are shown in Table 8-2 to Table 8-5.

20mph speed limits are recommended as default in all options (both short-term and long-term) in
order to increase safety and comfort of cycling and walking.

The tables are presented with the following headings:

= Reference — Intervention reference which links to the associated plan to display the location

= |ocation — description of the location

= Link/Junction — whether the intervention is a link or junction

= Section length —in km

= AAWT —the Annual Average Weekday Traffic (AAWT). This data was collected from the ATCs in
Gainsborough, where available. Where ATCs were not available, estimated AAWT values are
provided using peak hour flows from the GTM output and converting these to AAWT flows using
a conversion factor®. Where the link includes more than one AAWT figure, the maximum is used.

= Current Speed Limit — the existing speed limit in mph

= Short Term — Short-term infrastructure option for the link or junction

o Description of the short-term intervention
¢ Comments — Relevant notes, limitations and assumptions

= Long Term — Long-term infrastructure option for the link or junction

e Description of the intervention
¢ Comments — Relevant notes, limitations and assumptions

Figure 8-4 Figure 8-7 show the accompanying intervention references in relation to Table 8-2 to
Table 8-5.

3 The conversion factor applied is a ratio of peak hour flows to AAWT from nearby ATC data (AM Peak Flow +
PM Peak Flow) / AAWT) to peak hour flows was based on nearby ATC data.

GAINSBOROUGH CYCLING AND WALKING NETWORK PLAN CONFIDENTIAL | WSP
Project No.: 70062643 Page 143 March 2021
Lincolnshire County Council Page 78 of 94



v T abed

\\\I)

Figure 8-4 - Priority Route A - Intervention References

L10

TTICRON g ’ =
e Hil Farm & v oL - Ke
-
h,e/“’s 4 s, / " y
/ 2 2% of Thonges Route A - Intervention Reference
] 7 ¢ Lane Farm
- / P
’ < 4 z
’ R W

v 'l ' Junction
Pheasant Hill
' Link
Proposed Cycle Network
e (A) Priority Cycle Network
Bran's Hill

e (A1) Priority Cycle Network

@ (A2) Priority Cycle Network

e Cycle Network
Thonock Grove

mmmmmm Town Centre Priority Cycle Network

= = = m Town Centre Priority Cycle Network - Future Link

Gainsborough Loop

Boundaries

: I Urban Area
- o
I- L
]
e i Study Area
Woodhouse Farm
2 ==
-
- -
-
Beck House White's Lodge Farm " %
. Wood Farm :
Inner Lodge
D Cainsborough “
\ Central) 1
e )
A}
s
s\
\
b )
.
b
‘
\
B \
- — )
- @o@ A}
2 “'o‘(‘ )
Park Springs o™ [y
- '
’
’
’
\ \}
\
’ }
l‘ 1
- P
““‘_—-- ..--.---~ P2 1
-.~~.- _—' Park House 3
Contaie U ~ } o ammw Farm Cottages ]
ot and GatabmergR 20 X 0.6 08 87/ \‘
— — ] Kilometres )
-~ - -~ DBark House - 2
GAINSBOROUGH CYCLING AND WALKING NETWORK PLAN
Project No.: 70062643

Lincolnshire County Council

CONFIDENTIAL | WSP
March 2021
Page 79 of 94



G T obed

\\\I)

Reference

Location

A156 Lea Road between
Gainsborough Lea Road

Link/Junction

Section
Length

AAWT

Current

Speed
Limit

Short-Term Inf

Description

Light segregation of one-way
cycle lane
Relocate and upgrade

Table 8-2 - Route A — Priority Cycling and Walking Route Infrastructure Options

ructure Option

Long-Term Infrastructure Option

Comments Description

Relocate existing crossing or
provide additional crossing
May require additional station

Extend footway and provide two-
way cycle track with level difference
from footway

Comments

= May require additional
station access to
accommodate shared use

L1 Station and Shakespeare Link 0.3km 14360 30mph '?é(l:igzgcpr)ggl?ncr?osfg;lgsttgtion access to accommodate shared use Parallel cycling and walking or area and marked
Road 9 area and marked pedestrian route toucan crossing at rail station pedestrian route to rail
to rail station entrance station entrance
= See L2a which provides a Removal of trees and on-street
A156 Lea Road between back route, as there are parking to provide segregated cycle
L2 Shakespeare Street and Link 0.3km | 14360 | 30mph limited options for short-term track. Crossing at Waterworks
Ashcroft Road roundabout infrastructure on the A156 Street and shared use footpath on
along this section. west side
gzi(lzldeorsglz)rlgcsrossings = This route would be an addition to See L2
At the A156 Ashcroft Road / the proposed cycle network
Strafford Street junction = As well as avoiding a section of the
Shakespeare Street, Drake rovide a continju ouS foétwa constrained L2, this route would
Street, Gordon Street, P ised sid y also avoid J1
Strafford Street, between . or a raised side st'reg'g entryto | The provision of a one-way system
L2a ' Link 0.7km 699 30mph slow traffic and prioritise cycle X
Shakespeare Street / A156 and walking movements on Waterworks Street with
and Strafford Street / A156 9 contraflow cycling would provide an
Lea Road alternative to the narrow section of
Strafford Street. This would allow
greater space for cycling on this
street.
= See L2a which provides a Extend kerbs on Ashcroft Road arm
Ashcroft Road/ Lea Road _ l:_)ac_:k route_, as there are and prowde S|gnaI|se<_j cycllng and
J1 Roundabout Junction limited options for short-term walking parallel crossing serving
cycle infrastructure on the two-way cycle track
A156 along this section.
= Limited options available due Remove on-street parking on east
to constrained highway side of road and provide two-way
" Large f:ycl_e rr!ark_ings could segrggated pycle track .
L3 Ashcroft Road and The Link 0.3km 6856 30mph P ycles, 9 9 a
20mph speed limit as already
Flood Road . .
outlined as applicable to all
options.
= Provide additional pedestrian
crossings where required
- Eirr]o(;/és;c;]rzjcf);eAéi gra chlg f';r? gs = On two arms, this will require Toucan crossing on Lea Road arm | = May require removal of
where space all owZ reducing the lead-in lanes from two for connectivity from two-way cycle right turn pocket or ban
P to one track to below parallel cycling and left turn movement from
Bridge Road / ALSG Lea Parall ycing and walkin Road
J2 Road/ The Flood Road Junction ycing 9

Junction

crossing on The Flood Road arm.
Diagonal crossing provision will
allow cyclists from the Riverside
Walk to join the A156 Lea Road
travelling southbound.

= The crossing would
require an all-red stage
for motor vehicles

GAINSBOROUGH CYCLING AND WALKING NETWORK PLAN
Project No.: 70062643
Lincolnshire County Council

CONFIDENTIAL | WSP
March 2021
Page 80 of 94



o T abed

\\\I)

Reference

Location

Bridge Street between The

Link/Junction

Section
Length

AAWT

Current

Speed
Limit

Short-Term Infrastructure Option

Description

Provision of shared use path
between Bridge Street and

Comments

Long-Term Infrastructure Option

Description

Segregated cycle track link to
Riverside Walk with formalised

Comments

L4 Flood Roasvi“? Riverside Link 0.2km 9523 30mph Riverside Walk cycling and walking route between
Bridge Street and Riverside Walk
. . = Maintenance of lighting and = Placemaking and public realm
Riverside Walk betwe_en . signing improvements with better town
L5 Thornton Street and Silver Link 0.6km .
centre linkages
Street
= No short-term options = Reinstatement of riverside path
Riverside Walk between available on this section — beside industrial site
Al-1L6 Silver Street and Floss Mill Link 2.2km see A2 — L8 as an alternative = Widen path and provide separated
Lane route. cycle track
= Provide lighting
= Provide cycle markings on = On the traffic free section, widen
carriageway existing shared use path to
Floss Mill Lane / Front accommodate separate pedestrian
Street between Riverside . and cycle track facilities. Separation
Al-L7 Walk and Dog and Duck Link 0.2km 5903 30mph should be via a level difference.
Lane / Ropery Road = Provide cycle markings on
carriageway with visual narrowing
on Front Street
= Build outs providing crossings = Removal of on-street parking and : .
and to slow traffic provision of hybrid cycle track. = Hybrid cy(ile tr.z(t:ﬁ n
Where width is not available for [22?&?&; gn\gl use of
Ropery Road / Caskgate cycle track, particularly on and near driveways — allowing
A2-18 | Street between Front Street Link 1.9km | 8966 | 30mph Caskgate Street, provide visual flexible use of kerbside
and Silver Street narrowing as an alternative with
cycle markings
= Zebra crossings and informal
crossings
= Use paint to provide hatched = Kerb build outs on Ropery Road
Ropery Road / Front Street kerbdbuild outs on Ropery arm t((j) tighten junction and slow
J3 / Dog and Duck Lane Junction Road arm . speeas . .
Junction Provide pedestrian crossing on
Ropery Road arm of junction —
consider zebra
= Make two-way for cycling with = Make two-way for cycling with a = Consider relocatin
a cycle contraflow on Dog cycle contraflow on Dog and Duck removed on-streetg
and Duck Lane Lane :
= Widen and provide footway where parking to off-street
possible and remove on-street
Dog and Duck Lane / parking at width constrained
Walkerith Road between locations
Lo Dog and Duck Lane / Link 0.3km 553 30mph = Due to constrained width and low

Ropery Road and Walkerith
Road / Crooked Billet
Street

motor vehicle flows, consider a
Home Zone for this section where
motor vehicles share the space on
equal terms with cycling and
walking

At entry to Walkerith Road, provide
kerb build out and raised entry.
Pavement should be widened on

GAINSBOROUGH CYCLING AND WALKING NETWORK PLAN
Project No.: 70062643
Lincolnshire County Council

CONFIDENTIAL | WSP
March 2021
Page 81 of 94



/T abed

\\\I)

ST Current Short-Term Infrastructure Option Long-Term Infrastructure Option

Reference Location Link/Junction AAWT  Speed

Length

Limit Description Comments Description Comments

Crooked Billet Street to serve
pedestrian crossing

= With a speed limit of 20mph,

it would be acceptable for = With cycle lanes, it would be = With a speed limit of 20mph, it | = Grange Park provides a
cycle traffic to mix with motor recommended to remove the would be acceptable for cycle traffic good example of a
traffic if the AAWT is less centreline to reduce traffic to mix with motor traffic if the AAWT continuous footway
than 5,000 speeds is less than 5,000

= Remove centreline and provide
visual narrowing with cycle
markings so that the street design

= |f the speed limit remains at
30mph, then cycle lanes or

Walkerith Road between light segregation are required, encouraaes low motor traffic
L10 Crooked Billet Street and Link 0.9km 2978 30mph however kerb realignment speeds g
Urban Area boundary minsuld be required to achieve . Provide_kerb build outs at side

roads with dropped kerbs and
tactile paving where required to
better accommodate pedestrian
crossings at side roads. Continuous
footways at side roads would be
best practice

GAINSBOROUGH CYCLING AND WALKING NETWORK PLAN CONFIDENTIAL | WSP

Project No.: 70062643 March 2021

Lincolnshire County Council Page 82 of 94



\\\I)

Figure 8-5 - Priority Route B - Intervention References

Key
Route B - Intervention References
The . Junction
. Link
=4 ot Proposed Cycle Network
L = ‘,I (B) Priority Cycle Network
: \Hf In e Cycle Network
r . “;‘_ “ mmmmmm Town Centre Priority Cycle Network
5 == m = Town Centre Priority Cycle Network - Future Link
] Gainsborough Loop
Boundaries
o -l Urban Area
| P
@ = : I Study Area
C
o
QD
(@)
o) 3 A
= > S o’ >
5 = 4 ¥ S e g
oo 5/ S
, -
2 $ 1 . ! S
B SThve ) \ @ v'—
AINSBOROUGTMR — =™/ -
Y& ) 2l Jz \‘ L
‘ =y
- 2 @ Galnsborough '
A S 3 | Central 4
. 3 1
i) ‘|
\
\
\
.
Y
\
.
\
: S
i .
"
.
Y
!
) )
!
Y
i ) )
= L}
L\
v \
Y
‘l : = ; )
o 0,0.050:1 §0.2°%0.3 | 0.4 i
=] Bl Kilometres ’
\ y 4
GAINSBOROUGH CYCLING AND WALKING NETWORK PLAN
Project No.: 70062643
Lincolnshire County Council

CONFIDENTIAL | WSP

March 2021
Page 83 of 94



\\\I)

Table 8-3 - Route B Priority Cycling and Walking Route Infrastructure Options

Short-Term Infrastructure Option Long-Term Infrastructure Option

Section

Link/Junction Length

Reference Location

Limit

61T obed

Description

Comments

Description

Comments

= Remove right-turn lanes and = Remove right turn lanes and provide cycle
Station Approach / provide cycle lanes on A159, lanes or hybrid cycle tracks where possible
A159 Beaumont highlighted in colour through leading up to the junction on the A159 arms
Ji Street / Market Street Junction the junction = Reduce the carriageway width and increase
/ /A159 North Street the footway width
Junction = Provide controlled pedestrian crossing on
A159 North Street arm
= Provide cycle lanes or cycle = Remove centreline and provide visual
A159 North Street markings. Indicate through narrowing with cycle markings and different
between Station . cycle lanes or markings of road surface so that the street design
L1 Approach and B1433 Link 0.1km 11312 30mph cycles making right turn at encourages low motor traffic speeds
Spital Terrace / A roundabout from A159 North
Street to B1433 Spital Terrace
- 5{%23 g};(ezlseerrﬂ:aerlg? g)s/ (;[Icé s, = |tis appreciated that | = If. space allows, provide parallel zeb_ra or
especially to assist with right any geometry signalised crossings on each arm with joined
changes may be up cycle tracks between the arms
tum cycle movements done with paint in = |n absence of space for parallel zebras at
B1433 Spital Terrace _ " Tighten geometry, enlarge the the short-term each arm, provide two-stage uncontrolled
J2 / A159 North Street Junction centre island and provide i i
) : pedestrian crossing on south A159 North
Roundabout single entry and exit lanes Street arm
wherever possible to slow . .
; = Tighten geometry, enlarge the centre island
traffic speeds ) : .
and provide single entry and exit lanes
wherever possible to slow traffic speeds
Remove excessive guard rail
= Provide cycle markings on the In the absence of width availability for
carriageway segregated cycle tracks, visual narrowing is
= Provide filtered permeability or recommended to slow traffic speeds and to
B1433 Spital Terrace continuous crossings at side avoid 0\_/ertak|ng of cycles. It may be
roads appropriate to keep the shared user paths
between B1433 = Tigh d h h the rail brid th coh
Spital Terrace / A159 _ Tighten geometry and remove through the railway bridge, with coherent
L2 North Street Link 0.3km 7252 30mph guard rail at the B1433 connections and crossings including to Cox’s
Northolme side road Hill
Roundabout and e o .
L = Provide filtered permeability or continuous
Cox’s Hill : )
crossings at side roads
= Tighten geometry and remove guard rail at
the B1433 Northolme side road and upgrade
the crossing as required
ey e | sde road weatmenss | * PIEE oo seareosiod v Lke o, 1+ onvoaa segrgaton
= Tighten qeometry where will benefit both cycles on north side of the road involve utilising the central
pogssiblegand prozide filtered Slnrglfeﬁf:g&i?s = Tighten geometry where possible and tcl?rrr:i?neevgasllt ?:]):nggdréig&tre
. . 30mph (40mph permeability or continuous 'gh e Y provide filtered permeability or continuous . Y q
Spital Hill / between crossings at side roads conflict with vehicles footwavs at side roads non-highway land between
Corringham Road Summer Hill " Formali%e the Lime Tree = Formaﬁ/se the Lime Tree Avenue filtered Hawthorn Avenue and
L3 between Cox’s Hill Link 1.5km : o - s Summer Hill
: and Bob Avenue filtered permeability by permeability by providing cycle track
and Miller Road 5986 Rainsforth providing cycle track
Roundabout Way) = Tighten geometry at The
Avenue and Summer Hill side
roads
= Extend shared use paths to
Corringham Road / Miller Road

GAINSBOROUGH CYCLING AND WALKING NETWORK PLAN
Project No.: 70062643
Lincolnshire County Council

CONFIDENTIAL | WSP
March 2021
Page 84 of 94



\\\I)

Section Current Speed Short-Term Infrastructure Option Long-Term Infrastructure Option
Reference Location Link/Junction AAWT urrent Sp
Length Limit

Comments Comments

Description

Description

roundabout and maintain
hedgerow

Corringham Road /

With shared use footpaths on
L3 and L4, widen dropped
crossings to better
accommodate cycles and

Provide two-stage parallel cycling and
walking zebra crossings on the arms of the
roundabout

Tighten geometry where possible to slow

= Two-stage so pedestrians and

cyclists concentrate on one
direction at a time

Depending on anticipated

Roundabout and
A631 Thorndike Way

suitable buffer space from the
carriageway

J3 Miller Road Junction reduce conflict with speeds flows it mav be preferable for
Roundabout pedestrians may be p ;
pedestrians and cycles to give
way to traffic or alternatively,
provide signalised crossings
= Widen existing footway and Provide either separate two-way cycle track
Corringham Road provide shared use footpath on parallel with the carriageway or provide on-
La between Miller Road Link 0.6km 8269 60mph both sides of the road with a road segregated cycle tracks on both sides

of the road
Provide signalised cycling and walking mid-
link crossings if required

0GT abed

GAINSBOROUGH CYCLING AND WALKING NETWORK PLAN

Project No.: 70062643
Lincolnshire County Council

CONFIDENTIAL | WSP
March 2021
Page 85 of 94



TGT obed

\\\I)

Figure 8-6 - Priority Route C - Intervention References

0005.1 02 03 04
N TN <Glometres

s W

1| Park Springs

Key

Route C - Intervention References

Proposed Cycle Network
s (C) Priority Cycle Network
w—— Cycle Network

=mmmmm Town Centre Priority Cycle Network

= = == Town Centre Priority Cycle Network - Future Link

Gainsborough Loop
Boundaries

_l Urban Area

GAINSBOROUGH CYCLING AND WALKING NETWORK PLAN

Project No.: 70062643
Lincolnshire County Council

CONFIDENTIAL | WSP
March 2021
Page 86 of 94



\\\I)

Table 8-4 - Route C Priority Cycling and Walking Route Infrastructure Options

Short-Term Infrastructure Option

Comments Description

Long-Term Infrastructure Option

Current
Speed
Limit

Section

Length AAWT

Reference Location Link/Junction

Description Comments

ZST abed

= Share with care = Consider introduction of =  The cycle lane option
signage on existing hvbrid or light seareqation would require vehicles to
shared use path fgr uphil c;g/]cle trgckgan d use cycle lanes where
_ . . they are not being used
COXIS-H"I /_Heapha_m Road betWeen ) Shared Carrllagefway Wlthh” SO W0u|d not be suitab'e
L1 Spital Hill and Middlefield Lane Link 0.65km 7385 30mph motlor Ve_ﬂ'f €s Olr downhi for segregation
if space allows
= Cycle lanes on both sides
could be considered with no
centreline
. . " Widen sha_red use = Consider replacing with a
I Heapham Road / Middlefield Lane Junction pe_lth crossing on priority junction to reduce
Roundabout Middlefield Lane vehicle approach speeds
30mph - r'?]gr\ll('ﬁ]e g)gcr:e Restrict on-street parking
(with KIng Visual narrowing to slow
20mph C?cr):;ac%[?r:,vayrimar vehicle speeds and
Heapham Road between Middlefield advisory position gp y discourage overtaking of
L2 Lane Roundabout and A631 Link 0.7km 1006 speed limit | geplace access cycles
Thomdie iy by <checl | barer wit blarcs " Fronde sevaaied oy
Iggrton on traffic free link tr);ffic free link betweer):
Ave) between Heapham Heapham Road and A631
Road and A631 P
= Upgrade existing - _ = Subway has poor natural
] signalised crossings LFJ'" I?a?j)((alsglr?(? Srlé?/\i’(\;aey arallel surveillance, especially
32 A631 Thorndike Way / Heapham Juncti to parallel cycling and Py provide p at night and should be
Road unction . . cycling and walking
oa walking crossings signalised crossings on all abandoned
arms of the junction
= Provide shared use . = Provide footways and a = Side road treatments
Provide shared = Side road treatments Provide f d Sid d
footpath with should be sensitive to segregated two-way cycle should be sensitive to
Heapham Road South between _ sufficient width HGV movements. Slowin track HGV movements.
L3 A631 Thorndike Road and Foxby Link 0.7km 7210 40mph | = Tighten geometry at traffic speads IS im ortan? = Tighten geometry at side Slowing traffic speeds is
Lane side roads where P P roads where possible important
possible

GAINSBOROUGH CYCLING AND WALKING NETWORK PLAN
Project No.: 70062643
Lincolnshire County Council

CONFIDENTIAL | WSP
March 2021
Page 87 of 94



€GT abed

\\\I)

Figure 8-7 - Cross Town Centre Route - Intervention References

/ <3
j D AN
| ! -\ | A N - Yo\ Educatior )\
. \ \M) Fachiry SRV
] b \"

s
| ) \\. | |l |’;:|'
I N 1 > . o : :lf"

; L ( &\ 7 I L.
A 7& \ \ \\ Ly “l" = > é ‘E g
\ o) ;a % Muncmﬁ L 1 \\ 5 ;
\ A “SPRING ', 1\ 74 Sn— , 2
| 1 8 o SR )\ i, '
| . v () s wf
| N T KU B | A (L
| /4 N \ 2 \&\ 2 ;':! .. Gainsborough / N f[ 3 | Educy
' . N m {%] | Centrai /4 D) Rl Fo
- ".'.l: | '\ N i
- "\ /i ,ln PO
H 1\ /
a1 e \. \*\ |‘ || G .
U | e m— /0
S PINULT 1= -~ -
4 ’ ' \\\\_\N
| [ AL
l ' ]l::: "‘l‘;"
a [
‘ ’ l'uy n'l-'.“.l
3 3 ’.’v__’
L /J“:H (5
"] \ sy =
l \ ".‘-‘/ )
\ ¥
‘ ] A s | =N
| W\ s —
| i
B el >
| llv'-_:'l— \| "..
/ P \ :

00.0325065 013 0195
=== I

0.26
] Kilomedres

\ wm :
e A 3%

Key
Proposed Cycle Network
— CYCiB Network

Gainsborough Loop
Boundaries

.----.

leuma

‘ ' Study Area
-

mmm— Town Centre Priority Cycle Netwark

= === Town Centre Pricnty Cydle Network - Future Link

|
\
NE WA

| P

THORNOIKE WAY

GAINSBOROUGH CYCLING AND WALKING NETWORK PLAN
Project No.: 70062643
Lincolnshire County Council

CONFIDENTIAL | WSP
March 2021
Page 88 of 94



\\\I)

Table 8-5 - Cross Town Centre Cycling and Walking Route Infrastructure Options

Current
Speed
Limit

Short-Term Infrastructure Option Long-Term Infrastructure Option

Description Comments

Section

Length AAWT

Reference Location Link/Junction

Comments

Description

vGT abed

Market
L1 Street and
Lord Street

Link

0.4km

1284

30mph

Restrict access to certain
times on Market Street
Provide bollards at eastern
end of Lord Street

Permit two-way cycling on
Lord Street via a cycle
contraflow

Allowing two-way cycling on
Market Street via a cycle
contraflow requires a cycle
signal at the junction of
A159 North Street

Tighten geometry at Heaton
Street side road or provide
continuous footway
Tighten geometry at the
Lord Street / Caskgate
Street junction

Relocate zebra crossing on
Caskgate Street closer to
Lord Street

It was reported in the external
workshop that vehicles avoid the
one-way access by going the
wrong way down Lord Street,
avoiding the bollards on the
western end

Any relocation of the zebra
crossing should include pedestrian
counts to observe movements

Pedestrianisation of Market Street with
restricted access at certain times.

Make Lord Street and Market Street two-way
for cycling with cycle contraflow and provide
associated signalised junction arrangements
at A159 North Street / Station Approach
junction to include cycle provision

Restrict vehicles on western end of Lord
Street and provide surface treatment as
eastern end of Lord Street

Tighten geometry at the Lord Street /
Caskgate Street junction

Replace existing zebra crossing with a parallel
cycling and walking zebra crossing on
Caskgate Street to access riverside

Parking will need to be relocated
or rationalised

Taxi rank would require
relocation

A159 North Street / Station
Approach junction option needs
to align with Route B reference
J1

Parallel cycling and walking
zebra crossing on Caskgate
Street will require cycle track
connections on Lord Street and
riverside sides of Caskgate
Street.

GAINSBOROUGH CYCLING AND WALKING NETWORK PLAN
Project No.: 70062643
Lincolnshire County Council

CONFIDENTIAL | WSP
March 2021
Page 89 of 94



8.4
8.4.1.

8.4.2.
8.4.3.

8.4.4.

8.4.5.

\\\I)

WALKING INFRASTRUCTURE - PRIORITY WALKING INTERVENTIONS

The confirmed priority walking routes within this project (seen in Figure 8-3 )includes the following
streets:

A159 Trinity Street / Beaumont Street between Torr Street and Market Street
Market Street

Silver Street

Caskgate Street

The walking infrastructure options suggested for these priority routes are shown in Table 8-6.
Table 8-6 is presented with the following headings:

= Reference — Intervention reference which links to the associated plan to display the location

= | ocation — description of the location

= Link/Junction — whether the intervention is a link or junction

= Section length — in km

= AAWT - the Annual Average Weekday Traffic (AAWT). This data was collected from the ATCs in
Gainsborough, where available. Where ATCs were not available, estimated AAWT values are
provided using peak hour flows from the GTM output and converting these to AAWT flows using
a conversion factor*. Where the link includes more than one AAWT figure, the maximum is used.

= Current Speed Limit — the existing speed limit in mph

= Short Term — Short-term infrastructure option for the link or junction

o Description of the short-term intervention
¢ Comments — Relevant notes, limitations and assumptions

= Long Term — Long-term infrastructure option for the link or junction

e Description of the intervention
¢ Comments — Relevant notes, limitations and assumptions

As with the cycle network, 20mph speed limits are recommended as default along the priority
walking route. Wayfinding and signage should be reviewed with walking times provided to nearby
sites of interest and destinations.

Figure 8-8 shows the accompanying intervention references in relation to Table 8-6.

4 The conversion factor applied is a ratio of peak hour flows to AAWT from nearby ATC data (AM Peak Flow +
PM Peak Flow) / AAWT) to peak hour flows was based on nearby ATC data.

GAINSBOROUGH CYCLING AND WALKING NETWORK PLAN CONFIDENTIAL | WSP
Project No.: 70062643 Page 155 March 2021
Lincolnshire County Council Page 90 of 94



9GT abed

\\\I)

Ltbbws S wr ot ¥y s § Comn

gl el Adsn w3580

Figure 8-8 - Priority Walking Route - Intervention References

FAWCETT STREET

| 1
00.0175135 007 0105 0.14

RIDGE STREET

Key

Priority Walking Route - Intervention References
s Priority Walking Route

® m = » Priority Walking Interventions - Future Link

|
\ Boundaries

- 1 Urban Area

! 1+ Study Area

PWM

Gainsborough
Central

LT\ e

-~

v.

3

v A

=1 "’6‘%

) N\S
/o ;

\PW
e

1l

GAINSBOROUGH CYCLING AND WALKING NETWORK PLAN

Project No.: 70062643
Lincolnshire County Council

CONFIDENTIAL | WSP
March 2021
Page 91 of 94



\\\I)

Table 8-6 — Priority Walking Infrastructure Options

Current Long-Term Infrastructure Option

/ST abed

Reference

Location

Link/Junction

Section
Length

AVANVAVA ST o =T=To
Limit

Short-Term Infrastructure Option

Description

Comments

Description

Comments

= Assess street furniture to ensure = Assess street furniture to ensure adequate = Location of crossings should be
adequate footway width and to footway width and to reduce any physical clutter identified through a pedestrian
reduce any physical clutter = Provision of zebra crossings, located where crossing analysis
Increase vegetation / tree planting required = Review Tesco delivery access and
to improve attractiveness = Realignment of the road in order to widen the relocate if possible
A159 Trinity Review seating opportunities, footway on the east side
Street / particularly Wher_e space _allows " Upg_rade surfaces to create a more attractive
Beaumont _ Ass_es_s footway interruptions and environment _ _ _
L1 Street between Link 0.3km | 12110 30 minimise the length or provide = Increase vegetation / tree planting to improve
continuous footways attractiveness
Torr Street and Remove guardrail at Market Street = Review seating opportunities, particularly where
Market Street junction space allows
= Assess footway interruptions and minimise the
length of crossing or provide continuous
footways
= Remove guardrail at Market Street junction and
increase footway space
See in parallel with L1 of Table 8-5 | _ Consider See in parallel with L1 of Table 8-5
Identify locations for seating and converting parking Provide seating and landscaping features
L2 Market Street Link 0.1km | 564 30 planters bays to areas for
seating and other
desirable street
furniture
Identify locations for seating and Provide seating and landscaping features
N/A planters Allow two-way cycling, with restrictions at peak
i i A Allow two-way cycling, with times if necessary
L3 Silver Street Link 0-2km (pedestrianised) restrictions at peak times if
necessary
See in parallel with A2 — L8 of See in parallel with A2 — L8 of Table 8-2 = |ocation of any additional or
Table 8-2 Upgrade surfaces to create a more attractive relocated crossings should be
Provide bollards outside shops on environment identified through a pedestrian
Caskgate _ Caskgate west of Silver St to = Provision of additional or relocated zebra crossing analysis
L4 Street Link 0.2km | 8966 30 encourage better use of shop crossings, located where required without use of
frontages where dropped kerbs are guardrail
not in place to allow for vehicle = Widen footway where space is available
access

GAINSBOROUGH CYCLING AND WALKING NETWORK PLAN
Project No.: 70062643
Lincolnshire County Council

CONFIDENTIAL | WSP
March 2021
Page 92 of 94



\\\I)

9 SUMMARY

9.1.1. The interventions set out in this report are designed to enable Gainsborough to prosper as a town
and to achieve higher cycling and walking rates, particularly as an alternative to short private car
trips. It aims to establish a cycle and walking network which is comfortable, direct, safe and
coherent. In addition to this, the implementation of the GCWNP would have many wider benefits,
including:
= Health (through physical activity benefits);
= Air and noise pollution (from mode transfer, particularly from car to cycling);
= Local economy;
= Visitor economy; and
= Supporting accessibility to public transport, shops, employment and services.

9.1.2. Policies within the GNP support the GCWNP and opportunities should be sought to deliver the
GCWNP in line with the GNP policies.

9.1.3. Delivery of the GCWNP should be complemented with behaviour change activities, to maximise
increases in cycling and walking, as is recommended in the LCWIP guidance.

9.1.4. A key message throughout the GCWNP should be of the need to reduce traffic flows and speed for
the benefit of cycling and walking. Measures that achieve this are recommended.

9.1.5. Streets should be places for people rather than being purely thoroughfares. Ensuring streets have
well designed areas and places to dwell, sit and socialise will ensure places where people want to
come and spend time.

9.2 FUNDING MECHANISMS

9.2.1. High level consideration has been given to the potential funding sources that could be pursued in

the delivery of the GCWNP interventions and associated next steps. The schemes identified could
potentially be supported by multiple funders and future funding opportunities including, but not
limited to:

= Transforming Cities Fund;

= Heritage Horizon Awards and other National Lottery Heritage Fund opportunities;

= Network Rail ‘Access for All' Programme;

= Towns Fund;

= Private developer contributions (e.g. Section 106);

= Future iterations of Access Fund-type funding;

= Synergies with ongoing workstreams within Gainsborough;

= |ntegrated Transport Block;

= Maintenance funding;

= Local Growth Fund and synergies with potential large local major schemes;

= National Productivity Investment Fund (NPIF);

= Housing Infrastructure Fund (HIF);

= Private financing initiatives;

= QOther innovative fiscal mechanisms to help fund investment in infrastructure, including:
= Business rates retention;

GAINSBOROUGH CYCLING AND WALKING NETWORK PLAN CONFIDENTIAL | WSP
Project No.: 70062643 Page 158 March 2021
Lincolnshire County Council Page 93 of 94



9.3

9.3.1.

9.3.2.

9.3.3.

9.4

9.4.1.

\\\I)

= Reprioritisation of Vehicle Excise Duty;
= Other government funding streams not yet announced.
= The Levelling Up Fund
= The Capability Fund

TRIALLING

Trialling design options can be an effective method of testing and evaluating the impacts of
proposed interventions. Temporary design ideas that change the way a street feels and is used can
be the first step in more permanent change. They allow for the public to experience how an
intervention would feel and can generate public acceptance and community buy-in to a scheme.
They also allow for data collection before and after the trial, as well as feedback where there is still
opportunity to change the scheme before any commitment to a permanent intervention.

Trial cycling and walking intervention measures in Gainsborough could include:

= Filtered permeability — allowing only cycling and walking at key points. These can be
implemented through use of planters or other street furniture

= Utilising a car parking space to provide a parklet — an area which could include seating,
vegetation and bicycle parking

= Trial of a 20mph zone

= Providing temporary seating before establishing the best permanent location

= Footway width adjustments using temporary features, such as paint and separators

An Experimental Traffic Management Order (ETO) is an effective tool when planning trial
interventions, as it allows for temporary measures, which an option make the scheme permanent
after 18 months.

MONITORING AND EVALUATION

There has been a historic lack of adequate cycling and walking monitoring and evaluation to
effectively inform cycling and walking scheme business cases. A monitoring and evaluation strategy
and plan will need to be developed alongside cycling and walking interventions to assess the
delivery process, the outcome and the benefits and impact of the schemes. It is recommended that
a monitoring and evaluation strategy is developed in line with DfT guidance which will provide
greater accountability and a stronger evidence base for future decision making.

GAINSBOROUGH CYCLING AND WALKING NETWORK PLAN CONFIDENTIAL | WSP
Project No.: 70062643 Page 159 March 2021
Lincolnshire County Council Page 94 of 94



CONFIDENTIAL



Prosperous Communities Work Plan as at 28 May 2021

Purpose:

The table below provides a summary of reports that are due on the Forward Plan for the remainder of 2021.

Recommendation:
1. That members note the contents of this document.

Title
8 JUNE 2021

Progress and Delivery Report Quarter Four, 2020-21

Gainsborough Cycling and Walking Network Plan

ed

q

H3 JULY 2021
=
Annual Update on Health related work

Selective Licensing - Future Options and Proposals

Membership of Keep Britain Today and implementation of
DEFRA voluntary Code of Conduct

Lead Officer

Ellen King, Senior
Performance Officer

Grant White, Enterprising
Communities Manager

Diane Krochmal, Assistant
Director Homes and
Communities

Andy Gray, Housing and
Enforcement Manager

Ady Selby, Assistant
Director of Commercial
and Operational Services

Purpose of the report

This report presents performance against the Council's
key performance indicators for quarter four (January -
March) 2020-21.

To present and endorse the Gainsborough Cycing and
Walking Network Plan produced by Lincolnshire County
Council.

to provide Members with an update on Health related
work

To provide Councillors with information on the options
available in relation to a future Selective Licensing
Scheme and seek approval to consult upon these.

Response for Committee following motion at full Council
on the following points -

(b) by way of report to Prosperous Communities
Committee, examine the merits of becoming a local
authority member of the Keep Britain Tidy Network, and
identify which of the campaign’s including Love Parks

09 Wal| epuaby



Appointment of Member Champions

-

b
%4 SEPTEMBER 2021
|_\

%elective Licensing - Gainsborough Scheme Review

Supporting Growth and Regeneration in Market Rasen - update

Economic Recovery Plan

Transport and Connectivity Programme

2 NOVEMBER 2021

Katie Storr, Democratic
Services & Elections
Team Manager (Interim)

Andy Gray, Housing and
Enforcement Manager

Wendy Osgodby, Senior
Growth Strategy &
Projects Officer, Amanda
Bouttell, Senior Project
and Growth Officer

Sally Grindrod-Smith,
Assistant Director of
Planning and
Regeneration

Grant White, Enterprising
Communities Manager

and Charity Bins, could be introduced in the District;

(d) by way of report to Prosperous Communities
Committee, investigate whether promoting take-up of the
DEFRA voluntary code amongst our fast food
businesses and local business partnerships is
appropriate and investigate the resource and capacity
implications, of seeking their sponsorship for the
introduction of a Charity Bin scheme and for a public
education programme. Prosperous Communities
Committee are charged with making a formal decision in
respect of this aspect of the motion.

To appoint for 21/22 and 22/23 up to Annual Council
2023

To provide Councillors with information on the
Gainsbhorough Selective Licensing Scheme in place
between 2015 and 2020

Development of Historic Building Grant for Market Rasen

Consideration of the Greater Lincolnshire Economic
Recovery Plan and the West Lindsey response

To approve a refreshed Transport



Corporate Enforcement Policy

Local Enforcement Plan (Planning Enforcement) and Customer
Charter

Progress and Delivery Quarter 2, 2021-22

Strategic Visitor Economy Strategy

€97 abed

Operational Services Separate Paper and Card Collections

7 DECEMBER 2021

Selective Licensing - Future Proposals

Andy Gray, Housing and
Enforcement Manager

Andy Gray, Housing and
Enforcement Manager

Ellen King, Senior
Performance Officer

Wendy Osgodby, Senior
Growth Strategy &
Projects Officer

Ady Selby, Assistant
Director of Commercial
and Operational Services

Andy Gray, Housing and
Enforcement Manager

To review and approve the Corporate Enforcement
Policy

To seek approval for the updated Local Enforcement
Plan (Planning Enforcement) and Customer Charter

This report presents performance against the Council's
key performance indicators for quarter two (July -
September), 2021-22.

Support for the Visitor Economy is embedded within
West Lindsey District Council’s Corporate Plan, under
the theme ‘A prosperous and enterprising district’ as
follows:

Vision:

‘Creating local wealth through the visitor economy’
Objectives:

-Increasing number of visitors / length of stay
-Increasing expenditure by visitors

-Developing leisure, culture and recreational offer
-Increasing the quality and number of businesses / jobs
in the sector

Therefore, it is clear that support for developing our
Visitor Economy sits at the centre of our strategy for the
future of the district.

Proposal to provide residents with separate paper/card
collections. This is part of a programme to improve the
quality of dry recyclate and has already been rolled out in
Boston, with North Kesteven due to deliver in Autumn
2021

To provide Councillors with final proposals for any future
Selective Licensing Scheme



Public Health Funerals Policy

Hemswell Cliff Managed Estate Contract

9T abed

Andy Gray, Housing and
Enforcement Manager

Shayleen Towns, Senior
Community Action Officer

To seek approval for the Policy relating to Public Health
Funerals, for which the Council is responsible for under
S46 of the Public Health (Control of Disease) Act 1984.

WLDC contract to manage a private estate at Hemswell
Cliff is a 5 year contract 1 July 2018 to 31 March 2023.
This report is ask members to consider a further 5 years
from 1 April 2023.



	Agenda
	3 Minutes of Previous Meeting
	4 Matters Arising Schedule
	6a Progress and Delivery Report Quarter Four, 2020-21
	Appendix 1 Progress and Delivery Report Quarter Four, 2020-21

	6b Gainsborough Cycling and Walking Network Plan
	Appendix 1 Gainsborough Cycling and Walking Network Plan

	6c Workplan

